THE CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY OF AMERICA

A THEORY OF DIRAC INTEGRAL SPACES AND THE ISOMORPHISM BETWEEN THE CATEGORY OF SUCH SPACES AND THE CATEGORY OF LEBESGUE MEASURE SPACES

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Faculty of the
School of Arts and Sciences
Of The Catholic University of America
In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
For the Degree
Doctor of Philosophy

by

Frans Susilo

Washington, D.C.

1990

This dissertation was approved by Dr. Victor M. Bogdan, as Director, and by Dr. Parfeny P. Saworotnow, and Dr. Yuan-Yuan Shen, as Readers.

Victor M. Bogdan
Director

Ji. Deleofos und Reader

ith 113 /79
Reader



Contents

Acknowledgements				
1	roduction	. 1		
2	Bai	re Algebras of Functions	6	
	2.1	The Space of Compositors	7	
	2.2	Baire Spaces of Functions	11	
	2.3	Baire Algebra Spanned by a Set of Functions	18	
	2.4	Baire Algebra Morphisms	23	
3	Rings of Sets and Algebras of Functions			
	3.1	Simple Functions	27	
	3.2	Measurable Functions	31	
	3.3	The Trace of a Space of Functions	41	
4	Dirac Integral Spaces			
	4.1	Convergence Theorems	48	
	4.2	Convergence Almost Everywhere	56	
	4.3	Measure Generated by the Dirac Integral Space	62	
	4.4	Completeness of the Space of Summable Functions	64	

5	Ger	nerating Dirac Integral from Lebesgue Measure	71		
	5.1	Integral on Simple Functions	71		
	5.2	Extension of the Integral	77		
	5.3	The Space of Summable Functions	83		
	5.4	Construction of the Dirac Integral	91		
6	Ison	norphism between the Categories DIS and LMS	97		
	6.1	The Categories DIS and LMS	98		
	6.2	Functor F from DIS to LMS $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	100		
	6.3	Functor G from LMS to DIS $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	104		
	6.4	Isomorphism between the two Categories	118		
Bi	Bibliography				
Li	List of Symbols				
Index					

Acknowledgements

This study could not have been accomplished without the generous assistance of my thesis director, Dr. Victor M. Bogdan. He stimulated my interest in the area of Functional Analysis and Integration Theory, and conceived the initial idea of the topic of this dissertation. So it is perfectly appropriate that first of all I express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to him for his valuable guidance, inspiring suggestions and continuous encouragement throughout the course of my study at The Catholic University of America.

I am also very grateful to the readers of this dissertation, Dr. Parfeny P. Saworotnow and Dr. Yuan-Yuan Shen, for their careful reading and constructive comments. I also wish to acknowledge my indebtedness to Dr. Gustav B. Hensel, Chairman of the Departement of Mathematics, for his helpful suggestions and support.

Finally, I would like to extend my deep thankfulness to the Reverend Father Provincial of the Indonesian Province of the Society of Jesus and my colleagues at the IKIP Sanata Dharma in Yogyakarta for providing me with the opportunity to undertake the graduate studies and complete this program.

Chapter 1

Introduction

In his book published in 1930, Dirac [14] employed intuitive concepts of integrals to formulate the principles of Quantum Mechanics. He never defined the integrals, but he postulated certain conditions that they had to satisfy so that one could describe the evolution of dynamical systems in Quantum Mechanics.

In 1902, Lebesgue [22] discovered the modern Theory of Integration of real-valued functions, based on the Measure Theory. Daniell [12][13], in 1917, introduced the construction of the integrals using positive linear functionals defined on a vector lattice. Later in 1948 Stone [31] clarified the relation between the Lebesgue integral and the Daniell integral by proving that they are equivalent. Bochner [4] generalized the Lebesgue Integration Theory to the case of Banach-space-valued functions in 1933. At about the same time Kolmogorov [21] used the Lebesgue Integration Theory to prove the Strong Law of Large Numbers and thus put the Theory of Probability and Statistics on a precise mathematical footing.

In [5][6] Bogdan generalized and simplified the development of the Lebesgue-Bochner integral. In these papers the theory was constructed by means of extensions of primitive structures to richer ones. In [7][8][9] Bogdan showed that one could axiomatize the theory of spaces, which include the classical Lebesgue L_p spaces of real-valued functions, and develop the theory directly from the axioms.

In [10] Bogdan presented a new approach to the Theory of Probability via

Algebraic Categories. In this paper he showed that Probability Theory involves five isomorphic categories, namely the category of probability measures, the category of expectation spaces, the category of distributions, the category of characteristic functions, and the category of Baire expectation spaces.

Kolmogorov's Strong Law of Large Numbers thus can be translated into the language of any of the categories involved. The law provides the theoretical foundations for statistical experiments. Since Quantum Mechanics involves statistical experiments, it is clear that the underlying integrals should have the properties of the Lebesgue integrals. In classical Probability Theory the domains of the Lebesgue integrals consist of real-valued functions. In Quantum Mechanics, however, the domains of the underlying integrals should consist of complex-valued functions.

To describe a state of a dynamical system in Quantum Mechanics, Dirac utilized a vector which he called ket vector and denoted by |v>. He assumed that the set V of all ket vectors forms a vector space with respect to addition and scalar multiplication. The set V^* of all linear functionals from V into C is also a vector space. The members of V^* were called bra vectors. He introduced the notation $<\phi|$ to denote a bra vector and $<\phi|v>$ the image of a ket vector |v> under a bra vector $<\phi|$, which is a complex number. Dirac assumed that

- 1. There exists a one-to-one correspondence between V and V^* , i.e. there exists a map $\sigma: V \to V^*$ which is one-one and onto. Let $\sigma(|v>) = \langle v|$ for every $|v> \in V$. He called $\langle v|$ the bra vector corresponding to the ket vector |v>.
- 2. The map σ is conjugate linear, that is $\sigma(|v>+|w>)=< v|+< w|$ and $\sigma(\lambda \ |v>)=\overline{\lambda} < v|$ for any ket vectors |v> and |w> and any complex number λ .

The scalar product of the ket vector $|v\rangle$ by the ket vector $|w\rangle$ is defined as the complex number $\langle w|v\rangle$, where $\langle w|$ is the bra vector corresponding to the ket vector $|w\rangle$. Dirac assumed that

1.
$$\langle v|v \rangle \geq 0$$
; $\langle v|v \rangle = 0 \Leftrightarrow |v \rangle = 0$.

$$2. < w|v> = \overline{< v|w>}.$$

He made further assumption that V is a Hilbert space, i.e. it is complete with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined by the formula

$$\| |v\rangle \|_{L^{\infty}} = \sqrt{\langle v|v\rangle}$$

for all $|v\rangle \in V$. Analogous properties of the bra vectors also led him to the assumption that the space V^* is complete.

Using the basic kets $|\xi\rangle$ where the ξ 's are discrete, he expressed the scalar product of ket vectors as a summation:

$$<\!\!w|v\!\!> = \sum_{\xi}<\!\!w|\xi\!\!> \overline{<\!\!v|\xi\!\!>}.$$

For continuous ξ the scalar product can be written in the form of an integral:

$$\langle w|v\rangle = \int \langle w|\xi\rangle \overline{\langle v|\xi\rangle} d\xi.$$

Dirac never gave an explicit characterization of his integral, but from his assumption that both V and V^* are complete we can conclude that it should have the properties of the Lebesgue integral.

In this dissertation we develop a theory of such integrals which we call Dirac integrals. From the above discussion it is obvious that the underlying space of functions of a Dirac integral should be an algebra of complex-valued functions which is closed under involution (conjugation). In addition we also stipulate that

this algebra should be closed under pointwise convergence and should contain constant functions. The theory is established from a set of axioms which we postulate as the defining properties of the Dirac Integral Space. Then we prove that the category of Dirac Integral Spaces (DIS) is isomorphic to the category of Lebesgue Measure Spaces (LMS).

This study provides a precise mathematical framework for the axiomatic development of Quantum Mechanics and allows us to prove many theorems which were derived heuristically by Dirac. The possibility of such development is suggested by the results of Bogdan [7][10]. A recent monograph of Kelley and Srinivasan [20] developes an approach to the Lebesgue Integral Spaces from the axioms of the integrals defined on real-valued functions.

The content of this dissertation is organized as follows. After the Introduction in Chapter 1, we present some important results on the Baire algebra of complex-valued functions in Chapter 2. We are especially interested in a certain kind of such Baire algebra, namely the space of all compositors $u: C^T \to C$. We prove that this space of compositors is precisely the Baire space $B(C^T, C)$. In this Chapter we also introduce the notion of a Baire algebra morphism φ from a Baire algebra A into a Baire algebra A', and show that every such morphism commutes with any compositor.

In Chapter 3 we investigate the relation between rings of subsets of a space X and algebras of complex-valued functions defined on X. We prove that if V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X, then the space M(V,C) of V-measurable complex-valued functions defined on X forms a Baire algebra. Conversely, if L is a Baire algebra of functions in C^X , then $V = \operatorname{trace}(L)$ is a σ -algebra of subsets of X such that L = M(V,C).

The Dirac Integral Space theory is developed in Chapter 4. Starting from

the axioms of the Dirac Integral Space we develop the theory of such spaces. In this Chapter we establish the convergence theorems and prove the topological completeness of the space of summable functions.

Chapter 5 is devoted to generating a Dirac Integral Space from a Lebesgue Measure Space. We begin with a positive linear functional defined on the space S(W,C) of simple functions, which we extend to a richer space of functions. We then further extend this functional to the space of summable functions and prove that this extension is indeed a Dirac Integral.

The Category of Dirac Intergal Spaces (DIS) and the Category of Lebesgue Measure Spaces (LMS) are investigated in Chapter 6. Using the Theorems which have been proved in the previous chapters, we construct functors $F: DIS \to LMS$ and $G: LMS \to DIS$ such that $F \circ G$ and $G \circ F$ are both identity functors. In other words, we prove that the two categories are isomorphic.

Chapter 2

Baire Algebras of Functions

Let X be an abstract set and C the field of complex numbers. Denote by C^X the space of all functions from X into C. A subset A of the space C^X is called an algebra if A is closed under addition of functions, muliplication of functions and scalar multiplication. An algebra A is said to be closed under pointwise convergence if whenever f_n is a sequence of functions in A such that $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$, then we have $f \in A$. As usual we denote the conjugate of a complex number z by \bar{z} . We say that an algebra A is closed under involution if $f \in A$ implies $\bar{f} \in A$, where $\bar{f}(x) = \overline{f(x)}$ for every $x \in X$. An algebra A in C^X will be called Baire Algebra if it is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution and contains all constant functions. It is obvious that C^X itself is a Baire algebra and it is easy to verify that the intersection of any collection of Baire algebras is also a Baire algebra.

If f is a function from X to Y and g is a function from Y to Z, then the composition $g \circ f$ of the two functions is a function from X to Z defined by the formula

$$(g \circ f)(x) = g(f(x))$$

for every $x \in X$.

Let Re and Im denote functions from C into the field of real numbers R such

that

$$\operatorname{Re}(z) = \frac{z + \bar{z}}{2}$$
 and $\operatorname{Im}(z) = \frac{z - \bar{z}}{2i}$

for every $z \in C$. Then it is obvious that for every function f belonging to a Baire algebra A in C^X we have

$$(\operatorname{Re} \circ f) \in A \quad \text{and} \quad (\operatorname{Im} \circ f) \in A.$$
 (2.1)

Proposition 2.1 If B is any nonempty subset of C^X , then there exists the smallest Baire algebra A in C^X containing B.

Proof. Let \mathcal{A} be the family of all Baire algebras in C^X containing B. Then \mathcal{A} is non-empty, since $C^X \in \mathcal{A}$. By the remark in the above paragraph, $D = \bigcap_{A \in \mathcal{A}} A$ is a Baire algebra and therefore D is the smallest Baire algebra in C^X containing B.

2.1 The Space of Compositors

Let T be any nonempty set and C^T denote the set of all elements of the form $z = (z_t)_{t \in T}$, where $z_t \in C$ for every $t \in T$. Let $\{f_t : t \in T\}$ be a subset of C^X . By $(f_t)_{t \in T}$ we mean a function f from X into C^T such that for every $x \in X$

$$f(x) = (f_t(x))_{t \in T}.$$

The function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ is said to be generated by the set $\{f_t: t \in T\}$.

Let Comp(T) denote the space of all functions $u: C^T \to C$ such that for every Baire algebra A and every function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ generated by a subset $\{f_t: t \in T\}$ of A, we have

$$(u \circ f) \in A$$
.

The elements of the space Comp(T) are called *compositors of order T*.

If $\alpha \in T$, then a function $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C$ defined by the relation

$$p_{\alpha}(z) = z_{\alpha}$$

for every $z = (z_t)_{t \in T} \in C^T$, is called the projection onto the α -th coordinate.

We recall that if E is a subset of X then the characteristic function c_E of the set E is defined by

$$c_E(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in E \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin E \end{cases}$$

for every $x \in X$.

Lemma 2.2 Let T be any nonempty set and $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ be the function generated by a subset $\{f_t: t \in T\}$ of C^X . Then for every functions u and v from $C^{(C^T)}$ and any complex number λ , the following statements hold:

- 1. $(u+v)\circ f = (u\circ f)+(v\circ f)$.
- 2. $(uv) \circ f = (u \circ f)(v \circ f)$.
- 3. $(\lambda u) \circ f = \lambda (u \circ f)$.
- $4. \ \bar{u} \circ f = \overline{u \circ f}.$
- 5. If u_n is a sequence of functions from C^T into C converging pointwise to u, then $u_n \circ f$ is a sequence of functions from X into C converging pointwise to the function $u \circ f$.
- 6. If c_X is the characteristic function of the set X, then $c_{(C^T)} \circ f = c_X$.
- 7. If $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C$ for some $\alpha \in T$ is the projection onto the α -th coordinate, then $p_{\alpha} \circ f = f_{\alpha}$.

Proof. For every $x \in X$ we have

$$((u + v) \circ f)(x) = (u + v)(f(x))$$

= $u(f(x)) + v(f(x))$
= $(u \circ f)(x) + (v \circ f)(x)$
= $((u \circ f) + (v \circ f))(x)$

which proves (1). Statements (2) and (3) are proved in similar ways.

To prove (4), we observe that

$$(\overline{u} \circ f)(x) = \overline{u}(f(x))$$

$$= \overline{u(f(x))}$$

$$= \overline{(u \circ f)(x)}$$

$$= \overline{(u \circ f)}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$.

Let u_n be a sequence of functions from C^T into C such that $u_n(z) \longrightarrow u(z)$ for every $z = (z_t)_{t \in T} \in C^T$. Then $(u_n \circ f)(x) = u_n(f(x)) \longrightarrow u(f(x)) = (u \circ f)(x)$ for every $x \in X$, which proves (5).

If $c_{(C^T)}$ is the characteristic function of the space C^T , then $c_{(C^T)}(z) = 1$ for every $z \in C^T$. Thus for every $x \in X$, we have $(c_{(C^T)} \circ f)(x) = c_{(C^T)}(f(x)) = 1 = c_X(x)$. This proves (6).

Let $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C$ $(\alpha \in T)$ be the projection onto the α -th coordinate. Then

$$(p_{\alpha} \circ f)(x) = p_{\alpha}(f(x))$$

$$= p_{\alpha}((f_{t}(x))_{t \in T})$$

$$= f_{\alpha}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Hence $p_{\alpha} \circ f = f_{\alpha}$.

Proposition 2.3 The space Comp(T) of compositors of order T forms a Baire algebra containing the set $P = \{p_{\alpha}: \alpha \in T\}$ of all the projections.

Proof. Let A be any Baire algebra contained in the space C^X and $\{f_t: t \in T\}$ be any subset of A generating the function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$. For any two functions u and v in Comp(T), the functions $(u \circ f)$ and $(v \circ f)$ are both in the Baire algebra

A. From Lemma 2.2 and the fact that A is an algebra, the functions $(u+v)\circ f$, and $(uv)\circ f$, and $(\lambda u)\circ f$ are all in the algebra A. This means that the functions (u+v), (uv) and (λu) are in Comp(T). Thus the space Comp(T) is an algebra.

Let u_n be a sequence of functions in Comp(T) such that $u_n(z) \longrightarrow u(z)$ for every $z = (z_t)_{t \in T} \in C^T$. Then $(u_n \circ f) \longrightarrow (u \circ f)$. Since $(u_n \circ f) \in A$ and A is closed under pointwise convergence, we conclude that $(u \circ f) \in A$. Thus $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$, which shows that the space Comp(T) is closed under pointwise convergence.

If $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$, then $(u \circ f) \in A$ and, since A is closed under involution, $\overline{(u \circ f)} \in A$. But $\overline{u \circ f} = \overline{u} \circ f$. So $(\overline{u} \circ f) \in A$, hence $\overline{u} \in \text{Comp}(T)$. Thus Comp(T) is closed under involution.

The function $c_{(C^T)} \circ f = c_X \in A$, since the algebra A contains all constant functions. Thus $c_{(C^T)} \in \text{Comp}(T)$. Since the space Comp(T) is an algebra, we conclude that it contains all constant functions. Thus we have proved that the space Comp(T) of compositors of order T is a Baire algebra.

Now, let $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C \ (\alpha \in T)$ be any projection. Then $p_{\alpha} \circ f = f_{\alpha} \in A$. Hence $p_{\alpha} \in \text{Comp}(T)$ for every $\alpha \in T$. This shows that the space Comp(T) contains all the projections.

Theorem 2.4 The space Comp(T) of compositors of order T is the smallest Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing the set $P = \{p_{\alpha}: \alpha \in T\}$ of all the projections.

Proof. Let Q be the smallest Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing the set P of all the projections. Such Baire algebra exists by Proposition 2.1. It is the intersection of all Baire algebras in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing the set P. Since the space Comp(T) is a Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing the set P, we must have

$$Q \subset \text{Comp}(T)$$
. (2.2)

Conversely, given any function $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$ and any Baire algebra A in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing the set P of pojections, we have $(u \circ (p_t)_{t \in T}) \in A$. But

$$(u \circ (p_t)_{t \in T})(z) = u((p_t)_{t \in T}(z))$$

$$= u((z_t)_{t \in T})$$

$$= u(z)$$

for every $z = (z_t)_{t \in T} \in C^T$, which implies that $u \in A$. So u belongs to every Baire algebra A containing P, which means that $u \in Q$. Thus we have the inclusion

$$Comp(T) \subset Q. \tag{2.3}$$

Hence from (2.2) and (2.3) follows Comp(T) = Q.

Corollary 2.5 If A is a Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing all the projections and $A \subset \text{Comp}(T)$, then A = Comp(T).

Proof. The above conclusion follows from the hypothesis and the fact that $Comp(T) \subset A$, since Comp(T) is the smallest of all such Baire algebras.

2.2 Baire Spaces of Functions

Let X and Y be topological Hausdorff spaces and $\mathcal{C}(X,Y)$ denote the space of all continuous functions from X into Y. Consider the family \mathcal{F} of all sets S of functions in Y^X such that S contains $\mathcal{C}(X,Y)$ and S is closed under pointwise convergence. Let

$$B(X,Y)=\bigcap_{S\in\mathcal{F}}S.$$

This set B(X,Y) will be called *Baire Space*, and its members are called *Baire functions*. It is easy to see that B(X,Y) contains C(X,Y) and is closed under pointwise convergence. This means that the Baire space is the smallest class of

functions in the space Y^X containing all continuous functions and being closed under pointwise convergence.

In this section we are going to show that Comp(T) is the Baire space of functions in $C^{(C^T)}$. For that we need several Lemmas.

Proposition 2.6 Let X, Y and Z be topological Hausdorff spaces. If $f \in B(X, Y)$ and $g \in B(Y, Z)$, then $(g \circ f) \in B(X, Z)$.

Proof. Let g be any continuous function in C(Y, Z), and

$$P_g = \{ f \in Y^X : (g \circ f) \in B(X, Z) \}.$$

If $f \in \mathcal{C}(X,Y)$, then $(g \circ f) \in \mathcal{C}(X,Z)$; therefore $(g \circ f) \in B(X,Z)$, which means that $f \in P_g$. Thus $\mathcal{C}(X,Y) \subset P_g$. Take any sequence f_n in P_g , which converges pointwise to some function f. Then $g \circ f_n$ is a sequence of functions in B(X,Z). But by the continuity of g we get $(g \circ f_n)(x) = g(f_n(x)) \longrightarrow g(f(x)) = (g \circ f)(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Hence $(g \circ f) \in B(X,Z)$, which means that $f \in P_g$. So P_g is a class of functions in Y^X which contains all continuous functions and is closed under pointwise convergence. From this it follows that $B(X,Y) \subset P_g$. So if we take any function $g \in \mathcal{C}(Y,Z)$ and $f \in B(X,Y)$ we have $(g \circ f) \in B(X,Z)$.

Now, take any function $f \in B(X,Y)$, and consider the set

$$Q_f = \{g \in Z^Y: \ (g \circ f) \in B(X,Z)\}.$$

Using similar arguments we can show that Q_f is a set of functions in Z^Y containing all continuous functions and being closed under pointwise convergence. Therefore $B(Y,Z) \subset Q_f$. So for every functions $f \in B(X,Y)$ and $g \in B(Y,Z)$ we have $(g \circ f) \in B(X,Z)$.

Let X, Y, Z and U be topological Hausdorff spaces, and $W = Z \times U$. On W we introduce the product (Tychonoff) topology, namely the smallest topology with

respect to which all the projections are continuous. Then W is also a topological Hausdorff space.

If $g \in Z^X$ and $h \in U^X$, then by (g,h) we mean a function from X into W defined by

$$(q,h)(x) = (q(x),h(x))$$

for every $x \in X$. Function (g,h) is continuous if g and h are. If g_n and h_n are sequences of functions in Z^X and U^X respectively, such that $g_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ and $h_n(x) \longrightarrow h(x)$ for every $x \in X$, then (g_n, h_n) is a sequence in W^X which converges pointwise to the function (g,h). Now let us prove the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.7 If $f \in B(W,Y)$, $g \in B(X,Z)$, and $h \in B(X,U)$, then $f \circ (g,h) \in B(X,Y)$.

Proof. Let f and h be any continuous functions in C(W,Y) and C(X,U) respectively. Consider the set

$$P_{f,h} = \{g \in Z^X : f \circ (g,h) \in B(X,Y)\}.$$

Using similar arguments as in the proof of Proposition 2.6, we get $B(X,Z) \subset P_{f,h}$. From this it follows that for every functions $f \in \mathcal{C}(W,Y), h \in \mathcal{C}(X,U)$ and $g \in B(X,Z)$, we have $f \circ (g,h) \in B(X,Y)$.

Now, for any functions $f \in C(W, Y)$ and $g \in B(X, Z)$ let

$$Q_{f,g} = \{h \in U^X : f \circ (g,h) \in B(X,Y)\}.$$

Then $B(X,U)\subset Q_{f,g}$. Consequently, for every $f\in \mathcal{C}(W,Y),\ g\in B(X,Z)$ and $h\in B(X,U)$ we have $f\circ (g,h)\in B(X,Y)$.

Finally, we let

$$S_{g,h} = \{ f \in Y^W : f \circ (g,h) \in B(X,Y) \}$$

for any functions $g \in B(X, Z)$ and $h \in B(X, U)$, and get $B(W, Y) \subset S_{g,h}$, which completes the proof.

Now let us introduce the product topology on the space C^T i.e. the smallest topology in which all the projections p_{α} ($\alpha \in T$) are continuous. Let $\mathcal{C}(C^T, C)$ denote the set of all continuous functions from C^T into C. We shall prove that $\mathcal{C}(C^T, C) \subset \text{Comp}(T)$. To do so we need one of the Corollaries of the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem and a Lemma. Let us first state the theorem.

Theorem 2.8 (Stone-Weierstrass) Let X be a compact Hausdorff space. If A is a closed subalgebra of C(X,R) which separates points and contains a non-zero constant function, then A = C(X,R).

If A is a subset of C(X, R), then the smallest complex algebra containing A is the algebra of all polynomials of functions from A with complex coefficients. One of the Corollaries of the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem says:

Corollary 2.9 If A is a subset of C(X,R) which separates points and B is the smallest complex algebra containing A, then $\overline{B} = C(X,C)$.

Using these results we now prove the following Lemma.

Lemma 2.10 If $f: C \to C$ is a continuous function and $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C$ is the projection onto the α -th coordinate, then $(f \circ p_{\alpha}) \in \text{Comp}(T)$.

Proof. Let $f: C \to C$ be continuous and $D_n = \{z \in C : |z| \le n\}$. Then D_n is a compact subset of C, and the function f is continuous on D_n for every $n \in N$. Let $S = \{\text{Re}, \text{Im}\}$. Then $S \subset C(D_n, R)$ and S separates points of D_n . Hence, by the Corollary of the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem, the function f can be uniformly approximated on D_n by a sequence of polynomials of members of S with complex

coefficients. So for every $n \in N$ there exists a polynomial q_n of members of S such that

$$|f(z) - q_n(z)| < 1/n$$

for all $z \in D_n$. Thus, as $n \to \infty$, the sequence $q_n(z)$ converges to f(z) for every $z \in C$. Consequently, if $p_\alpha : C^T \to C$ is the projection onto the α -th coordinate, then $q_n(p_\alpha(z)) \longrightarrow f(p_\alpha(z))$ for every $z \in C^T$, i.e.

$$(q_n \circ p_\alpha)(z) \longrightarrow (f \circ p_\alpha)(z)$$

for every $z \in C^T$. Notice that $q_n \circ p_\alpha$ is a polynomial of $\text{Re} \circ p_\alpha$ and $\text{Im} \circ p_\alpha$, which belong to Comp(T). So $(q_n \circ p_\alpha) \in \text{Comp}(T)$ for every $n \in N$, and therefore $(f \circ p_\alpha) \in \text{Comp}(T)$.

Proposition 2.11 The space Comp(T) contains all continuous functions from C^T into C.

Proof. Let $u: C^T \to C$ be a continuous function. The disk $D_m = \{z \in C : |z| \le m\}$ is compact in C, and so the set D_m^T is compact in C^T for every positive integer m. Thus the function u is continuous on the compact set D_m^T .

We observe that the projections p_{α} ($\alpha \in T$) are continuous on C^T and separate points of C^T . Let $B = \{\text{Re} \circ p_{\alpha}, \text{ Im} \circ p_{\alpha} : \alpha \in T\}$. Then $B \subset \mathcal{C}(C^T, R)$ and B separates points of C^T . So, by the Corollary of the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem, the function u can be uniformly approximated on D_m^T by a sequence of polynomials of members of B with complex coefficients. This means that for every positive integer m there exists such polynomial q_m satisfying the inequality

$$|u(z) - q_m(z)| < 1/m$$
 (2.4)

for all $z \in D_m^T$.

Now, for each positive integer n consider function g_n defined by

$$g_n(z) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} z & ext{if } |z| \leq n \ rac{nz}{|z|} & ext{if } |z| > n \end{array}
ight.$$

for every $z \in C$. Then g_n is a continuous function from C into D_n , and $g_n(z) \longrightarrow z$ for every $z \in C$ when n tends to infinity. By Lemma 2.10, we get $(g_n \circ p_\alpha) \in Comp(T)$ for every $n \in N$ and $\alpha \in T$.

Let $f_n = (g_n \circ p_\alpha)_{\alpha \in T}$. Then f_n is a continuous function from C^T into D_n^T . If m > n, then $f_n(z) \in D_m^T$ for every $z \in C^T$. So, by (2.4), we get

$$|u(f_n(z)) - q_m(f_n(z))| < 1/m$$

for all m > n and $z \in C^T$, i.e.

$$|(u\circ f_n)(z)-(q_m\circ f_n)(z)|<1/m$$

for all m > n and $z \in C^T$. This means that, for any fixed n, the sequence $(q_m \circ f_n)$ converges to $(u \circ f_n)$ as $m \to \infty$. But $q_m \circ f_n$ is a polynomial of $\operatorname{Re} \circ p_\alpha \circ f_n = \operatorname{Re} \circ (g_n \circ p_\alpha)$ and $\operatorname{Im} \circ p_\alpha \circ f_n = \operatorname{Im} \circ (g_n \circ p_\alpha)$, which belong to $\operatorname{Comp}(T)$ for every $n \in N$ and $\alpha \in T$. Hence $(q_m \circ f_n) \in \operatorname{Comp}(T)$ for every positive integer m and n, and consequently $(u \circ f_n) \in \operatorname{Comp}(T)$ for every $n \in N$.

Notice that for every $z = (z_t)_{t \in T} \in C^T$ we have

$$f_n(z)' = (g_n \circ p_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in T}(z)$$

 $= (g_n(p_{\alpha}(z)))_{\alpha \in T}$
 $= (g_n(z_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in T}.$

Since $g_n(z_\alpha) \longrightarrow z_\alpha$ when n tends to infinity, it follows that $f_n(z) \longrightarrow (z_\alpha)_{\alpha \in T} = z$ for every $z \in C^T$. Thus, by the continuity of u, we get $u(f_n(z)) \longrightarrow u(z)$ for every $z \in C^T$, which means that $(u \circ f_n) \longrightarrow u$. But Comp(T) is closed under pointwise convergence. Hence $u \in Comp(T)$.

Corollary 2.12 Every Baire algebra A of functions in the space C^X is closed under composition with any continuous function $u: C^T \to C$, in the sense that $(u \circ f) \in A$ for every function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ generated by a subset $\{f_t: t \in T\}$ of the algebra A.

Proof. Let A be a Baire algebra in the space C^X , and $u: C^T \to C$ a continuous function. By Proposition 2.11, the function u is contained in the space Comp(T). Hence, by the definition of the space of compositors, we have $(u \circ f) \in A$ for every function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ generated by a subset $\{f_t: t \in T\}$ of the algebra A.

Theorem 2.13 The space Comp(T) is the Baire space of functions in $C^{(C^T)}$, which means that the space of compositors of order T is the smallest class of functions in $C^{(C^T)}$ which contains all continuous functions from C^T into C and is closed under pointwise convergence.

Proof. We need to prove that $Comp(T) = B(C^T, C)$. By Proposition 2.11 and the fact that Comp(T) is closed under pointwise convergence we immediately get $B(C^T, C) \subset Comp(T)$.

Our next step is proving that $B(C^T,C)$ is a Baire algebra containing all the projections. Take any function $f \in B(C^T,C)$ and any complex number λ . Notice that function g_{λ} , defined by $g_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda z$ for every $z \in C$, is continuous, and therefore $g_{\lambda} \in B(C,C)$. So, by Proposition 2.6, we get $(g_{\lambda} \circ f) \in B(C^T,C)$. But $(g_{\lambda} \circ f)(z) = g_{\lambda}(f(z)) = \lambda f(z) = (\lambda f)(z)$ for every $z \in C^T$. Hence $\lambda f \in B(C^T,C)$, which proves that $B(C^T,C)$ is closed under scalar multiplication. Similarly, by taking function $g: C \to C$ defined by $g(z) = \bar{z}$ for every $z \in C$, we prove that $B(C^T,C)$ is closed under involution.

Now take any two functions g and h in $B(C^T, C)$. We observe that function $f: C^2 \to C$, defined by $f(z_1, z_2) = z_1 + z_2$ for every $(z_1, z_2) \in C^2$, is continuous,

and therefore $f \in B(C^2,C)$. So, by Proposition 2.7, we get $f \circ (g,h) \in B(C^T,C)$. But $(f \circ (g,h))(z) = f(g(z),h(z)) = g(z) + h(z) = (g+h)(z)$ for every $z \in C^T$. Hence $(g+h) \in B(C^T,C)$, which shows that $B(C^T,C)$ is closed under addition. To show that $B(C^T,C)$ is closed under multiplication, we use the function $f:C^2 \to C$ defined by $f(z_1,z_2) = z_1 \cdot z_2$ for every $(z_1,z_2) \in C^2$.

Constant functions are continuous, so they are Baire functions. By definition a Baire space is closed under pointwise convergence. So $B(C^T, C)$ is a Baire algebra. Since $B(C^T, C)$ contains all continuous functions from C^T into C and the projections p_{α} ($\alpha \in T$) are continuous, we conclude that $B(C^T, C)$ contains all the projections. Thus, by Corollary 2.5, we get $B(C^T, C) = \text{Comp}(T)$.

2.3 Baire Algebra Spanned by a Set of Functions

If F is a non-empty subset of C^X , then Proposition 2.1 guarantees the existence of the smallest Baire algebra in C^X containing F. Such Baire algebra is said to be *spanned* by the set F. In this section we shall characterize the Baire algebra spanned by a set of functions using the compositors.

Proposition 2.14 Let u_n be a sequence of real-valued functions in Comp(T). If $u(z) = \sup \{u_n(z): n \in N\} < \infty$ for every $z \in C^T$, then $u \in Comp(T)$. Similarly, if $u(z) = \inf \{u_n(z): n \in N\} < \infty$ for every $z \in C^T$, then $u \in Comp(T)$.

Proof. Let $v_n(z) = \sup \{u_j(z): j = 1, 2, \ldots, n\} = \max \{u_j(z): j = 1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ for every $z \in C^T$. Then

$$v_n = w_n \circ (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n)$$

where w_n is a function from R^n into R defined by

$$w_n(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n) = \max \{x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n\}$$

for every $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n \in R$, and (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) is a function from C^T into R^n such that $(u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n)(z) = (u_1(z), u_2(z), \ldots, u_n(z))$ for every $z \in C^T$. Notice that the function w_n is continuous for every $n \in N$, since w_2 is continuous and $w_n(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n) = w_2(w_{n-1}(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}), x_n)$.

Let τ_n be a function from C^n into C such that

$$\tau_n(z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n) = w_n(\operatorname{Re}(z_1), \operatorname{Re}(z_2), \ldots, \operatorname{Re}(z_n))$$

for every $z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n \in C$. The function τ_n is continuous, since the functions w_n and Re are. Therefore τ_n is a compositor of order n. So $\tau_n \circ (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) \in \text{Comp}(T)$, since the functions u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n belong to the Baire algebra Comp(T). But

$$(\tau_n \circ (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n))(z) = \tau_n (u_1(z), u_2(z), \dots, u_n(z))$$

$$= w_n(\text{Re}(u_1(z)), \text{Re}(u_2(z)), \dots, \text{Re}(u_n(z)))$$

$$= w_n (u_1(z), u_2(z), \dots, u_n(z))$$

$$= (w_n \circ (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n))(z)$$

$$= v_n(z)$$

for every $z \in C^T$. Thus $v_n \in \text{Comp}(T)$. Since $v_n(z) \longrightarrow u(z)$ for every $z \in C^T$, it follows that $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$.

The second part of the Proposition can be proved in a similar way.

Let A_n be a subset of the space X for every $n \in N$, and let

$$\bigvee_{n\in N} c_{A_n}(x) = \sup \{c_{A_n}(x) \colon n\in N\}$$

and

$$igwedge_{n\in N} c_{A_n}(x) = \inf \; \{c_{A_n}(x) \colon \; n\in N\}$$

for every $x \in X$. If $A = \bigcup_{n \in N} A_n$ and $B = \bigcap_{n \in N} A_n$, then

$$c_A = \bigvee_{n \in N} c_{A_n}$$
 and $c_B = \bigwedge_{n \in N} c_{A_n}$.

We also notice that for every function $f:X\to Y$ and every subset A in Y we have

$$c_{f^{-1}(A)} = c_A \circ f$$

since

$$c_{f^{-1}(A)}(x) = 1 \iff x \in f^{-1}(A)$$
 $\iff f(x) \in A$
 $\iff c_A(f(x)) = 1$
 $\iff (c_A \circ f)(x) = 1$

for every $x \in X$.

Lemma 2.15 Let L be the set of all elements $z = (z_n)_{n \in N} \in C^N$ such that the sequence z_n of complex numbers converges. Then the characteristic function of the set L is a compositor of order N, i.e. $c_L \in \text{Comp}(N)$.

Proof. Since every convergent sequence is a Cauchy sequence, we have

$$L = \left\{ z = (z_n)_{n \in N} \middle| (\forall_{n \in N})(\exists_{m \in N})(\forall_{k \ge m})(\forall_{l \ge m}) \middle| z_k - z_l \middle| < \frac{1}{n} \right\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} \bigcup_{m \in N} \bigcap_{k \ge m} \bigcap_{l \ge m} \left\{ z = (z_n)_{n \in N} \middle| |z_k - z_l| < \frac{1}{n} \right\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} \bigcup_{m \in N} \bigcap_{k \ge m} \bigcap_{l \ge m} \left\{ z = (z_n)_{n \in N} \middle| |p_k(z) - p_l(z)| < \frac{1}{n} \right\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} \bigcup_{m \in N} \bigcap_{k \ge m} \bigcap_{l \ge m} \left\{ z = (z_n)_{n \in N} \middle| f_{kl}(z) \in (-\infty, \frac{1}{n}) \right\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} \bigcup_{m \in N} \bigcap_{k \ge m} \bigcap_{l \ge m} f_{kl}^{-1} \left((-\infty, \frac{1}{n}) \right)$$

where $f_{kl}(z) = |p_k(z) - p_l(z)|$ for every $z \in C^N$. Notice that f_{kl} is a continuous function for every k and l in N. The characteristic function of the set L is

$$c_{L} = \bigwedge_{n \in N} \bigvee_{m \in N} \bigwedge_{k \geq m} \bigwedge_{l \geq m} c_{f_{kl}^{-1}(-\infty, 1/n)}$$

$$= \bigwedge_{n \in N} \bigvee_{m \in N} \bigwedge_{k > m} \bigwedge_{l > m} (c_{(-\infty, 1/n)} \circ f_{kl}). \tag{2.5}$$

Let a be any fixed real number. For each $n \in N$ consider function $g_n : R \to R$ defined by

$$g_n(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \leq \left(a - \frac{1}{n}\right) \\ n(a - x) & \text{if } \left(a - \frac{1}{n}\right) < x < a \\ 0 & \text{if } x > a \end{cases}$$

for every $x \in R$. It is easy to see that the function g_n is continuous for each $n \in N$, and that $g_n(x) \longrightarrow c_{(-\infty,a)}(x)$ for every $x \in R$ as $n \to \infty$. So the composite function $g_r \circ f_{kl}$ is continuous for every $r, k, l \in N$ and therefore it belongs to the space $\operatorname{Comp}(N)$. But $g_r(f_{kl}(z)) \longrightarrow c_{(-\infty,1/n)}(f_{kl}(z))$ for every $z \in C^N$, which means that $(g_r \circ f_{kl}) \longrightarrow (c_{(-\infty,1/n)} \circ f_{kl})$ as $r \to \infty$. Thus we conclude that $(c_{(-\infty,1/n)} \circ f_{kl}) \in \operatorname{Comp}(N)$. And consequently, by equation (2.5) and Proposition 2.14, we get $c_L \in \operatorname{Comp}(N)$.

Lemma 2.16 If $v: C^N \to C$ is a function defined by

$$v\left((z_n)_{n\in N}
ight) = \left\{egin{array}{ll} \lim_{n o\infty}z_n & if \ z_n \ converges \ 0 & if \ z_n \ does \ not \ converge \end{array}
ight.$$

then $v \in \text{Comp}(N)$.

Proof. Let L be the set of all elements $z=(z_n)_{n\in N}$ in C^N such that the sequence z_n of complex numbers converges. By Lemma 2.15, the characteristic function $c_L\in \operatorname{Comp}(N)$. Let $u_n=c_L\cdot p_n$, where $p_n:C^N\to C$ is the projection onto the n-th coordinate. It is easy to see that $u_n\in\operatorname{Comp}(N)$ for every $n\in N$ and that $u_n(z)\longrightarrow v(z)$ for every $z=(z_n)_{n\in N}\in C^N$. Hence $v\in\operatorname{Comp}(N)$.

Theorem 2.17 If $F = \{f_t: t \in T\}$ is a subset of C^X and $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ is the function generated by F, then the smallest Baire algebra in C^X containing the set F is

$$B(F) = \{g: g = u \circ f, u \in Comp(T)\}.$$

Proof. Let A be the family of all Baire algebras in C^X containing the set F and let $G = \bigcap_{A \in A} A$. We want to show that B(F) = G.

For every $g \in B(F)$, we have $g = u \circ f$ for some $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$. Thus, by definiton of the space Comp(T), we get $g \in A$ for every $A \in A$. Hence $g \in G$ and so

$$B(F) \subset G.$$
 (2.6)

From Lemma 2.2 and the fact that the space Comp(T) is a Baire algebra, it is easy to show that B(F) is an algebra, closed under involution and containing all constant functions.

Let g_n be a sequence of functions in B(F) such that $g_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Then $g_n = u_n \circ f$ for some sequence u_n in $\operatorname{Comp}(T)$. Let $u = (u_n)_{n \in N}$ and v be the function defined in Lemma 2.16. Since $v \in \operatorname{Comp}(N)$ and u_n belongs to the Baire algebra $\operatorname{Comp}(T)$ for every $n \in N$, we get

$$w = v \circ u \in \text{Comp}(T)$$
.

By the definition of function v and the pointwise convergence of the sequence g_n , we have $v((g_n(x))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}) = \lim_{n\to\infty} g_n(x)$ for every $x\in X$, i.e.

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} g_n(x) = v\left((u_n(f(x)))_{n \in N}\right)$$

$$= v\left(u(f(x))\right)$$

$$= ((v \circ u) \circ f)(x)$$

$$= (w \circ f)(x).$$

So we must have $g = w \circ f$, where $w \in \text{Comp}(T)$. Hence $g \in B(F)$, which shows that B(F) is closed under pointwise convergence.

Now, take any function $f_{\alpha} \in F$ $(\alpha \in T)$. The projection $p_{\alpha} \in \text{Comp}(T)$ and so $p_{\alpha} \circ f = f_{\alpha} \in B(F)$. Hence $F \subset B(F)$. So we conclude that $B(F) \in \mathcal{A}$, and therefore

$$G \subset B(F)$$
. (2.7)

Thus from (2.6) and (2.7) we conclude that B(F) = G, i.e. B(F) is the smallest Baire algebra in C^X containing the set F.

2.4 Baire Algebra Morphisms

Let A and A' be Baire algebras in C^X and $C^{X'}$ respectively. A map $\varphi: A \to A'$ is called Baire algebra morphism if it preserves the Baire algebra structure, i.e. for every functions f and g from A and any complex number λ , the following conditions are satisfied:

1.
$$\varphi(f+g) = \varphi(f) + \varphi(g)$$
.

2.
$$\varphi(\lambda f) = \lambda \varphi(f)$$
.

3.
$$\varphi(fg) = \varphi(f)\varphi(g)$$
.

4. If f_n is a sequence of functions in A converging pointwise to function f, then $\varphi(f_n)$ is a sequence of functions in A' converging pointwise to function $\varphi(f)$.

5.
$$\varphi(\bar{f}) = \overline{\varphi(f)}$$
.

6.
$$\varphi(c_X) = c_{X'}$$
.

Theorem 2.18 Let A and A' be Baire algebras in C^X and $C^{X'}$ respectively and $\varphi \colon A \to A'$ be a Baire algebra morphism. Then for every function $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$

and every function $f = (f_t)_{t \in T}$ generated by a subset $\{f_t : t \in T\}$ of A, we have

$$\varphi(u \circ f) = u \circ f'$$

where $f' = (\varphi(f_t))_{t \in T}$.

Proof. Let $U = \{u \in \text{Comp}(T): \varphi(u \circ f) = u \circ f'\}$. To prove the proposition, it is sufficient to show that U = Comp(T). We do this by showing that U is a Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing all the projections.

Take any two elements u and v in U. Then $(u+v)\in \operatorname{Comp}(T)$ and $\varphi(u\circ f)=u\circ f'$ and $\varphi(v\circ f)=v\circ f',$ and so

$$\varphi((u+v)\circ f) = \varphi((u\circ f) + (v\circ f))$$

$$= \varphi(u\circ f) + \varphi(v\circ f)$$

$$= (u\circ f') + (v\circ f')$$

$$= (u+v)\circ f'.$$

Thus $(u + v) \in U$. Similarly, we can prove that $(uv) \in U$ and $(\lambda u) \in U$ for every complex number λ . Hence U is an algebra.

If $u \in U$, then $\bar{u} \in \text{Comp}(T)$ and

$$\varphi(\bar{u} \circ f) = \varphi(\overline{u \circ f})$$

$$= \overline{\varphi(u \circ f)}$$

$$= \overline{u \circ f'}$$

$$= \bar{u} \circ f'.$$

Thus $\bar{u} \in U$, i.e. U is closed under involution.

The characteristic function $c_{(C^T)} \in U$, since it belongs to Comp(T) and

$$\varphi(c_{(C^T)} \circ f) = \varphi(c_X)$$



$$= c_{X'}$$

$$= c_{(C^T)} \circ f'.$$

Since U is an algebra, it must contain all constant functions.

Let u_n be a sequence in U such that $u_n(g) \longrightarrow u(g)$ for every $g \in C^{(C^T)}$. Since the sequence u_n is in Comp(T) and the space Comp(T) is closed under pointwise convergence, we have $u \in \text{Comp}(T)$. By Lemma 2.2, the sequence $(u_n \circ f)$ converges pointwise to $(u \circ f)$, and therefore $\varphi(u_n \circ f)$ is a sequence in A' converging pointwise to $\varphi(u \circ f)$. In other word, since $u_n \in U$, the sequence $(u_n \circ f')$ converges to $\varphi(u \circ f)$. But, using Lemma 2.2 again, the sequence $(u_n \circ f')$ must converge to $(u \circ f')$. Thus $\varphi(u \circ f) = u \circ f'$, which means that $u \in U$. So U is closed under pointwise convergence.

Finally, U also contains all of the projections $p_{\alpha}: C^T \to C \quad (\alpha \in T)$, since $p_{\alpha} \in \text{Comp}(T)$ and

$$\varphi(p_{\alpha} \circ f) = \varphi(f_{\alpha})$$

$$= p_{\alpha} \circ (\varphi(f_{t}))_{t \in T}$$

$$= p_{\alpha} \circ f'$$

for every $\alpha \in T$.

Since $U \subset \text{Comp}(T)$ and U is a Baire algebra in $C^{(C^T)}$ containing all the projections, by Corollary 2.5, we get U = Comp(T).

Chapter 3

Rings of Sets and Algebras of Functions

Let V be a family of subsets of an abstract set X, and S(V) be the collection of those subsets A of X with the property that there exist disjoint sets A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n in V such that

$$A=\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i.$$

The members of S(V) are called *simple sets* and we say that S(V) is the collection of simple sets generated by the family V. It is obvious that every set in V is simple, in other words $V \subset S(V)$.

A family V of subsets of X is called a *prering* if for every two sets A and B in V we have the sets $A \setminus B$ and $A \cap B$ are both in S(V). If V is closed under difference and union of sets, i.e. $(A \setminus B) \in V$ and $(A \cup B) \in V$ for every A and B in V, then V is called a *ring*. If V is a ring, then it is also closed under intersection, since $A \cap B = A \setminus (A \setminus B) \in V$ for every A and B in V. Hence every ring of sets is a prering.

Proposition 3.1 Let V be a prering. If $A \in V$ and B_1, B_2, \ldots, B_n are disjoint sets in V, then $A \setminus (B_1 \cup B_2 \cup \cdots \cup B_n) \in S(V)$ for every positive integer n.

Proof. We prove by induction. If n = 1, it is clear that $(A \setminus B_1) \in S(V)$ since V is a prering. Assume that the statement is true for n = k. Let $B_1, B_2, \ldots, B_k, B_{k+1}$

be disjoint sets in V. Notice that

$$D = A \setminus (B_1 \cup \cdots \cup B_k \cup B_{k+1}) = (A \setminus (B_1 \cup \cdots \cup B_k)) \setminus B_{k+1}.$$

By our assumption, $A \setminus (B_1 \cup \cdots \cup B_k) \in S(V)$, which means that there exist disjoint sets E_1, \ldots, E_m in V such that $A \setminus (B_1 \cup \cdots \cup B_k) = \bigcup_{i=1}^m E_i$. Thus $D = (\bigcup_{i=1}^m E_i) \setminus B_{k+1} = \bigcup_{1=1}^m (E_i \setminus B_{k+1}) = \bigcup_{i=1}^m F_i$, where $F_i = E_i \setminus B_{k+1} \in S(V)$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, m\}$, since V is a prering. So we get disjoint sets F_i (since sets E_i are disjoint), each of which is a finite union of disjoint sets in V. Thus D is a finite union of disjoint sets in V. So $D \in S(V)$.

3.1 Simple Functions

Let Y be any non-empty set and 0 be a fixed element in Y (called the *scaling element*). A function $s: X \to Y$ is called *simple* with respect to a family V of subsets of X if there exist disjoint sets A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n in V and y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_n in Y such that

$$s(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} y_i & ext{if } x \in A_i \ 0 & ext{if } x
ot\in igcup_{i=1}^n A_i \end{array}
ight.$$

for all $x \in X$. Let S(V, Y) denote the set of all simple functions $s \in Y^X$ generated by the family V.

If s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n are simple functions from S(V, Y), then by (s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n) we mean a function $s: X \to Y^n$ defined by

$$s(x)=(s_1(x),s_2(x),\ldots,s_n(x))$$

for all $x \in X$. The function $s = (s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n)$ is said to be generated by simple functions s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n . We say that the set S(V, Y) of simple functions is closed under composition with a function $u: Y^n \to Y$ if $(u \circ s) \in S(V, Y)$ for every function $s = (s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n)$ generated by simple functions $s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_n \in S(V, Y)$.

A family V of subsets of X is said to have finite refinement property if for every finite subfamily V_1 of V there exists a finite subfamily V_2 of pairwise disjoint sets from V such that every member of V_1 is a union of members of V_2 . The family V_2 is called a finite refinement of V_1 .

Proposition 3.2 For a fixed family V of subsets of a space X the following statements are equivalent:

- For every set Y with a scaling element 0, the set S(V,Y) of simple functions
 is closed under composition with every function u: Yⁿ → Y vanishing at zero
 (i.e. u(0,0,...,0) = 0).
- 2. The collection S(V) of simple sets is a ring.
- 3. The family V of subsets of X is a prering.
- 4. The family V has finite refinement property.

Proof. $1\Rightarrow 2$: Let $Y=\{0,1\}$ where 0 is the scaling element. Then $A\in S(V)\Longleftrightarrow c_A\in S(V,Y)$. Take any two sets A and B in S(V). Then their characteristic functions c_A and c_B are both in S(V,Y). Consider function $u\colon Y^2\to Y$ defined by $u(x,y)=\max\{x,y\}$ for all $x,y\in Y$. It is clear that u(0,0)=0. Thus, by our hypothesis, $u\circ (c_A,c_B)\in S(V,Y)$. But $(u\circ (c_A,c_B))(x)=\max\{c_A(x),c_B(x)\}=c_{A\cup B}(x)$ for every $x\in X$. Hence $c_{A\cup B}\in S(V,Y)$, and so $(A\cup B)\in S(V)$.

Next we consider function $u: Y^2 \to Y$ defined by u(x,y) = x(1-y) for every $x,y \in Y$. From our hypothesis it follows that $u \circ (c_A,c_B) \in S(V,Y)$. But for every $x \in X$ we have $(u \circ (c_A,c_B))(x) = c_A(x)(1-c_B(x)) = c_{A\setminus B}(x)$. Hence $c_{A\setminus B} \in S(V,Y)$, and thus $(A\setminus B) \in S(V)$. So S(V) is a ring.

 $2\Rightarrow 3$: Assume that S(V) is a ring. Take any two sets A and B in V. Then A and B are both in S(V). Since S(V) is a ring, both $A\setminus B$ and $A\cap B$ belong to S(V). So V is a prering.

 $3\Rightarrow 4$: Let V be a prering. We shall prove (4) by induction. Every subfamily of V consisting of only one set has itself as a finite refinement. Assume that subfamily $H_n=\{A_1,\ldots,A_n\}$ of V has a finite refinement, say $W_0=\{B_1,\ldots,B_m\}$ where $B_i\in V$ and $B_i\cap B_j=\emptyset$ if $i\neq j$ $(i,j=1,2,\ldots,m)$. Consider subfamily $H_{n+1}=\{A_1,\ldots,A_n,A_{n+1}\}$ of V. We observe that

$$A_{n+1} = [A_{n+1} \setminus (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} B_i)] \cup [A_{n+1} \cap (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} B_i)]$$

= $D \cup E$

where $D = A_{n+1} \setminus (\bigcup_{i=1}^m B_i)$ and $E = A_{n+1} \cap (\bigcup_{i=1}^m B_i)$. By Proposition 3.1, we get $D \in S(V)$, which means that D is a union of members of some finite collection W_1 of disjoint sets in V. And $E = A_{n+1} \cap (\bigcup_{i=1}^m B_i) = \bigcup_{i=1}^m (A_{n+1} \cap B_i) = \bigcup_{i=1}^m E_i$ where $E_i = A_{n+1} \cap B_i \in S(V)$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ since V is a prering. Thus each E_i is a union of members of some finite collection V_i of disjoint sets in V. Let $W_2 = \bigcup_{i=1}^m V_i$. Then $W = W_0 \cup W_1 \cup W_2$ is a finite refinement of the collection H_{n+1} .

 $4\Rightarrow 1$: We now assume that V has finite refinement property. Take any function $u:Y^n\to Y$ such that $u(0,0,\ldots,0)=0$ and any simple functions s_1,s_2,\ldots,s_n from the space S(V,Y). We need to prove that $(u\circ s)\in S(V,Y)$, where $s=(s_1,s_2,\ldots,s_n)$. For each $i\in\{1,2,\ldots,n\}$ there exist a finite index set $\Gamma_i=\{1,2,\ldots,m_i\}$, and disjoint sets A_{ij} $(j\in\Gamma_i)$ in V, and elements y_{ij} $(j\in\Gamma_i)$ in Y such that

$$s_i(x) = \begin{cases} y_{ij} & \text{if } x \in A_{ij} \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma_i} A_{ij}. \end{cases}$$

Let $H = \{A_{ij}: i = 1, 2, ..., n; j \in \Gamma_i\}$. Then H is a finite subfamily of V. By our assumption, H has a finite refinement, say $B = \{B_1, ..., B_k\}$. Each $A_{ij} \in H$ is a union of disjoint sets from the collection B. Let $z_{it} = y_{ij}$ if $B_t \subset A_{ij}$ and $B_t \neq \emptyset$,

otherwise let $z_{it} = 0$. Notice that

$$s_i(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} z_{it} & ext{if } x \in B_t \ 0 & ext{if } x
otin U_{t=1}^k B_t. \end{array}
ight.$$

Hence

$$(u \circ s)(x) = u(s_1(x), \ldots, s_n(x)) = \begin{cases} u(z_{1t}, z_{2t}, \ldots, z_{nt}) = v_t & \text{if } x \in B_t \\ u(0, 0, \ldots, 0) = 0 & \text{if } x \notin \bigcup_{t=1}^k B_t \end{cases}$$

which shows that $(u \circ s) \in S(V, Y)$.

A partially ordered set is called a *lattice* if every pair of elements in it has a least upper bound and a greatest lower bound. Let f and g be real-valued functions defined on X. By $f \wedge g$ and $f \vee g$ we mean functions defined as follows

$$(f \wedge g)(x) = \min \{f(x), g(x)\}\$$

$$(f\vee g)(x)=\max\ \{f(x),g(x)\}$$

for every $x \in X$. It is clear that a set S of real-valued functions defined on X is a lattice if $(f \land g) \in S$ and $(f \lor g) \in S$ for every pair of functions f and g in S.

Theorem 3.3 If V is a precing of subsets of X, and C is the field of complex numbers, then the set S(V,C) of simple functions generated by the family V is an algebra of functions closed under involution. Moreover, the set S(V,R) of real-valued simple functions is a lattice.

Proof. Consider function $u: C^2 \to C$ defined by $u(z_1, z_2) = z_1 + z_2$ for every complex numbers z_1 and z_2 . By Proposition 3.2, we get $u \circ (s_1, s_2) \in S(V, C)$ for every $s_1, s_2 \in S(V, C)$. But $(u \circ (s_1, s_2))(x) = u(s_1(x), s_2(x)) = s_1(x) + s_2(x) = (s_1 + s_2)(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Hence $(s_1 + s_2) \in S(V, C)$, i.e. S(V, C) is closed under addition. Similarly, by considering function $u: C^2 \to C$ defined by $u(z_1, z_2) = z_1 \cdot z_2$ for every $z_1, z_2 \in C$, we prove that S(V, C) is closed under multiplication. To show that it

is closed under scalar multiplication and involution, we use functions $u: C \to C$ defined by $u(z) = \lambda z$ and $u(z) = \bar{z}$ for all $z \in C$, respectively.

For every pair of functions s_1 and s_2 from S(V,R), the functions $u_1 = s_1 \wedge s_2$ and $u_2 = s_1 \vee s_2$ from R^2 into R vanish at zero. From this it follows that the set S(V,R) is a lattice.

3.2 Measurable Functions

A ring V of subsets of a space X is called an algebra if $X \in V$. If a ring V is closed under countable union, i.e.

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in V$$

for every countable collection $\{A_n\}$ of sets from V, then V is called a σ -ring. A ring V is called a δ -ring if it is closed under countable intersection, i.e.

$$\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in V$$

for every countable collection $\{A_n\}$ of sets from V. A σ -ring V is called a σ -algebra if $X \in V$. If V is a σ -ring and $\{A_n\}$ a countable collection of sets in V, then $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = A_1 \setminus (A_1 \setminus \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = A_1 \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_1 \setminus A_n) \in V$. Hence every σ -ring is a δ -ring.

Every δ -ring V is closed under dominated countable union, in the sense that if $\{A_n\}$ is a countable collection of sets from V, and the set $B \in V$ is such that $A_n \subset B$ for every $n \in N$, then $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in V$. This is true since $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = B \setminus (B \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = B \setminus \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} (B \setminus A_n)$.

If V is a family of subsets of X, then by V^{σ} we mean the collection of all countable unions of sets in V, that is

$$V^{\sigma} = \left\{ A \colon A = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n, A_n \in V \right\}.$$

Proposition 3.4 If V is a δ -ring of subsets of X, then V^{σ} is the smallest σ -ring containing V.

Proof. From the definition of V^{σ} it is clear that the family V is contained in V^{σ} . Take any two sets A and B from the family V^{σ} . Then $A = \bigcup_n A_n$ and $B = \bigcup_m B_m$, where $A_n \in V$ and $B_m \in V$ for every n and m in N. Therefore

$$A \setminus B = (\bigcup_{n} A_{n}) \setminus (\bigcup_{m} B_{m})$$
$$= \bigcup_{n} (A_{n} \setminus \bigcup_{m} B_{m})$$
$$= \bigcup_{n} \bigcap_{m} (A_{n} \setminus B_{m}).$$

Since V is a δ -ring, the set $\bigcap_m (A_n \setminus B_m) \in V$ for every $n \in N$. So $(A \setminus B) \in V^{\sigma}$.

Let A_n be a countable collection of sets from V^{σ} . Then for every $n \in N$

$$A_n = \bigcup_m A_{nm}$$

where $A_{nm} \in V$ for every $n, m \in N$. Thus

$$\bigcup_n A_n = \bigcup_n \bigcup_m A_{nm} \in V^{\sigma}$$

since it is a countable union of sets from V. Thus V^{σ} is a σ -ring.

Suppose that W is another σ -ring containing V. If $A \in V^{\sigma}$, then $A = \bigcup_{n} A_{n}$ where $A_{n} \in V$ for every $n \in N$. Since $V \subset W$, we must have $A_{n} \in W$ for every $n \in N$. So $A = \bigcup_{n} A_{n} \in W$, because W is a σ -ring. Hence $V^{\sigma} \subset W$, which proves that V^{σ} is the smallest σ -ring containing V.

In the following Proposition, by \overline{G} we mean the closure of the set G.

Proposition 3.5 Let V be δ -ring of subsets of a space X and f be a complex-valued function defined on X. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. For every open set G in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$, the inverse image $f^{-1}(G)$ of the set G is in V.
- 2. For every closed set F in C such that $0 \notin F$, the inverse image $f^{-1}(F)$ of the set F is in V.

Proof. $1 \Rightarrow 2$: Assume that $f^{-1}(G) \in V$ for every open set G in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$. Let F be any closed set in C such that $0 \notin F$. Consider the distance function $d: C \to R^+$ defined by $d(z) = \inf \{|z - w|: w \in F\}$ for all $z \in C$. Then the function d is continuous on C. Notice that

$$F = \{z \in C : d(z) = 0\}$$

$$= \{z \in C : (\forall_{n \in N}) \ d(z) < 1/n\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} d^{-1}(-\infty, 1/n)$$

$$= \bigcap_{n \in N} G_n,$$

where $G_n = d^{-1}(-\infty, 1/n)$. Since d is continuous, the set G_n is open in C for every $n \in N$. We also notice that $G_{n+1} \subset \overline{G_{n+1}} \subset G_n$ for every $n \in N$. Since $0 \notin F$, there exists $n_0 \in N$ such that $0 \notin G_{n_0}$. Thus $0 \notin G_n$, and therefore $0 \notin \overline{G_{n+1}}$, for all $n > n_0$. So we have $F = \bigcap_{n > n_0 + 1} G_n$ and $0 \notin \overline{G_n}$ for all $n > n_0 + 1$. And consequently

$$f^{-1}(F) = f^{-1}\left(\bigcap_{n>n_0+1}G_n\right)$$

= $\bigcap_{n>n_0+1}f^{-1}(G_n)\in V$,

since by our assumption $f^{-1}(G_n) \in V$ for all $n > n_0 + 1$ and V is a δ -ring.

 $2 \Rightarrow 1$: Now let us assume that $f^{-1}(F) \in V$ for every closed set F in C with $0 \notin F$. Take any open set G in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$. Let $F = G^c$ and d be the corresponding distance function as defined above. Then

$$G = \{z \in C | z \notin F\}$$

$$= \{z \in C | d(z) > 0\}$$

$$= \{z \in C | (\exists_{m,n \in N}) | \frac{1}{m} \le d(z) \le n\}$$

$$= \bigcup_{m,n \in N} d^{-1} [\frac{1}{m}, n]$$

$$= \bigcup_{m,n \in N} F_{mn}$$

where $F_{mn}=d^{-1}[\frac{1}{m},n]$. Since function d is continuous on C, the set F_{mn} is closed for every m and n in N. Also $F_{mn}\subset G\subset \overline{G}$, which implies that $0\not\in F_{mn}$, and $f^{-1}(F_{mn})\subset f^{-1}(\overline{G})$, for every m and n in N. By our assumption $f^{-1}(F_{mn})\in V$ for every $m,n\in N$, and also $f^{-1}(\overline{G})\in V$. Since V is a δ -ring (which is closed under dominated countable union), we get $\bigcup_{m,n\in N}f^{-1}(F_{mn})=f^{-1}(\bigcup_{m,n\in N}F_{mn})=f^{-1}(G)\in V$.

Let M(V,C) denote the set of all functions $f \in C^X$ such that $f^{-1}(G) \in V$ for every open set G in C with $0 \notin \overline{G}$. The members of M(V,C) are called *measurable* functions with respect to the family V. If V is a ring of subsets of X, then it is easy to verify that every simple function $s \in S(V,C)$ is measurable with respect to V.

Proposition 3.6 If V is a σ -ring of subsets of X, then the set M(V,C) of measurable functions is closed under pointwise convergence on X.

Proof. Let f_n be a sequence of functions in M(V,C) converging pointwise to a function f, and G be an open set in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$. Let $F = G^c$ and d be the distance function defined by $d(z) = \inf \{|z - w| : w \in F\}$ for every $z \in C$. Since $z \in F \iff d(z) = 0$, we get

$$G = \{z \in C | z \notin F\}$$
$$= \{z \in C | d(z) > 0\}$$

$$= \{z \in C | (\exists k \in N) \ d(z) > \frac{1}{k} \}$$

$$= \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} d^{-1}(\frac{1}{k}, \infty)$$

$$= \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} G_k$$

where $G_k = d^{-1}(\frac{1}{k}, \infty)$ is an open set for every $k \in N$, since d is continuous. Notice that $\overline{G_k} = \{z \in C \colon d(z) \ge \frac{1}{k}\} \subset G$ for every positive integer k. We claim that

$$f^{-1}(G) = \{ x \in X | (\exists_{k \in N})(\exists_{m \in N})(\forall_{n > m}) f_n(x) \in G_k \}.$$
 (3.1)

Take any $x \in f^{-1}(G)$. Then $f(x) \in G$, which means that $f(x) \in G_k$ for some positive integer k. Since G_k is open, there exists some positive number r such that the ball B(f(x);r) is contained in G_k . But $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. So there exists a positive integer m such that $f_n(x) \in B(f(x);r)$ for all $n \geq m$. Thus $(\exists_{k \in N})(\exists_{m \in N})(\forall_{n \geq m})$ $f_n(x) \in G_k$. Conversely, take any $x \in X$ such that $f_n(x) \in G_k$ for some k and m in N and all $n \geq m$. Since $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$, we must have $f(x) \in \overline{G_k} \subset G$. Thus $x \in f^{-1}(G)$. This completes the proof of (3.1), and so

$$f^{-1}(G) = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \bigcap_{n > m} f_n^{-1}(G_k),$$

where G_k is open and $0 \notin \overline{G_k}$ for every $k \in N$. Since $f_n \in M(V,C)$, we must have $f_n^{-1}(G_k) \in V$ for every $n \in N$. But V is a σ -ring. So we conclude that $f^{-1}(G) \in V$, which means that $f \in M(V,C)$.

If W is a lattice of subsets of a space X, then

$$V = \{A \setminus B \colon \ A \in W, \ B \in W\}$$

is a prering closed under intersection. The collection of all open sets G in the complex plane C whose closures do not contain the origin is obviously a lattice. Let K be the family of all subsets in C which are of the form $G \setminus H$ where G and H

are open sets in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$ and $0 \notin \overline{H}$. Then K is a prering closed under intersection. Denote by S(K,C) the set of all complex-valued simple functions with respect to the family K.

Lemma 3.7 If $e: C \to C$ is the identity map, i.e. e(z) = z for every $z \in C$, then there exists a sequence u_n of simple functions in S(K,C) such that $u_n(z) \longrightarrow e(z)$ and $|u_n(z)| \nearrow |e(z)|$ for every $z \in C$.

Proof. For each $n \in N$ let $S_n = \{z \in C : \frac{1}{2n} \le |z| \le n\}$. Then S_n is compact, and so there exist $z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_{k_n} \in S_n$ such that

$$S_n \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{k_n} B(z_j; \frac{1}{4n}).$$

Let $G_j^n = B(z_j; \frac{1}{4n})$, and let $A_1^n = G_1^n$ and $A_j^n = (G_j^n \setminus (G_1^n \cup \cdots \cup G_{j-1}^n)) \cap S_n$ for $j = 2, \ldots, k_n$. Then for each $n \in N$ the sets A_j^n are mutually disjoint, $A_j^n \subset G_j^n$, $A_j^n \in K$ for every $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, k_n\}$, and

$$S_n = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k_n} A_j^n.$$

Let $D_1 = \{A_j^1: j = 1, 2, \dots, k_1\}$ and

$$D_n = \{D \cap A_j^n : D \in D_{n-1}, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, k_n\} \cup \{A_j^n \setminus S_{n-1} : \ j = 1, 2, \dots, k_n\}$$

for $n \geq 2$. Then by induction we have the following facts:

- 1. Each D_n is a finite family of mutually disjoint sets. So for every $n \in N$ let us write $D_n = \{D_j^n: j \in \Gamma_n\}$ for some finite index set Γ_n .
- 2. For every $n \in N$ we have $S_n = \bigcup_{j \in \Gamma_n} D_j^n$.
- 3. Each D_j^n is the union of members of the family D_{n+1} .
- 4. The family D_n is a subset of K for every $n \in N$.

For each $n \in N$ and each $j \in \Gamma_n$ let $w_j^n \in \overline{D_j^n}$ such that

$$|w_j^n| = \inf \{|z|: z \in \overline{D_j^n}\}.$$

We now define a function $u_n: C \to C$ by setting

$$u_n(z) = \sum_{j \in \Gamma_n} w_j^n c_{D_j^n}(z)$$

for every $z \in C$. It is clear that $u_n \in S(K,C)$ for every $n \in N$. We claim that $|u_n(z) - z| < \frac{1}{n}$ for all $z \in C$ such that $|z| \le n$.

If $|z|<\frac{1}{2n}$ then $z\not\in S_n$ and therefore $u_n(z)=0$. Thus $|u_n(z)-z|=|z|<\frac{1}{2n}<\frac{1}{n}$. If $\frac{1}{2n}\leq |z|\leq n$ then $z\in S_n$. So $z\in D_j^n$ for some $j\in \Gamma_n$, and therefore $u_n(z)=w_j^n$. Since $w_j^n\in \overline{D_j^n}\subset \overline{A_j^n}\subset \overline{G_j^n}$, we get

$$|u_n(z) - z| = |w_j^n - z|$$

$$\leq |w_j^n - z_j| + |z_j - z|$$

$$< \frac{1}{4n} + \frac{1}{4n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2n} < \frac{1}{n}.$$

Thus for each $z \in C$ we have $|u_n(z) - z| < \frac{1}{n}$ if $n \geq |z|$, which means that $u_n(z) \longrightarrow e(z)$ for every $z \in C$.

We still have to show that

$$|u_n(z)| \le |u_{n+1}(z)| \tag{3.2}$$

for every $n \in N$ and every $z \in C$. Take any $n \in N$ and any complex number $z \in C$. If $z \notin S_{n+1}$, then $u_n(z) = u_{n+1}(z) = 0$ and so inequality (3.2) holds. If $z \in S_{n+1} \setminus S_n$, then $u_n(z) = 0$ and thus inequality (3.2) also holds. If $z \in S_n$, then $z \in D_k^n$ for some $k \in \Gamma_n$. So

$$|u_n(z)| = |w_k^n|$$

= $\inf \{|z|: z \in \overline{D_k^n}\}$

where $w_k^n \in \overline{D_k^n}$. Let Γ'_{n+1} be a subset of Γ_{n+1} such that $D_k^n = \bigcup_{j \in \Gamma'_{n+1}} D_j^{n+1}$. So $z \in D_m^{n+1}$ for some $m \in \Gamma'_{n+1}$, and therefore

$$|u_{n+1}(z)| = |w_m^{n+1}|$$

= $\inf \{|z|: z \in \overline{D_m^{n+1}}\}$

where $w_m^{n+1} \in \overline{D_m^{n+1}}$. But notice that

$$\overline{D_k^n} = \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \Gamma_{n+1}'} D_j^{n+1}}$$

$$= \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \Gamma_{n+1}'} \overline{D_j^{n+1}}}.$$

Thus $\overline{D_m^{n+1}} \subset \overline{D_k^n}$, which implies that $|u_n(z)|$ is also a lower bound of the set $\{|z|\colon z\in \overline{D_m^{n+1}}\}$. Since $|u_{n+1}(z)|$ is the greatest lower bound of the set, we get $|u_n(z)|\leq |u_{n+1}(z)|$ for every $n\in N$ and every $z\in C$.

Lemma 3.8 Let V be a δ -ring of subsets of X. If $f \in M(V,C)$ and $u \in S(K,C)$, then $(u \circ f) \in S(V,C)$.

Proof. Since $u \in S(K,C)$, we can find complex numbers z_1, \ldots, z_n and disjoint sets $A_1, \ldots, A_n \in K$ such that

$$u(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n z_j c_{A_j}(z)$$

for every $z \in C$. And so

$$(u \circ f)(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} z_{j} c_{A_{j}}(f(x))$$

= $\sum_{j=1}^{n} z_{j} c_{f^{-1}(A_{j})}(x)$

for every $x \in X$. For j = 1, ..., n let $A_j = G_j \setminus H_j$ for some open sets G_j and H_j whose closures do not contain 0. Since $f \in M(V,C)$, we have $f^{-1}(A_j) =$

 $f^{-1}(G_j \setminus H_j) = f^{-1}(G_j) \setminus f^{-1}(H_j) \in V$. The sets $f^{-1}(A_j)$ are mutually disjoint, since the sets A_j are. Thus $(u \circ f) \in S(V, C)$.

Lemma 3.9 A function $f \in C^X$ is measurable with respect to a σ -ring V of subsets of X if and only if there exists a sequence s_n in S(V,C) such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

Proof. Let $f \in M(V,C)$, and u_n be the sequence of functions from Lemma 3.7. Then by Lemma 3.8 the sequence $s_n = u_n \circ f \in S(V,C)$. And for every $x \in X$ we have $s_n(x) = u_n(f(x)) \longrightarrow e(f(x)) = f(x)$.

Conversely, suppose that s_n is a sequence of functions in S(V,C), converging pointwise to function $f \in C^X$. Then $s_n \in M(V,C)$ for every $n \in N$, and so by Proposition 3.6 we get $f \in M(V,C)$.

Theorem 3.10 If V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X, then the set M(V,C) of measurable functions with respect to V forms a Baire algebra. Moreover, the set M(V,R) of real-valued measurable functions is a lattice.

Proof. Take any two functions f and g in M(V,C). By Lemma 3.9, there exist sequences s_n and t_n in S(V,C) such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Since S(V,C) is an algebra, we must have $(s_n + t_n) \in S(V,C)$, and therefore $(s_n + t_n) \in M(V,C)$ for every $n \in N$. But the sequence $s_n + t_n$ converges pointwise to f + g, and therefore by Proposition 3.6 we get $(f + g) \in M(V,C)$. So we proved that M(V,C) is closed under addition. Using similar arguments we prove that M(V,C) is closed under multiplication, scalar multiplication and involution.

Since $c_X(x) = 1$ for every $x \in X$, we have

$$c_X^{-1}(G) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} X & ext{if } 1 \in G \ \emptyset & ext{if } 1
otin G \end{array}
ight.$$

for every open set G in C. But $X \in V$, since V is a σ -algebra. Hence $c_X^{-1}(G) \in V$ for every open set G in C, which means that $c_X \in M(V,C)$. Since M(V,C) is an algebra, it must contain all constant functions. So we have proved that M(V,C) is a Baire algebra.

Take any two functions f and g from M(V,R) and consider functions u and v from C^2 into R defined by

$$u(z_1, z_2) = \min \{|z_1|, |z_2|\}$$

$$v(z_1, z_2) = \max \{|z_1|, |z_2|\}$$

for every $(z_1, z_2) \in C^2$. Then both functions u and v are continuous. Since M(V, C) is a Baire algebra, by Corollary 2.12, we get $u \circ (f, g) \in M(V, C)$ and $v \circ (f, g) \in M(V, C)$. But $u \circ (f, g) = f \wedge g$ and $v \circ (f, g) = f \vee g$ and both are real-valued functions. This completes the proof that the set M(V, R) is a lattice.

Proposition 3.11 If V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X, then M(V,C) is the smallest Baire algebra of functions in C^X containing the set $F = \{c_A: A \in V\}$.

Proof. The Baire algebra M(V,C) contains the set $F = \{c_A : A \in V\}$, since every characteristic function in F is simple, and therefore measurable, with respect to V. Suppose that M_1 is another Baire algebra of functions in C^X containing the set F. Take any function $f \in M(V,C)$. By Lemma 3.9, there is a sequence s_n in S(V,C) converging pointwise to f. So

$$s_n = \sum_{j=1}^{k_n} z_j c_{A_j}$$

where $A_j \in V$ for $j \in \{1, 2, ..., k_n\}$. Since $c_{A_j} \in F$ (and therefore in M_1) for $j \in \{1, 2, ..., k_n\}$, and M_1 is an algebra, we must have $s_n \in M_1$ for every $n \in N$. Hence $f \in M_1$, since M_1 is a Baire algebra. So we have proved that $M(V, C) \subset M_1$, which means that M(V, C) is the smallest Baire algebra containing the set F.

3.3 The Trace of a Space of Functions

Let L be a collection of functions in C^X . Then we define

$$\mathrm{trace}(L)=\{A\subset X\colon\, c_A\in L\}.$$

If L is an algebra of functions in C^X and $V = \operatorname{trace}(L)$, then $S(V,C) \subset L$.

Theorem 3.12 If L is an algebra of functions in C^X which is closed under pointwise convergence on X, then V = trace(L) is a σ -ring of subsets of X.

Proof. Take any two sets A and B in V. Then $c_A \in L$ and $c_B \in L$. Notice that $c_{A \setminus B} = c_{A \setminus (A \cap B)} = c_A - c_{A \cap B} = c_A - c_A \cdot c_B \in L$, since L is an algebra. Thus $(A \setminus B) \in V$. Since $A \cup B = (A \setminus B) \cup (A \cap B) \cup (B \setminus A)$, we have $c_{A \cup B} = c_{A \setminus B} + c_A \cdot c_B + c_{B \setminus A} \in L$. Thus $(A \cup B) \in V$.

Now let $\{A_n\}$ be any countable collection of sets in V and $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$. Let $B_n = A_1 \cup \cdots \cup A_n$ for every $n \in N$. Then $B_n \in V$, and therefore $c_{B_n} \in L$, for every $n \in N$. Moreover, $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$, and $B_n \subset B_{n+1}$ for every $n \in N$. We claim that the sequence c_{B_n} converges pointwise to c_A . Take any $x \in X$. If $x \in A$, then there exists some $n_0 \in N$ such that $x \in B_{n_0}$. So $x \in B_n$, and therefore $c_{B_n}(x) = 1$, for all $n > n_0$. Thus $c_{B_n}(x) \longrightarrow c_A(x)$ if $x \in A$. If $x \notin A$, then $x \notin B_n$, and therefore $c_{B_n}(x) = 0$, for all $n \in N$. Thus $c_{B_n}(x) \longrightarrow c_A(x)$ if $x \notin A$. So we have proved that $c_{B_n}(x) \longrightarrow c_A(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Since L is closed under pointwise convergence everywhere on X, we must have $c_A \in L$. Hence $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in V$, which completes the proof that $V = \operatorname{trace}(L)$ is a σ -ring. \blacksquare

Corollary 3.13 If L is a Baire algebra of functions in C^X , then trace(L) is a σ -algebra of subsets of X.

Proof. By Theorem 3.12, $\operatorname{trace}(L)$ is a σ -ring. Since L contains all constant functions, we must have $c_X \in L$. Hence $X \in \operatorname{trace}(L)$.

Proposition 3.14 If L is an algebra of functions in C^X which is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution, then L is closed under composition with every continuous function $u: C^n \to C$ vanishing at zero.

Proof. Let $u: C^n \to C$ be a continuous function vanishing at zero. For $m \in N$ consider the compact set

$$D_m = \{(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in C^n : |z_j| \le m, \ j = 1, 2, \ldots, n\}.$$

Let $p_j: C^n \to C$ be the projection onto the j-th coordinate. Then the set

$$B = \{ \operatorname{Re} \circ p_j, \operatorname{Im} \circ p_j : j = 1, 2, \dots, n \}$$

is a subset of $C(C^n, R)$ and separates points of C^n . So by the Corollary of the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem the function u can be uniformly approximated on D_m by a sequence of polynomials of members of B with complex coefficients. Thus for every $m \in N$ there exists such polynomial q_m such that

$$|u(z)-q_m(z)|<1/m$$

for all $z \in D_m$. From this we see that the sequence $q_m(z)$ converges to u(z) for every $z \in C^n$.

Let f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n be any n functions from L. Then $h_m = q_m \circ (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n)$ is a sequence of functions in L (because L is an algebra closed under involution) converging pointwise to the function $u \circ (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n)$. Since L is closed under pointwise convergence, we get $u \circ (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n) \in L$.

Proposition 3.15 If L is an algebra of functions in C^X which is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution, and G is an open set in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$, then $(c_G \circ f) \in L$ for every function $f \in L$.

Proof. Take any function $f \in L$. Let $F = G^c$ and d be the distance function defined by $d(z) = \inf \{|z - w| : w \in F\}$ for every $z \in C$. Function d is continuous on C. For each $n \in N$ consider function d_n defined by $d_n(z) = \min \{nd(z), 1\}$. Then function d_n is continuous on C and vanishes at zero (since $0 \in F$) for every $n \in N$. By Proposition 3.14, we get $(d_n \circ f) \in L$ for every $n \in N$. We claim that $d_n(z) \longrightarrow c_G(z)$ for every $z \in C$. If $z \in G$, then d(z) > 0, and so there exists some $n_0 \in N$ such that $d_n(z) = 1$ for all $n > n_0$. Thus $d_n(z) \longrightarrow c_G(z)$ if $z \in G$. If $z \notin G$, then d(z) = 0, and so $d_n(z) = 0$ for all $n \in N$. Hence $d_n(z) \longrightarrow c_G(z)$ if $z \notin G$.

So we have a sequence $d_n \circ f$ of functions in L, which converges pointwise to $c_G \circ f$. Thus $(c_G \circ f) \in L$, since L is closed under pointwise convergence.

Theorem 3.16 If L is an algebra of functions in C^X which is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution, and V = trace(L), then M(V, C) = L.

Proof. Take any function $f \in M(V,C)$ and let s_n be the sequence of functions in S(V,C) converging pointwise to f. Then $s_n \in L$ for every $n \in N$ since $S(V,C) \subset L$. Since L is closed under pointwise convergence, we get $f \in L$. So

$$M(V,C) \subset L.$$
 (3.3)

Now we take any function $f \in L$. Let u_n be the sequence of functions from Lemma 3.7. As in the proof of Lemma 3.8, we have

$$u_n\circ f=\sum_{j=1}^{k_n}w_j^nc_{f^{-1}(A_j^n)}$$

where the sets A_j^n are mutually disjoint and each one is the difference of two open sets in C whose closures do not contain 0. Suppose that A is any of such sets A_j^n , then $A = G \setminus H$ for some open sets G and H in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$ and $0 \notin \overline{H}$.

Hence

$$c_A \circ f = c_{G \setminus H} \circ f$$

$$= c_{G \setminus (G \cap H)} \circ f$$

$$= (c_G - c_G \cdot c_H) \circ f$$

$$= c_G \circ f - (c_G \circ f)(c_H \circ f).$$

By Proposition 3.15, both $c_G \circ f$ and $c_H \circ f$ are in L. Thus $(c_A \circ f) \in L$, or equivalently $c_{f^{-1}(A)} \in L$, and so $f^{-1}(A) \in V$. Hence $(u_n \circ f) \in S(V, C)$, and therefore $(u_n \circ f) \in M(V, C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since the sequence $u_n \circ f$ converges pointwise to $e \circ f = f$, and M(V, C) is closed under pointwise convergence, we must have $f \in M(V, C)$. Thus

$$L \subset M(V,C). \tag{3.4}$$

From (3.3) and (3.4) we conclude that M(V,C) = L.

Chapter 4

Dirac Integral Spaces

Let A be an algebra of functions in the space C^X and L a subset of A. We say that L is a *solid* subset of A if whenever $f \in A$, and $g \in L$, and $|f(x)| \leq |g(x)|$ for every $x \in X$, we have $f \in L$.

Proposition 4.1 If L is a solid subset of a Baire algebra A, then $f \in L$ implies $|f| \in L$.

Proof. Take any function $f \in L$. Then $f \in A$. Since A is a Baire algebra, by Corollary 2.12 it is closed under composition with continuous functions. Thus $|f| \in A$. But L is a solid subset of A. So we must have $|f| \in L$.

A function $f \in C^X$ is called non-negative if $f(x) \in R$ and $f(x) \geq 0$ for every $x \in X$. A function f from a linear space f of functions in f into the field of complex numbers f is called a linear functional if for every functions f and f from the space f and any complex number f we have

1.
$$\int (f+g) = \int f + \int g$$
.

2.
$$\int \lambda f = \lambda \int f$$
.

A linear functional $f:L\to C$ is called *positive* if $f f \geq 0$ for every non-negative function $f\in L$.

A quintuple (X, C, A, L, f) will be called *Dirac Integral Space* if the following axioms are satisfied:

- 1. The set A is a Baire algebra of functions in C^X .
- 2. The set L is a solid linear subspace of A.
- 3. The map \int is a positive linear functional from L into C.
- 4. If f_n is a sequence of functions in L such that $\sum_n |f_n(x)| < \infty$ for every $x \in X$, the series $\sum_n f_n(x)$ converges to f(x) for every $x \in X$, and the series $\sum_n \int |f_n|$ is also convergent, then $f \in L$ and $\int f = \sum_n \int f_n$.

The members of the space L are called *summable* (integrable) functions, and the functional \int will be called *Dirac integral*. Before deriving important theorems within this theory let us give some examples of Dirac Integral Spaces.

Example 1. Let X be any non-empty set and $x_0 \in X$. If we take $A = L = C^X$ and define $\int f = f(x_0)$ for every $f \in L$, then (X, C, A, L, \int) is a Dirac Integral Space.

Example 2. Let X be any non-empty set and $A = C^X$. Notice that the collection $D = \{J \subset X : J \text{ is finite}\}$ is a directed set with respect to the set inclusion relation \subset . Let L be the set of all functions $f \in A$ such that

$$\lim_{J \in D, \subset} \sum_{x \in J} f(x) \quad \text{exists.}$$

Define

$$\int f = \lim_{J \in D, \subset} \sum_{x \in J} f(x)$$

for every $f \in L$. Then (X, C, A, L, \int) is a Dirac Integral Space.

Example 3. Again we take any non-empty set X and $A = C^X$. Let g be a fixed non-negative real-valued function defined on X. Denote by L the set of all

functions $f \in A$ such that

$$\lim_{J\in D,\subset} \sum_{x\in J} g(x)f(x) \quad \text{exists.}$$

If we define

$$\int f = \lim_{J \in D, \subset} \sum_{x \in J} g(x) f(x)$$

for every $f \in L$, then (X, C, A, L, \int) is a Dirac Integral Space.

Example 4. Consider the integral developed by V. M. Bogdan in his paper [5]. He starts with a positive volume v defined on a prering V of subsets of a space X, that is a set-function $v: V \to [0, \infty)$ satisfying the condition: $v(\bigcup_n E_n) = \sum_n v(E_n)$ for every countable collection $\{E_n\}$ of disjoint sets from V such that $\bigcup_n E_n \in V$. For every simple function $s \in S(V,C)$ define $\int s = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i v(E_i)$ and $||s|| = \int |s|$ if $s = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i c_{E_i}$ for some complex numbers z_1, \ldots, z_k and disjoint sets E_1, \ldots, E_k from V. Then f is a positive linear functional on S(V,C). A sequence t_n is called basic if there exists a sequence $s_n \in S(V,C)$ and a positive constant M such that $t_n = s_1 + s_2 + \cdots + s_n$ and $||s_n|| \leq M4^{-n}$ for every $n \in N$. A subset E of the space X is called a null-set if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a countable collection $\{E_n\}$ of sets from V such that $E \subset \bigcup_n E_n$ and $\sum_n v(E_n) < \varepsilon$. A condition p(x) depending on a parameter $x \in X$ is said to be satisfied almost everywhere (a.e.) on X if there exists a null-set E such that p(x) is true for all $x \in (X \setminus E)$. Let L be the set of all functions $f \in C^X$ such that there exists a basic sequence t_n converging pointwise almost everywhere to f. For every $f \in L$ define $\int f = \lim_n \int t_n$ if t_n is a basic sequence converging pointwise almost everywhere to f. Consider the set A' of all functions $f \in C^X$ such that $f^{-1}(C \setminus \{0\}) \subset \bigcup_{n \in N} E_n$ for some sequence E_n of sets from V and $c_E \frac{f}{1+|f|} \in L$ for every $E \in V$. Let A be the set of all functions $f \in C^X$ such that $c_E f \in A'$ for every $E \in V$. Again the quintuple (X, C, A, L, f) is a Dirac Integral Space. The facts that A is a Baire algebra and L is a solid linear subspace

of A follow from Theorems 1, 2 and 3 of paper [6]. Using Theorems 1, 4 and 5 of paper [5] we can prove that conditions 3 and 4 of the Dirac Integral Space are also satisfied.

Example 5. We can also derive a Dirac Integral Space from a given one. Suppose that (X,C,A,L,\int) is a Dirac Integral Space. Take any function $f_0\in A$ and let $X'=f_0(X)$. If we let $A'=\{u\in C^{X'}:\ u\circ f_0\in A\}$ and $L'=\{u\in A':\ u\circ f_0\in L\}$ and $\int u=\int (u\circ f_0)$ for every $u\in L'$, then (X',C,A',L',\int) is also a Dirac Integral Space.

Example 6. Let Γ be any index set and $(X_j, C, A_j, L_j, \int_j)$ a Dirac Integral Space for each $j \in \Gamma$. Let $\widetilde{X}_j = X_j \times \{j\}$ for each $j \in \Gamma$. Then the sets \widetilde{X}_j are mutually disjoint and each \widetilde{X}_j is in one-to-one correspondence with X_j . We shall identify these spaces. Consider the space $X = \bigcup_{j \in \Gamma} X_j$. Let $A = \{f \in C^X : c_{X_j} f \in A_j\}$ and

$$L = \left\{ f \in A \colon c_{X_j} f \in L_j \ \& \ \sum_{j \in \Gamma} \int_j \left| c_{X_j} f \right| < \infty \right\}$$

and

$$\int f = \sum_{i \in \Gamma} \int_j c_{X_j} f.$$

Then (X, C, A, L, f) is also a Dirac Integral Space.

Example 7. Suppose that (X, C, A_j, L_j, \int_j) is a Dirac Integral Space for each $j \in \Gamma$. If we take $A = \bigcap_{j \in \Gamma} A_j$ and $L = \{f \in \bigcap_{j \in \Gamma} L_j : \sum_{j \in \Gamma} \int_j |f| < \infty\}$ and $\int f = \sum_{j \in \Gamma} \int_j f$, then (X, C, A, L, f) is also a Dirac Integral Space.

4.1 Convergence Theorems

In this section we are going to verify important theorems in the integration theory, namely the Monotone Convergence Theorem and the Dominated Convergence Theorem. To accomplish this we need several Propositions and Lemmas. We begin

by proving that the Dirac integral is a monotone functional, in the sense described in the following Proposition.

Proposition 4.2 If f and g are real-valued functions in L, and $f(x) \leq g(x)$ for every $x \in X$, then $\int f \leq \int g$.

Proof. Let f and g be real-valued functions in L such that $f(x) \leq g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Then (g - f) is a non-negative function in L. Since f is a positive linear functional, we must have $f(g - f) \geq 0$. Hence $f(g - f) \leq 0$ and thus $f(g - f) \leq 0$.

Lemma 4.3 If $f \in L$ and $\varphi: C \to R$ is a linear map over the field of reals, then

- 1. The composite function $(\varphi \circ f) \in L$, and $\int (\varphi \circ f) = \varphi(\int f)$.
- 2. For every $z \in C$, sup $\{\varphi(z) : |\varphi| \le 1\} = |z|$.

Proof. Let $f \in L$. Then $f \in A$ and thus $g = \text{Re} \circ f \in A$. Since L is solid in A and $|g(x)| \leq |f(x)|$ for every $x \in X$, we have $g \in L$. Similarly, we get $h = \text{Im} \circ f \in L$. Now, let $\varphi \colon C \to R$ be a linear map. Then

$$(arphi \circ f)(x) = arphi(f(x))$$

$$= arphi(g(x) + ih(x))$$

$$= g(x)arphi(1) + h(x)arphi(i)$$

for every $x \in X$. So $\varphi \circ f = \varphi(1) \cdot g + \varphi(i) \cdot h$, and thus by the linearity of L, we get $(\varphi \circ f) \in L$. By the linearity of f we also have

$$\int (\varphi \circ f) = \varphi(1) \int g + \varphi(i) \int h$$

$$= \varphi(\int g) + \varphi(i \int h)$$

$$= \varphi(\int (g + ih))$$

$$= \varphi(\int f).$$

For every $z \in C$ we have $|\varphi(z)| \leq |\varphi||z|$. Thus $|\varphi(z)| \leq |z|$ for all φ such that $|\varphi| \leq 1$. Hence

$$\sup \left\{ \varphi(z) \colon |\varphi| \le 1 \right\} \le |z| \tag{4.1}$$

for every $z \in C$.

If z=(x,y) is any complex number such that $|z|\leq 1$ and $v=(\varphi(1),\varphi(i)),$ then

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(z)| &= |\varphi(x+iy)| \\ &= |\varphi(x) + \varphi(iy)| \\ &= |(\varphi(1))x + (\varphi(i))y| \\ &= |v \bullet z| \\ &= |v||z||\cos\alpha| \\ &\leq |v|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus $|\varphi|=\sup \{|\varphi(z)|\colon |z|\le 1\}\le |v|=|(\varphi(1),\varphi(i))|$ for every linear map $\varphi\colon C\to R.$

Now let z=(x,y) be any complex number in C, and $\varphi\colon C\to R$ be a map defined by $\varphi(w)=\frac{1}{|z|}(x\mathrm{Re}(w)+y\mathrm{Im}(w))$ for every $w\in C$. Map φ is linear, since maps Re and Im are. Since $|\varphi|\leq |(\varphi(1),\varphi(i))|=|(\frac{x}{|z|},\frac{y}{|z|})|=\frac{1}{|z|}|z|=1$ and $\varphi(z)=\frac{1}{|z|}(x^2+y^2)=\frac{1}{|z|}|z|^2=|z|$, we must have

$$|z| \le \sup \{\varphi(z) \colon |\varphi| \le 1\}. \tag{4.2}$$

Hence, from (4.1) and (4.2), we conclude that sup $\{\varphi(z): |\varphi| \leq 1\} = |z|$.

Proposition 4.4 For every $f \in L$, the inequality $|\int f| \leq \int |f|$ holds.

Proof. Let $f \in L$ and $\varphi: C \to R$ be a linear map such that $|\varphi| \leq 1$. Then for every $x \in X$ we have $|\varphi \circ f|(x) = |\varphi(f(x))| \leq |\varphi||f(x)| \leq |f(x)| = |f|(x)$, i.e.

 $|\varphi \circ f| \leq |f|$. Thus, by applying the first part of Lemma 4.3, we get $\varphi(\int f) = \int (\varphi \circ f) \leq \int |\varphi \circ f| \leq \int |f|$, which means that $\int |f|$ is an upper-bound of the set $\{\varphi(\int f): |\varphi| \leq 1\}$. But, by using the second part of Lemma 4.3, we have $\{\varphi(\int f): |\varphi| \leq 1\} = |\int f|$. Hence $|\int f| \leq \int |f|$.

A real-valued function $\|\cdot\|$ defined on a linear space L is called a *semi-norm* on L if it satisfies the following conditions:

- 1. $||f|| \ge 0$ for every $f \in L$.
- 2. $||f + g|| \le ||f|| + ||g||$ for every f and g in L.
- 3. $\|\lambda f\| = |\lambda| \|f\|$ for every $\lambda \in C$ and $f \in L$.

Let us define $||f|| = \int |f|$ for every f in the space L of summable functions and prove the following Proposition.

Proposition 4.5 The function $\|\cdot\|$ is a semi-norm on L.

Proof.

- 1. Since f is a positive linear functional, we immediately get $||f|| = f|f| \ge 0$ for every $f \in L$.
- 2. For every f and g in L and every $x \in X$ we have $|f+g|(x)=|f(x)+g(x)| \le |f(x)|+|g(x)|=(|f|+|g|)(x)$. Thus by Proposition 4.2 we get $\int |f+g| \le \int (|f|+|g|)=\int |f|+\int |g|$, which shows that $||f+g|| \le ||f||+||g||$.
- 3. For every $\lambda \in C$, $f \in L$ and $x \in X$, we have $|\lambda f|(x) = |(\lambda f)(x)| = |\lambda f(x)| = |\lambda||f(x)| = |\lambda||f|(x)$. Hence, by the linearity of f, we get $f |\lambda f| = f |\lambda||f| = |\lambda||f|$, which means that $||\lambda f|| = |\lambda|||f||$.

Proposition 4.6 If $f \in L$ and f_n is a sequence of functions in L such that $||f_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0$, then $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since $||f_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0$, there exists a positive integer n_0 such that $||f_n - f|| < \varepsilon$ for all $n > n_0$. But $|\int f_n - \int f| = |\int (f_n - f)| \le \int |f_n - f| = ||f_n - f|| < \varepsilon$ for all $n > n_0$, which means that $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.

A sequence f_n of real-valued functions defined on X is said to be increasing if $f_n(x) \leq f_{n+1}(x)$ for every $n \in N$ and $x \in X$. The sequence f_n is called decreasing if $f_n(x) \geq f_{n+1}(x)$ for every $n \in N$ and $x \in X$. It is called a monotone sequence if it is either increasing or decreasing.

Theorem 4.7 (Monotone Convergence Theorem) If f_n is a monotone sequence of real-valued functions in L such that $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$, then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence $\int f_n$ is bounded.
- 2. The function $f \in L$ and $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.
- 3. The function $f \in L$ and $||f_n f|| \longrightarrow 0$.
- 4. The sequence $||f_n||$ is bounded.

Proof. Let us assume that the sequence f_n is increasing. For decreasing sequences the proof is analogous.

(1) \Rightarrow (2): Assume that the sequence $\int f_n$ of numbers is bounded. Let $g_n = f_{n+1} - f_n$ for every n. Then $g_n \in L$ and $g_n(x) \geq 0$ for every n and every $x \in X$. So

$$\sum_{n} |g_n(x)| = \sum_{n} g_n(x)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_j(x)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (f_{n+1}(x) - f_1(x))$$

$$= f(x) - f_1(x)$$

$$= (f - f_1)(x) < \infty$$

for every $x \in X$. By the linearity of \int we also have

$$\sum_{j=1}^n \int g_j = \int f_{n+1} - \int f_1$$

which is bounded since the sequence $\int f_n$ is bounded. Thus the sequence $\sum_{j=1}^n \int g_j$ is convergent, and so

$$\sum_{n}\int |g_{n}|=\sum_{n}\int g_{n}<\infty.$$

Now, using axiom (4) of Dirac Integral Space, we get $(f-f_1)\in L$ and

$$\int (f-f_1) = \sum_n \int g_n.$$

Hence $f = (f - f_1) + f_1 \in L$ and

$$\int f - \int f_1 = \lim_{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \int g_j$$

$$= \lim_{n} \left(\int f_n - \int f_1 \right)$$

$$= \left(\lim_{n} \int f_n \right) - \int f_1$$

which implies that $\lim_{n} \int f_n = \int f$.

- (2) \Rightarrow (3): Let $f \in L$ and $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$. Then $(\int f \int f_n) \longrightarrow 0$. But $||f_n f|| = \int |f_n f| = \int (f f_n) = \int f \int f_n$. Hence $||f_n f|| \longrightarrow 0$.
- (3) \Rightarrow (4): Suppose that $f \in L$ and $||f_n f|| \longrightarrow 0$. This means that the sequence $||f_n f||$ is bounded. But $||f_n|| \le ||f_n f|| + ||f||$. Hence the sequence $||f_n||$ is also bounded.
- (4) \Rightarrow (1): Let $||f_n||$ be a bounded sequence. Then the sequence $\int f_n$ is also bounded, since $|\int f_n| \leq \int |f_n| = ||f_n||$.

Theorem 4.8 (Dominated Convergence Theorem) If $g \in L$ and f_n is a sequence of functions in L such that $|f_n| \leq |g|$ for every $n \in N$ and f_n converges pointwise to some function f, then $f \in L$ and $||f_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0$ and $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.

Proof. We first consider the case where f_n and g are real-valued functions in L. Then f must also be real-valued. For every pair of positive integers n and m let

$$h_{nm}(x) = \sup \{f_j(x): n \le j < n + m\}$$

for every $x \in X$. The function h_{nm} is well-defined since $-|g(x)| \leq f_j(x) \leq |g(x)|$ for every $j \in N$ and $x \in X$. We observe that $h_{nm} \in L$ for every $n, m \in N$. Notice that as $m \to \infty$ the sequence h_{nm} converges increasingly to the function h_n defined by the formula

$$h_n(x) = \sup \{f_j(x) \colon n \leq j\}$$

for every $x \in X$. Since $h_{nm}(x) \leq |g(x)|$ for every $n, m \in N$ and every $x \in X$, we have $\int h_{nm} \leq \int |g| < \infty$ for every $n, m \in N$. So the sequence $\int h_{nm}$ is bounded. Thus by the Monotone Convergence Theorem we get $h_n \in L$ for every $n \in N$. But the sequence h_n converges decreasingly to the function f and the sequence $\int h_n$ is bounded. Applying the Monotone Convergence Theorem again we get $f \in L$ and $\lim_n \int h_n = \int f$.

Similarly, if for every $n, m \in N$ we define

$$k_{nm}(x) = \inf \left\{ f_j(x) \colon n \leq j < n+m \right\}$$

and

$$k_n(x) = \inf \{f_j(x) \colon n \leq j\}$$

for every $x \in X$, then k_n is an increasing sequence of functions in L converging pointwise to f, and the sequence $\int k_n$ is bounded. Thus $\lim_n \int k_n = \int f$. We also notice that

$$k_n(x) \leq f_n(x) \leq h_n(x)$$

and

$$k_n(x) \leq f(x) \leq h_n(x)$$

which imply that

$$|f_n(x) - f(x)| \le h_n(x) - k_n(x)$$

for every $n \in N$ and every $x \in X$. So

$$||f_n - f|| = \int |f_n - f| \le \int h_n - \int k_n.$$

Hence $\lim_n \|f_n - f\| \le \lim_n \int h_n - \lim_n \int k_n = \int f - \int f = 0$, which shows that $\lim_n \|f_n - f\| = 0$.

In the case where f_n , g and f are complex-valued functions, we see that $|g| \in L$ and $|\text{Re} \circ f_n| \leq |f_n| \leq |g|$ and $|\text{Im} \circ f_n| \leq |f_n| \leq |g|$ for every $n \in N$. Since L is solid in A, we get $\text{Re} \circ f_n \in L$ and $\text{Im} \circ f_n \in L$ for every $n \in N$. From the continuity of the functions Re and Im we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n \longrightarrow \operatorname{Re} \circ f$$
 and $\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n \longrightarrow \operatorname{Im} \circ f$.

By the above discussion on real-valued functions we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re} \circ f \in L$$
 and $\|\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Re} \circ f\| \longrightarrow 0$

and

$$\operatorname{Im} \circ f \in L \quad \text{and} \quad \|\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Im} \circ f\| \longrightarrow 0.$$

Thus $f = (\text{Re} \circ f) + i(\text{Im} \circ f) \in L$. Moreover

$$|f_n - f| = |(\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Re} \circ f) + i(\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Im} \circ f)|$$

$$\leq |\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Re} \circ f| + |\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Im} \circ f|$$

which implies that

$$||f_n - f|| = \int |f_n - f|$$

$$\leq \int |\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Re} \circ f| + \int |\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Im} \circ f|$$

$$= ||\operatorname{Re} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Re} \circ f|| + ||\operatorname{Im} \circ f_n - \operatorname{Im} \circ f||.$$

Hence $||f_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0$. And by Proposition 4.6 we get $\lim_n \int f_n = \int f$.

4.2 Convergence Almost Everywhere

Let $L_0 = \{f \in L : ||f|| = 0\}$ and $V_0 = \operatorname{trace}(L_0)$. The members of L_0 are called null-functions and the members of V_0 null-sets. A proposition p(x), depending on $x \in X$, is said to hold almost everywhere (a.e.) on X if there exists a null-set E such that p(x) is true for all $x \in (X \setminus E)$.

A subset B of an algebra A is called an algebra-ideal if B is a linear subspace of A, and B is closed under multiplication with functions in A, namely if $f \in A$ and $g \in B$ then $fg \in B$. We are going to prove that the set L_0 of null-functions is an algebra-ideal and a solid subset in the Baire algebra A, and is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution. Let us now establish the first step by proving the following Lemma.

Lemma 4.9 The set L_0 is an algebra-ideal and is solid in the Baire algebra A.

Proof. Take any two functions f and g in L_0 . Then $\int |f| = \int |g| = 0$. For every $x \in X$ we have $|f(x) + g(x)| \le |f(x)| + |g(x)|$. Thus $\int |f + g| \le \int |f| + \int |g| = 0$, from which we conclude that $\int |f + g| = 0$. So $(f + g) \in L_0$. From the fact that $|\lambda f(x)| = |\lambda| |f(x)|$ for every $x \in X$ and $\lambda \in C$, we obtain $\int |\lambda f| = |\lambda| \int |f| = 0$. Thus $\lambda f \in L_0$. Hence L_0 is a linear subspace of A.

Let $f \in A$ and $g \in L_0$. For every positive integer n consider function $h_n: C \to C$ defined by

$$h_n(z) = \left\{egin{array}{ll} z & ext{if} & |z| \leq n \ (nz)/|z| & ext{if} & |z| > n \end{array}
ight.$$

for every $z \in C$. Then function h_n is continuous, and $|h_n(z)| \leq n$ for every $n \in N$ and $z \in C$. Since the Baire algebra A is closed under composition with continuous functions, we must have $(h_n \circ f) \in A$, and hence the function $(h_n \circ f)g \in A$ for every $n \in N$. For every $x \in X$ we have $|(h_n \circ f)g|(x) = |h_n(f(x))g(x)| = |h_n(f(x))||g(x)| \leq n|g(x)| = |ng|(x)$. But $ng \in L_0$ (and therefore $ng \in L$), and

L is a solid subspace of A. So we get $(h_n \circ f)g \in L$, and hence the function $k_n = |(h_n \circ f)g| \in L$, for every $n \in N$. From the above inequality we also obtain $\int k_n \leq n \int |g| = 0$, which implies that $\int k_n = 0$ for every $n \in N$. Thus the sequence $\int k_n$ is bounded.

We observe that, for every $z \in C$, the sequence $|h_n(z)|$ converges increasingly to |z| as n tends to infinity. This implies that $|h_n(f(x))| \nearrow |f(x)|$ for every $x \in X$. And so $k_n = |h_n \circ f||g| \nearrow |f||g| = |fg|$.

Now, applying the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we get $|fg| \in L$ and $\int k_n \nearrow \int |fg|$. But L is solid in A. So we must have $fg \in L$. Recall that the sequence $\int k_n = 0$ for every $n \in N$, from which we must conclude that $\int |fg| = 0$. Hence $fg \in L_0$.

To show that L_0 is solid in A, take any function $f \in A$ and $g \in L_0$ such that $|f(x)| \leq |g(x)|$ for every $x \in X$. Then $g \in L$ and $\int |g| = 0$. Since L is solid in A, we get $f \in L$. Hence $|f| \in L$; and $\int |f| \leq \int |g| = 0$, which implies that $\int |f| = 0$. So $f \in L_0$.

Lemma 4.10 If f_n is a sequence of non-negative real-valued functions in L_0 , and $f(x) = \sup \{f_n(x): n \in N\} < \infty$ for every $x \in X$, then $f \in L_0$.

Proof. For each $n \in N$ and $x \in X$, let $g_n(x) = \sup \{f_1(x), \ldots, f_n(x)\}$ and $h_n(x) = f_1(x) + \cdots + f_n(x)$. Then $g_n \in A$ for every $n \in N$. We show this by induction. The function $g_2 \in A$, since $g_2 = \frac{1}{2}(f_1 + f_2 + |f_1 - f_2|)$. If $g_k \in A$, then $g_{k+1} \in A$, since $g_{k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(g_k + f_{k+1} + |g_k - f_{k+1}|)$.

For every $n \in N$, the function $h_n \in L_0$, since L_0 is a linear subspace of A. Notice that $0 \le g_n(x) \le h_n(x)$ for every $n \in N$ and $x \in X$. Since L_0 is solid in A, we get $g_n \in L_0$, and thus $\int g_n = 0$, for every $n \in N$. We also see that the sequence g_n converges increasingly to f. So, by the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we obtain $f \in L$ and $\int g_n \longrightarrow \int f$. Hence $\int f = 0$, which shows that $f \in L_0$. Proposition 4.11 The set L_0 is an algebra-ideal and a solid subset in the Baire algebra A, and is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution.

Proof. We have proved that L_0 is an algebra-ideal and is solid in A. Now take any sequence f_n of functions in L_0 which converges pointwise to some function $f \in A$. Let $g_n = |f_n|$ for every $n \in N$, and g = |f|. Then $g_n \in L_0$ and $g_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Hence $g(x) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} g_n(x)$ for every $x \in X$, i.e. $g(x) = \inf\{h_m(x): m \in N\}$ where $h_m(x) = \sup\{g_n(x): n \geq m\}$ for every $x \in X$. By Lemma 4.10, we get $h_m \in L_0$ for every $m \in N$. We also see that the sequence $h_m(x)$ converges decreasingly to g(x) for every $x \in X$, and that $\int h_m = 0$ for every $m \in N$. Thus, by the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we obtain $g \in L$ and $\int h_m \longrightarrow \int g$. From this it follows that $\int g = 0$, and hence $\int |g| = 0$. Thus $g \in L_0$. But L_0 is solid in A and g = |f|. So $f \in L_0$, and thus L_0 is closed under pointwise convergence.

To show that L_0 is closed under involution, we take any function $f \in L_0$. Then $f \in L$ and $\int |f| = 0$. Since L is solid in A and $|\bar{f}| = |f|$, we have $\bar{f} \in L$. Moreover $\int |\bar{f}| = \int |f| = 0$. Hence $\bar{f} \in L_0$.

The *support* of a function $f: X \to C$ is the set supp(f) of all $x \in X$ at which $f(x) \neq 0$. In other words

$$supp(f) = \{x \in X \colon f(x) \neq 0\} = f^{-1}(C \setminus \{0\}).$$

In the following Proposition we shall see further characterization of the null-functions.

Proposition 4.12 If $f \in A$, then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. f is a null-function
- 2. supp(f) is a null-set

3.
$$f(x) = 0$$
 a.e. on X

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2): Let f be a null-function, i.e. $f \in L_0$. Since L_0 is an algebra of functions in C^X which is closed under pointwise convergence and under involution, by Theorem 3.16 we get $L_0 = M(V_0, C)$, where $V_0 = \operatorname{trace}(L_0)$. For each positive rational number $r \in Q$ let $B_r = \{z \in C : |z| \le r\}$. Then the set $G_r = C \setminus B_r$ is open in C, and $0 \notin \overline{G_r}$. So $f^{-1}(G_r) \in V_0$ for every positive rational number r, and consequently $\bigcup_{r \in Q} f^{-1}(G_r) \in V_0$ since, according to Theorem 3.12, V_0 is a σ -ring. But

$$\bigcup_{r \in Q} f^{-1}(G_r) = \bigcup_{r \in Q} f^{-1}(C \setminus B_r)$$

$$= \bigcup_{r \in Q} (f^{-1}(C) \setminus f^{-1}(B_r))$$

$$= f^{-1}(C) \setminus \bigcap_{r \in Q} f^{-1}(B_r)$$

$$= f^{-1}(C) \setminus f^{-1}(\bigcap_{r \in Q} B_r)$$

$$= f^{-1}(C \setminus \bigcap_{r \in Q} B_r)$$

$$= f^{-1}(C \setminus \{0\})$$

$$= \sup_{r \in Q} f$$

which shows that $supp(f) \in V_0$.

- $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$: Assume that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \in V_0$. It is clear that f(x) = 0 for all $x \in X \setminus \operatorname{supp}(f)$, which means that f(x) = 0 almost everywhere on X.
- $(3)\Rightarrow (1):$ Now we assume that f(x)=0 a.e. on X. Then there exists a null-set $E\in V_0$ such that f(x)=0 for all $x\in X\setminus E$. So $c_{X\setminus E}f=0$. Since $c_{X\setminus E}f=f-c_Ef$, we get $f=c_Ef$. But $c_E\in L_0$ (since $E\in V_0$), and L_0 is an algebra-ideal in A. This implies that $c_Ef\in L_0$, and therefore $f\in L_0$.

Proposition 4.13 If $f \in L$, $g \in A$, and f(x) = g(x) almost everywhere on X, then $g \in L$, $\int g = \int f$, and ||g|| = ||f||.

Proof. Take any functions $f \in L$ and $g \in A$ such that f(x) = g(x) almost everywhere on X. This means that there exists a null-set $E \in V_0$ such that f(x) = g(x) for all $x \in X \setminus E$. Hence $c_{X \setminus E} f = c_{X \setminus E} g$, or equivalently $f - c_E f = g - c_E g$. Thus

$$g = f - c_E f + c_E g. (4.3)$$

But $c_E \in L_0$, and L_0 is an algebra-ideal in A. So both $c_E f$ and $c_E g$ are contained in L_0 , and therefore in L. Hence from equation 4.3 we conclude that $g \in L$.

Since $c_E f \in L_0$, we have $\int |c_E f| = 0$. From this it follows that $\int c_E f = 0$, since $0 \le |\int c_E f| \le \int |c_E f|$. Similarly, we get $\int c_E g = 0$. Hence $\int g = \int f - \int c_E f + \int c_E g = \int f$.

Notice that, by Proposition 4.1, we have $|f-g|\in L$. Thus $c_E|f-g|\in L_0$, which means that $\int c_E|f-g|=0$. From this we get

$$| ||f|| - ||g|| | \le ||f - g||$$

$$= \int |f - g|$$

$$= \int c_E |f - g| = 0.$$

Hence ||f|| = ||g||.

Proposition 4.14 If f and g are real-valued functions in L such that $f(x) \leq g(x)$ almost everywhere on X, then $\int f \leq \int g$.

Proof. Let f and g be functions in L such that $f(x) \leq g(x)$ a.e. on X. Then we can find a null-set $E \in V_0$ such that $f(x) \leq g(x)$ for all $x \in X \setminus E$. Thus $c_{X \setminus E} f \leq c_{X \setminus E} g$. And so, by Proposition 4.2, we get $\int c_{X \setminus E} f \leq \int c_{X \setminus E} g$, or equivalently $\int f - \int c_E f \leq \int g - \int c_E g$. But as in the proof of Proposition 4.13 we have $\int c_E f = \int c_E g = 0$. Hence $\int f \leq \int g$.

Theorem 4.15 (Strong Monotone Convergence Theorem) If $f \in A$ and f_n is a monotone sequence of real-valued functions in L with respect to the relation $\leq a.e.$ on X and $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ a.e. on X, then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence $\int f_n$ is bounded.
- 2. The function $f \in L$ and $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.
- 3. The function $f \in L$ and $||f_n f|| \longrightarrow 0$.
- 4. The sequence $||f_n||$ is bounded.

Proof. Suppose that f_n is a sequence of real-valued functions in L with the properties: (1) for every $n \in N$ there exists a null-set $E_n \in V_0$ such that $f_n(x) \leq f_{n+1}(x)$ for every $x \in X \setminus E_n$; (2) there exist a function $f \in A$ and a null-set $E_0 \in V_0$ such that $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X \setminus E_0$. Let

$$E=\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty}E_{n}.$$

Then $E \in V_0$, since V_0 is a σ -ring. Let $g_n = c_{X \setminus E} f_n$ and $g = c_{X \setminus E} f$. Notice that g_n is a sequence of real-valued functions in L such that $g_n(x) \leq g_{n+1}(x)$ for every $n \in N$ and every $x \in X$, and $g_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Since $g_n = f_n$ a.e. and g = f a.e., by Proposition 4.13, we get $f \in L \Leftrightarrow g \in L$ and $\int g_n = \int f_n$ and $\|g_n\| = \|f_n\|$ and $\int g = \int f$. We also observe that $g_n - g = c_{X \setminus E} f_n - c_{X \setminus E} f = c_{X \setminus E} (f_n - f)$, which means that $g_n - g = f_n - f$ a.e. on X, and therefore $\|g_n - g\| = \|f_n - f\|$. Hence we can apply Theorem 4.7 to get Theorem 4.15.

Similar arguments can be applied to prove the theorem for the case where the sequence f_n is decreasing.

Theorem 4.16 (Strong Dominated Convergence Theorem) Let $f \in A$ and $g \in L$. If f_n is a sequence of functions in L such that $|f_n| \leq |g|$ a.e. on X for

every $n \in N$ and $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ a.e. on X, then $f \in L$ and $||f_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0$ and thus $\int f_n \longrightarrow \int f$.

Proof. Use similar arguments as in the proof of Theorem 4.15 and apply Proposition 4.13 and Theorem 4.8. ■

4.3 Measure Generated by the Dirac Integral Space

Let V be a σ -algebra of subsets of the space X. A set-function $\mu:V\to [0,\infty]$ is called a *measure* if

- 1. $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$.
- 2. $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n)$ for every countable collection $\{E_n\}$ of disjoint sets in V. In this case we say that μ is countably additive.

These two conditions imply the finite additivity of the set-function μ on V. Every measure μ defined on V is monotone, in the sense that if E and D are sets in V such that $E \subset D$ then $\mu(E) \leq \mu(D)$. This inequality follows from the fact that $\mu(D) = \mu(E \cup (D \setminus E)) = \mu(E) + \mu(D \setminus E) \geq \mu(E)$.

A triple (X, V, μ) will be called Lebesgue Measure Space if

- 1. The collection V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X.
- 2. The set-function μ is a measure defined on V.

The members of V are called measurable sets. In the following theorem we shall see that every Dirac Integral Space can generate a Lebesgue Measure Space.

Theorem 4.17 Let (X, C, A, L, \int) be a Dirac Integral Space. If V = trace(A), and μ is the set-function defined on V by the formula

$$\mu(E) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} \int c_E & ext{if } c_E \in L \ \infty & ext{if } c_E
otin L \end{array}
ight.$$

for every $E \in V$, then the triple (X, V, μ) forms a Lebesgue Measure Space. This Lebesgue Measure Space is said to be generated by the Dirac Integral Space.

Proof. From Corollary 3.13 we know that V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X. We need to prove that the set-function μ is a measure. From the definition of this function it is clear that $\mu(E) \geq 0$ for every $E \in V$, and that $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$.

Let $\{E_n\}$ be any countable collection of mutually disjoint sets in V, and let $E = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n$. First, consider the case when $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n) < \infty$. In this case we have $\mu(E_n) < \infty$, and therefore $c_{E_n} \in L$, for every $n \in N$. Since the sets E_n are mutually disjoint, we get

$$c_E(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{E_n}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Notice also that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int c_{E_n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n) < \infty.$$

Now, applying Axiom 4 of the Dirac Integral Space, we get $c_E \in L$ and

$$\int c_E = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int c_{E_n}.$$

Thus

$$\mu(E) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n).$$

In the case when $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n) = \infty$ we claim that $\mu(E) = \infty$, and therefore $\mu(E) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n)$. Suppose that $\mu(E) < \infty$. Then $c_E \in L$. Let $E_k = E_1 \cup \cdots \cup E_k$ for each $k \in N$. Then $c_{E_k} \leq c_E$ for every $k \in N$. Since L is a solid subspace of A, we must have $c_{E_k} \in L$ for each $k \in N$. By Proposition 4.2 we also obtain $\int c_{E_k} \leq \int c_E$, or equivalently $\sum_{n=1}^k \mu(E_n) \leq \mu(E)$, for every $k \in N$. So we conclude that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(E_n) \leq \mu(E) < \infty$$

which contradicts our assumption.

4.4 Completeness of the Space of Summable Functions

Let (X, V, μ) be the Lebesgue Measure Space generated by the Dirac Integral Space (X, C, A, L, f). A set $E \in V$ is called a set of *finite measure* if $\mu(E) < \infty$. Set $E \in V$ is of finite measure $\Leftrightarrow c_E \in L \Leftrightarrow E \in \text{trace}(L)$.

If $\mu(E)=0$, then the set E is called a set of measure zero. Set $E\in V$ is of measure zero $\Leftrightarrow \int c_E=0 \Leftrightarrow c_E\in L_0 \Leftrightarrow E\in V_0=\mathrm{trace}(L_0)$. In oher words, a set $E\in V$ is of measure zero if and only if it is a null-set.

Lemma 4.18 Let f_n be an increasing sequence of non-negative real-valued functions in L such that $\int f_n$ is bounded. If E is the set of all $x \in X$ at which the sequence $f_n(x)$ is not convergent, then E is a null-set.

Proof. Let us first examine the set E. Since the sequence $\{f_n(x)\}$ of values is increasing, we have

$$E = \{x \in X | \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x) = \infty\}$$

$$= \{x \in X | (\forall_{k \in N}) (\exists_{n \in N}) f_n(x) > k\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{k \in N} \bigcup_{n \in N} \{x \in X | f_n(x) > k\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{k \in N} \bigcup_{n \in N} E_{n,k}$$

where $E_{n,k}=f_n^{-1}(G_k)$ and $G_k=\{z\in C|\ \mathrm{Re}(z)>k\}$. By Theorem 3.16, we know that A=M(V,C), which implies that $f_n\in M(V,C)$ for every $n\in N$. Thus $E_{n,k}\in V$ for every positive integers n and k. But V is a σ -algebra. So we get $E\in V$.

For each $k \in N$, let $D_k = \bigcup_{n \in N} E_{n,k}$. Then $c_{E_{n,k}} \nearrow c_{D_k}$ as n goes to infinity. Let M be a positive real number such that $\int f_n \leq M$ for all $n \in N$. Then

$$\int c_{E_{n,k}} = \frac{1}{k} \int k c_{E_{n,k}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{k} \int f_n c_{E_{n,k}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{k} \int f_n$$

$$\leq \frac{M}{k}$$

which means that the sequence $\{\int c_{E_{n,k}}\}_{n\in N}$ is bounded for every $k\in N$. Applying the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we get $c_{D_k}\in L$ and $\int c_{E_{n,k}}\longrightarrow \int c_{D_k}$ for each $k\in N$. This convergence implies that $\int c_{D_k}\leq M/k$ for every $k\in N$. Notice that $E=\bigcap_{k\in N}D_k$. Thus, by the monotonicity of μ , we get $\mu(E)\leq \mu(D_k)=\int c_{D_k}\leq \frac{M}{k}$ for every $k\in N$. This implies that $\mu(E)=0$, i.e. E is a null-set. \blacksquare

Recall that the space L of summable functions is a semi-normed linear space, with the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ as defined on page 51. A sequence x_n in a semi-normed space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is called a Cauchy sequence if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a positive integer n_0 such that $\|x_m - x_n\| < \varepsilon$ for all $m, n > n_0$. A semi-normed linear space is said to be complete if every Cauchy sequence in it converges to some point belonging to the space. Now we are going to prove that the space L is complete. To do that we use the following Theorem, which is due to S. Banach [2].

Theorem 4.19 A semi-normed space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is complete if and only if for every sequence x_n in X satisfying the condition $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n\| < \infty$, there exists an element $x \in X$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|x - (x_1 + \dots + x_n)\| = 0$.

Theorem 4.20 If (X, C, A, L, f) is a Dirac Integral Space, then $(L, \|\cdot\|)$ is a complete semi-normed space.

Proof. By Proposition 4.5, we already have that $(L, \|\cdot\|)$ is a semi-normed space. Let f_n be a sequence of functions in L such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|f_n\| < \infty$. Let $g_n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|f_n\| < \infty$.

 $|f_1| + |f_2| + \cdots + |f_n|$. Then g_n is an increasing sequence of non-negative real-valued functions in L. Moreover

$$\int g_n = \sum_{j=1}^n \int |f_j|$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n ||f_j||$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^\infty ||f_j|| < \infty.$$

Thus, by Lemma 4.18, the set E of all $x \in X$, at which the sequence $g_n(x)$ is not convergent, is a null-set. Now let $f: X \to C$ be a function defined by

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \in E \\ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x) & \text{if } x \notin E \end{cases}$$

for every $x \in X$. This function f is well defined, since if $x \notin E$ then the sequence $g_n(x)$ is convergent, i.e. the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x)$ is absolutely convergent, which implies that this series is convergent. Consider function $h_n = c_{X\setminus E} f_n$, i.e. $h_n = f_n$ almost everywhere for every $n \in N$. By Proposition 4.13 we get $h_n \in L$ and $||h_n|| = ||f_n||$ for every $n \in N$. We also notice that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n(x) = f(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Morover, the series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int |h_n| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||h_n|| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||f_n|| < \infty.$$

Applying the Axiom 4 of the Dirac Integral Space, we obtain $f \in L$ and $\int f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int h_n$.

From the above discussion we see that

$$||f - (h_1 + \dots + h_n)|| = ||\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_j - (h_1 + \dots + h_n)||$$

= $||\sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} h_j||$

$$= \int \left| \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} h_j \right|$$

$$\leq \int \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} |h_j|. \tag{4.4}$$

Notice that

$$\sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} |h_j| = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} |h_j|$$

for each fixed positive integer n. But $s_m = \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} |h_j|$ is an increasing sequence of functions in L and

$$\int s_m = \int \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} |h_j|$$

$$= \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} \int |h_j|$$

$$= \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} ||h_j||$$

$$= \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} ||f_j||$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} ||f_j|| < \infty.$$

Hence, by the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we get

$$\sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} |h_j| \in L$$

and

$$\int \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} |h_j| = \lim_{m \to \infty} \int \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} |h_j|.$$

Since

$$\int \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} |h_j| = \sum_{j=n+1}^{n+m} ||f_j||$$

for every $m \in N$, we must have

$$\int \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} |h_j| = \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} ||f_j|| \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} ||f_j|| < \infty.$$

Thus

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int\sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty}|h_j|=0.$$

Hence, from inequality (4.4), it follows that

$$||f-(h_1+\cdots+h_n)||\longrightarrow 0$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Now let $u_n = f - (h_1 + \dots + h_n)$ and $v_n = f - (f_1 + \dots + f_n)$. Then $u_n - v_n = (f_1 - h_1) + \dots + (f_n - h_n) = 0$ almost everywhere since $f_n = h_n$ a.e. for every $n \in N$. Thus $u_n = v_n$ a.e., and therefore $||u_n|| = ||v_n||$, for every $n \in N$. This shows that $||f - (f_1 + \dots + f_n)|| \longrightarrow 0$ as n goes to infinity. By Theorem 4.19, we conclude that the space $(L, ||\cdot||)$ is complete.

Let L/L_0 be the quotient space generated by the space L_0 of null-functions, that is

$$L/L_0 = \{[f]: [f] = f + L_0, f \in L\}.$$

Then L/L_0 is a linear space with respect to addition and scalar multiplication defined as follows:

$$[f] + [g] = [f + g]$$
$$\lambda[f] = [\lambda f].$$

It is obvious that $f \in [f]$; and if $f \in L_0$, then $[f] = L_0$. It is also easy to see that $[f] + L_0 = [f]$ for every $[f] \in L/L_0$, which means that L_0 is the zero element in the linear space L/L_0 . If g_1 and g_2 are any two functions in [f], then $g_1 = f + h_1$ and $g_2 = f + h_2$ for some functions h_1 and h_2 in L_0 . Thus the function $g_1 - g_2 = h_1 - h_2 \in L_0$. So, by Proposition 4.12, we get $(g_1 - g_2)(x) = 0$ almost everywhere, i.e. $g_1(x) = g_2(x)$ almost everywhere. Hence Proposition 4.13 implies that $\int g_1 = \int g_2$ and $||g_1|| = ||g_2||$.

Now on L/L_0 we define a complex-valued function $\mathcal I$ by

$$\mathcal{I}[f] = \int f$$

for every $[f] \in L/L_0$, and a norm $\sharp \cdot \sharp$ by

$$\sharp [f]\sharp = \|f\|$$

for every $[f] \in L/L_0$. By the above remark, these are good definitions, since they are independent of the representations which we choose from the residue class [f].

Proposition 4.21 The function \mathcal{I} is a linear functional on L/L_0 , and the inequality $|\mathcal{I}[f]| \leq ||f|| + ||f$

Proof. For every [f] and [g] in L/L_0 and every complex numbers λ and μ we have

$$\mathcal{I}(\lambda[f] + \mu[g]) = \mathcal{I}[\lambda f + \mu g]$$

$$= \int (\lambda f + \mu g)$$

$$= \lambda \int f + \mu \int g$$

$$= \lambda \mathcal{I}[f] + \mu \mathcal{I}[g]$$

which shows that function \mathcal{I} is linear. Moreover $|\mathcal{I}[f]| = |\int f| \le \int |f| = ||f|| = ||f|| = ||f||$.

A semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined on a linear space L is called a *norm* if $\|f\| = 0$ only if f = 0. A complete normed linear space is also called a *Banach space*.

Theorem 4.22 The space $(L/L_0, \sharp \cdot \sharp)$ is a Banach space.

Proof. From the fact that $\|\cdot\|$ is a semi-norm it is easy to show that $\sharp\cdot\sharp$ is a semi-norm. Let $\sharp[f]\sharp=0$. Then $\|f\|=0$, which means that $f\in L_0$. So $[f]=L_0$, which is the zero element in L/L_0 . Hence $\sharp\cdot\sharp$ is a norm.

Let $[f_n]$ be a Cauchy sequence in L/L_0 . Given any $\varepsilon > 0$, we can find a positive integer n_0 such that $\|[f_m] - [f_n]\| < \varepsilon$ for all $m, n > n_0$. But $\|[f_m] - [f_n]\| = \|[f_m - f_n]\| = \|[f_m - f_n]\|$. This implies that f_n is a Cauchy sequence in L. Since L is complete, there exists a function $f \in L$ such that $\|[f_n - f]\| \to 0$. Thus, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a positive integer m such that $\|[f_n - f]\| < \varepsilon$ for all n > m. But $\|[f_n - f]\| = \|[f_n - f]\| = \|[f_n] - [f]\|$. This implies that $\|[f_n] - [f]\| \to 0$, which means that the sequence $[f_n]$ converges to [f]. Hence the normed linear space L/L_0 is complete. \blacksquare

Chapter 5

Generating Dirac Integral from Lebesgue Measure

Let (X, V, μ) be a Lebesgue Measure Space as defined in Section 4.3 of Chapter 4. Since V is a σ -algebra of subsets of X, from Theorem 3.10 we know that the set M(V, C, I) of measurable functions with respect to V is a Baire algebra. We are going to construct a Dirac Integral Space with M(V, C) as the underlying Baire algebra of functions.

Let W be the collection of all measurable sets with finite measure, i.e.

$$W = \{ E \in V \colon \mu(E) < \infty \}.$$

It is easy to see that W is a δ -ring of subsets of X. So, by Theorem 3.3, the space S(W,C) of simple functions generated by W is an algebra. Recall that a function s belongs to the space S(W,C) if and only if there exist disjoint sets E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_n from W and complex numbers z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n such that

$$s(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n z_i c_{E_i}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$.

5.1 Integral on Simple Functions

On the space S(W,C) let us define a functional σ by

$$\sigma(s) = \sum_{i=1}^n z_i \mu(E_i)$$

if $s = \sum_{i=1}^n z_i c_{E_i} \in S(W,C)$ for some complex numbers z_1, \ldots, z_n and disjoint sets E_1, \ldots, E_n from W. We observe that the above representation of a simple function s is not unique. Suppose that for a simple function $s \in S(W,C)$ there exist families $\{E_1, \ldots, E_n\}$ and $\{D_1, \ldots, D_m\}$ of disjoint sets from W, and complex numbers $z_1, \ldots, z_n, w_1, \ldots, w_m$, such that

$$s(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i c_{E_i}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} w_j c_{D_j}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Let $H = \{E_i: i = 1, ..., n\} \cup \{D_j: j = 1, ..., m\}$. Then H is a finite subfamily of W. Since W is a prering, by Proposition 3.2, it has the finite refinement property. Let $B = \{B_1, ..., B_k\}$ be a finite refinement of H. Then every set E_i , as well as every set D_j , is a union of disjoint sets from B. Thus

$$s(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} y_t & ext{if } x \in B_t \ 0 & ext{if } x
ot\in igcup_{t=1}^k B_t \end{array}
ight.$$

where $y_t = z_i$ if $B_t \subset E_i$ for some i, and $y_t = w_j$ if $B_t \subset D_j$ for some j, else $y_t = 0$. Hence

$$\sigma(s) = \sum_{t=1}^{k} y_t \mu(B_t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i \mu(E_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} w_j \mu(D_j).$$

This shows that the functional σ is well defined, since its value $\sigma(s)$ does not depend on the different representations of the simple function s.

Proposition 5.1 The functional σ is a positive linear functional on S(W,C). If s_1 and s_2 are functions in S(W,R) such that $s_1 \leq s_2$, then $\sigma(s_1) \leq \sigma(s_2)$.

Proof. Take any two simple functions s_1 and s_2 in S(W,C), and any complex numbers α and β . For each $i \in \{1,2\}$, there exist a finite index set Γ_i , disjoint sets $E_{ij} \in W$ $(j \in \Gamma_i)$, and complex numbers z_{ij} $(j \in \Gamma_i)$ such that

$$s_i(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} z_{ij} & ext{if } x \in E_{ij} \ 0 & ext{if } x
ot\in igcup_{j \in \Gamma_i} E_{ij}. \end{array}
ight.$$

Let $D = \{E_{ij}: i = 1, 2; j \in \Gamma_i\}$. Since W has the finite refinement property, there exists a finite refinement $B = \{B_1, B_2, \dots, B_k\}$ of D. Every set $E_{ij} \in D$ is a union of disjoint sets from B. Thus

$$s_i(x) = \begin{cases} y_{it} & \text{if } x \in B_t \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin \bigcup_{t=1}^k B_t \end{cases}$$

where $y_{it} = z_{ij}$ if $B_t \subset E_{ij}$ for some pair of indexes i and j, else $y_{it} = 0$. Therefore

$$(\alpha s_1 + \beta s_2)(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} lpha y_{1t} + eta y_{2t} & ext{if } x \in B_t \ 0 & ext{if } x
otin U_{t=1}^k B_t. \end{array}
ight.$$

And so

$$\sigma(\alpha s_1 + \beta s_2) = \sum_{t=1}^{k} (\alpha y_{1t} + \beta y_{2t}) \mu(B_t)
= \alpha \sum_{t=1}^{k} y_{1t} \mu(B_t) + \beta \sum_{t=1}^{k} y_{2t} \mu(B_t)
= \alpha \sigma(s_1) + \beta \sigma(s_2)$$

which shows that σ is a linear function.

Let $s \in S(W,R)$ and $s(x) \geq 0$ for every $x \in X$. Suppose that

$$s(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n r_i c_{E_i}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. One may assume that sets E_j are not empty. Then $r_i \geq 0$ for every $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$, and therefore

$$\sigma(s) = \sum_{i=1}^n r_i \mu(E_i) \ge 0.$$

This proves that the functional σ is positive.

If s_1 and s_2 are functions in S(W,R) such that $s_1 \leq s_2$, then $(s_2 - s_1) \geq 0$. So $\sigma(s_2 - s_1) \geq 0$, which implies that $\sigma(s_1) \leq \sigma(s_2)$.

A sequence E_n of sets is said to be increasing if $E_n \subset E_{n+1}$ for every $n \in N$. It is called decreasing if $E_n \supset E_{n+1}$ for every $n \in N$.

A linear functional φ defined on a linear subspace L of C^X is said to be Daniell-continuous if and only if for every decreasing sequence s_n of real-valued functions in L converging pointwise to zero, the sequence $\varphi(s_n)$ of values also converges to zero. To prove that the functional σ is Daniell-continuous we need the following Lemma.

Lemma 5.2 If E_n is a decreasing sequence of sets in V such that $\mu(E_1) < \infty$ and $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n = \emptyset$, then $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(E_n) = 0$.

Proof. For every positive integer n let $D_n = E_n \setminus E_{n+1}$. Then D_n is a sequence of disjoint sets in V, and $E_1 = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$. Thus

$$\mu(E_1) = \mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(D_n)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \mu(D_i)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} D_i)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(E_1 \setminus E_n).$$

But $\mu(E_1) = \mu((E_1 \setminus E_n) \cup E_n) = \mu(E_1 \setminus E_n) + \mu(E_n)$, which implies that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(E_1\setminus E_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty}(\mu(E_1) - \mu(E_n))$$
$$= \mu(E_1) - \lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(E_n).$$

So we conclude that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(E_n) = 0$.

Proposition 5.3 The linear functional σ as defined above is Daniell-continuous on the space S(W,C) of simple functions.

Proof. Let s_n be a decreasing sequence of simple functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that s_n converges pointwise to zero. Suppose that $s_1(x) = \sum_{j=1}^k r_{1j} c_{E_{1j}}(x)$ for every $x \in X$, where $r_{1j} \geq 0$ and $E_{1j} \in W$ for every j = 1, 2, ..., k. Let

$$r = \max\{r_{1i}: i = 1, 2, \dots, k\},\$$

and $E = \{x \in X: s_1(x) > 0\}$. Then

$$E = \bigcup_{r_{1j} > 0} E_{1j} \in W$$

and $s_1(x) \leq rc_E(x)$ for every $x \in X$. We next consider two cases, namely $\mu(E) = 0$ and $\mu(E) > 0$.

If $\mu(E)=0$, we must have $\sigma(s_1)=0$, since $0\leq \sigma(s_1)\leq \sigma(rc_E)=r\mu(E)=0$. But $0\leq s_n\leq s_1$ for every $n\in N$, which implies that $0\leq \sigma(s_n)\leq \sigma(s_1)$. Thus $\sigma(s_n)=0$ for every $n\in N$, and hence $\lim_{n\to\infty}\sigma(s_n)=0$.

If $\mu(E) > 0$, we take any $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $\eta = \varepsilon/(2\mu(E))$. Let

$$E_n = \{x \in X \colon s_n(x) \ge \eta\}$$

for every $n \in N$. If $s_n = \sum_{j=1}^m r_{nj} c_{E_{nj}}$ where $\{E_{nj}: j = 1, ..., m\}$ are disjoint sets, then

$$E_n = \bigcup_{r_{nj} \ge \eta} E_{nj} \in W.$$

Moreover $E_{n+1} \subset E_n$ for every $n \in N$; and

$$\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n = \{x \in X : (\forall_{n \in N}) \ \eta \le s_n(x)\}$$
$$= \emptyset$$

since $s_n(x) \setminus 0$ for every $x \in X$ and $\eta > 0$. So, by Lemma 5.2, we get $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(E_n) = 0$. This means that there exists a positive integer n_0 such that

$$\mu(E_n)<rac{arepsilon}{2r}$$

for all $n > n_0$. Notice that $E_n \subset E$ for every $n \in N$. So

$$s_n = c_E s_n$$

$$= (c_{E \setminus E_n} + c_{E_n}) s_n$$

$$= c_{E \setminus E_n} s_n + c_{E_n} s_n$$

and from this it follows that

$$egin{array}{lcl} \sigma(s_n) &=& \sigma(c_{E\setminus E_n}s_n) + \sigma(c_{E_n}s_n) \\ &\leq & \sigma(\eta c_E) + \sigma(rc_{E_n}) \\ &=& \eta \mu(E) + r\mu(E_n) \\ &<& rac{arepsilon}{2} + rac{arepsilon}{2} = arepsilon \end{array}$$

which is true for all $n > n_0$. This shows that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma(s_n) = 0$.

Corollary 5.4 If $s \in S(W,C)$ and s_n is a decreasing (increasing) sequence of real-valued functions in S(W,C) which converges pointwise to s, then the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ converges decreasingly (increasingly) to $\sigma(s)$.

Proof. If s_n converges decreasingly to s, consider sequence $t_n = s_n - s$ (if s_n converges increasingly to s, consider sequence $t_n = s - s_n$), which is decreasing and converging pointwise to zero. By the Daniell-continuity of functional σ , the sequence $\sigma(t_n)$ converges decreasingly to zero. But $\sigma(t_n) = \sigma(s_n - s) = \sigma(s_n) - \sigma(s)$, which implies that the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ converges decreasingly to $\sigma(s)$.

If on S(W,C) we define a functional $\|\cdot\|$ by $\|s\| = \sigma(|s|)$ for every $s \in S(W,C)$, then $\|\cdot\|$ is a semi-norm on S(W,C). Moreover, if $s \in S(W,C)$ and $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i c_{E_i}$, then

$$|\sigma(s)| = |\sum_{i=1}^n z_i \mu(E_i)|$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} |z_i| \mu(E_i)$$

$$-\alpha(|z|).$$

This shows that the inequality $|\sigma(s)| \cdot ||s||$ holds for every $s \in S(W,C)$.

5.2 Extension of the Integral

Let R^+ be the set of all non-negative real numbers. Denote by $D(W,R^+)$ the not of all functions $f\colon X\to R^+$ such that there exists an increasing sequence s_n of functions in $S(W,R^+)$ converging pointwise to f and the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ of values is bounded. On $D(W,R^+)$ we define a functional ψ by

$$\psi(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n)$$

for every $f \in D(W, R^+)$, where s_n is an increasing sequence in $S(W, R^+)$ converging pointwise to f and the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. To show that this functional ψ is well-defined, we prove the following Lemma, which is due to P. J. Daniell.

Lemma 5.5 If s_n and t_m are increasing sequences of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that $\lim_n s_n(x) = \lim_m t_m(x)$ for every $w \in X$, and the sequences $\sigma(s_n)$ and $\sigma(t_m)$ are bounded, then $\lim_n \sigma(s_n) = \lim_m \sigma(t_m)$.

Proof. Let $s(x) = \lim_n s_n(x) = \lim_m t_m(x)$ for every $x \in X$. For every positive integers n and m we have $(s_n \wedge t_m) \leq s_n$, and therefore $\sigma(s_n \wedge t_m) \leq \sigma(s_n)$. But $(s_n \wedge t_m) \nearrow (s \wedge t_m) = t_m$, and therefore $\sigma(s_n \wedge t_m) \nearrow \sigma(t_m)$, for each $m \in N$ as $n \to \infty$. So we must have $\sigma(t_m) \leq \lim_n \sigma(s_n)$ for every $m \in N$. Hence $\lim_m \sigma(t_m) \leq \lim_n \sigma(s_n)$. Using similar arguments as above we can also get the inequality $\lim_n \sigma(s_n) \leq \lim_m \sigma(t_m)$, which completes the proof.

Corollary 5.6 If s_n and t_m are sequences of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that $\sum_n s_n(x) = \sum_m t_m(x)$ for every $x \in X$, and the series $\sum_n \sigma(s_n)$ and $\sum_m \sigma(t_m)$ are convergent, then $\sum_n \sigma(s_n) = \sum_m \sigma(t_m)$.

Proof. Let $u_n = \sum_{i=1}^n s_i$ and $w_m = \sum_{i=1}^m t_i$. Then u_n and w_m are increasing sequences of functions in $S(W, R^+)$, and

$$\lim_n u_n(x) = \sum_{n=1}^\infty s_n(x) = \sum_{m=1}^\infty t_m(x) = \lim_m w_m(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Moreover

$$\sigma(u_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma(s_i) \le \sum_{i=1}^\infty \sigma(s_i) < \infty$$

and

$$\sigma(w_n) = \sum_{i=1}^m \sigma(t_i) \le \sum_{i=1}^\infty \sigma(t_i) < \infty.$$

Thus, applying Lemma 5.5, we get $\lim_n \sigma(u_n) = \lim_m \sigma(w_m)$, that is $\sum_n \sigma(s_n) = \sum_m \sigma(t_m)$.

From Lemma 5.5 it is obvious that the value of $\psi(f)$ does not depend on the sequence s_n converging to f. Thus the functional ψ is well-defined. It is also clear from the definition of the set $D(W, R^+)$ that $S(W, R^+) \subset D(W, R^+)$; and for every $s \in S(W, R^+)$ we have $\psi(s) = \sigma(s)$. Thus the functional ψ is an extension of σ from $S(W, R^+)$ onto $D(W, R^+)$.

Proposition 5.7 (a). If f and g are any two functions in $D(W, R^+)$ and α and β are non-negative real numbers, then $(\alpha f + \beta g) \in D(W, R^+)$ and $\psi(\alpha f + \beta g) = \alpha \psi(f) + \beta \psi(g)$. (b). If f and g are functions in $D(W, R^+)$ such that $f \leq g$, then $\psi(f) \leq \psi(g)$.

Proof. (a). Let s_n and t_n be sequences of simple functions from the space $S(W, R^+)$ converging increasingly to functions f and g, respectively, such that the sequences

 $\sigma(s_n)$ and $\sigma(t_n)$ are bounded. For every $n \in N$ let $u_n = \alpha s_n + \beta t_n$. Then u_n is an increasing sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ converging pointwise to the function $\alpha f + \beta g$. The sequence $\sigma(u_n)$ is bounded, since $\sigma(s_n)$ and $\sigma(t_n)$ are bounded. Hence $(\alpha f + \beta g) \in D(W, R^+)$. Moreover $\psi(\alpha f + \beta g) = \lim_n \sigma(u_n) = \alpha \lim_n \sigma(s_n) + \beta \lim_n \sigma(t_n) = \alpha \psi(f) + \beta \psi(g)$.

(b). Let f and g be functions in $D(W, R^+)$ such that $f \leq g$. Let s_n and t_m be increasing sequences in $S(W, R^+)$ converging pointwise to functions f and g respectively, such that the sequences $\sigma(s_n)$ and $\sigma(t_m)$ are bounded. For every positive integers n and m we have $(s_n \wedge t_m) \leq t_m$, and therefore

$$\sigma(s_n \wedge t_m) \le \sigma(t_m). \tag{5.1}$$

But for each $n \in N$ we have

$$\lim_{m\to\infty}(s_n\wedge t_m)=s_n\wedge g=s_n$$

since $s_n \leq f \leq g$. Therefore

$$\lim_{m\to\infty}\sigma(s_n\wedge t_m)=\sigma(s_n).$$

From this and inequality (5.1) it follows that

$$\sigma(s_n) \leq \lim_{m \to \infty} \sigma(t_m)$$

for every $n \in N$. Hence

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sigma(s_n)\leq\lim_{m\to\infty}\sigma(t_m)$$

that is $\psi(f) \leq \psi(g)$.

Proposition 5.8 If f_n is an increasing sequence of functions in $D(W, R^+)$ such that f_n converges pointwise to a function f and the sequence $\psi(f_n)$ is bounded, then $f \in D(W, R^+)$ and $\psi(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \psi(f_n)$.

Proof. Let f_n be an increasing sequence of functions in $D(W, R^+)$ such that f_n converges pointwise to a function f and the sequence $\psi(f_n)$ is bounded. Then for each $n \in N$ there exists an increasing sequence s_{nm} in $S(W, R^+)$ such that

$$\lim_{m\to\infty} s_{nm}(x) = f_n(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Let

$$s_n = s_{1n} \vee s_{2n} \vee \cdots \vee s_{nn}$$

for every $n \in N$. Then s_n is an increasing sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$. Since $s_{nm} \leq f_n \leq f$ for all n and m, we have $s_n \leq f$ for all $n \in N$. So s_n is bounded, and therefore it is convergent. Let

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} s_n(x) = s(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. It is obvious that $s \leq f$. On the other hand, since $s_{nm} \leq s_m \leq s$ if $n \leq m$, passing to the limit $m \to \infty$ we get $f_n \leq s$ for every $n \in N$, and so $f \leq s$. Hence s = f. Therefore

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} s_n(x) = f(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Since $s_n = s_{1n} \vee \cdots \vee s_{nn} \leq f_1 \vee \cdots \vee f_n = f_n$, we have

$$\sigma(s_n) = \psi(s_n) \le \psi(f_n) \tag{5.2}$$

for every $n \in N$. So the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded, because $\psi(f_n)$ is bounded. Thus $f \in D(W, \mathbb{R}^+)$.

From inequality (5.2) it also follows that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma(s_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \psi(s_n) \leq \lim_{n\to\infty} \psi(f_n)$. Thus

$$\psi(f) \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \psi(f_n). \tag{5.3}$$

On the other hand

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \psi(f_n) \le \psi(f) \tag{5.4}$$

since $f_n \leq f$ for every $n \in N$. Hence from (5.3) and (5.4) we conclude that $\psi(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \psi(f_n)$.

Corollary 5.9 If f_n is a sequence of functions in $D(W, R^+)$ such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x)$ converges to f(x) for every $x \in X$, and the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(f_n)$ is also convergent, then $f \in D(W, R^+)$ and $\psi(f) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(f_n)$.

Proof. Let f_n be a sequence of functions in $D(W, R^+)$ satisfying the conditions as stated in the hypothesis of this Corollary. For each $n \in N$ let

$$g_n(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n f_i(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Then g_n is a sequence of functions in $D(W, R^+)$, and $g_n(x) \nearrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Moreover $\psi(g_n) = \psi(\sum_{i=1}^n f_i) = \sum_{i=1}^n \psi(f_i)$ for every $n \in N$. Thus $\lim_{n\to\infty} \psi(g_n) = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \psi(f_n) < \infty$, i.e. the sequence $\psi(g_n)$ is bounded. By Proposition 5.8, we get $f \in D(W, R^+)$ and $\psi(f) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \psi(g_n) = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \psi(f_n)$.

Proposition 5.10 Let s_n be an increasing sequence in $S(W, R^+)$ such that s_n converges pointwise to a function f and the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. Then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sigma(s_n) \ = \ \sup \ \{\sigma(s)\colon \ s\in S(W,R^+), \ s\le f\}.$$

Proof. Let s_n be a sequence in $S(W, R^+)$ such that s_n is convergent increasingly to a function f and $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. Let

$$\sup \{\sigma(s) \colon s \in S(W, R^+), \ s \leq f\} = r.$$

Then $s_n \leq f$, and therefore $\sigma(s_n) \leq r$, for every $n \in N$. Hence

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma(s_n) \le r. \tag{5.5}$$

Take any function $s \in S(W, R^+)$ such that $s \leq f$, and let $t_n = s_n \wedge s$. Then t_n is a sequence in $S(W, R^+)$, which is convergent increasingly to function $f \wedge s = s$.

By Corollary 5.4, we get $\sigma(t_n) \nearrow \sigma(s)$. But $t_n \leq s_n$, and therefore $\sigma(t_n) \leq \sigma(s_n)$, for every $n \in N$. So we must have $\sigma(s) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n)$, which is true for every $s \in S(W, \mathbb{R}^+)$ such that $s \leq f$. From this we conclude that

$$r \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n). \tag{5.6}$$

The equality we are proving follows from (5.5) and (5.6).

As defined in Section 3.2 of Chapter 3, the set M(W,C) is the collection of all functions $f \in C^X$ which are measurable with respect to the family W of subsets of X. We know that S(W,C) is a subset of M(W,C), and that $M(W,R^+)$ is also a subset of M(W,C). Now we want to show that $D(W,R^+)$ is a subset of $M(W,R^+)$. First we prove the following Lemma.

Lemma 5.11 Let E_n be an increasing sequence of sets in W such that the sequence $\mu(E_n)$ is bounded. If $E = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n$, then $E \in W$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(E_n) = \mu(E)$.

Proof. The set E belongs to the family V, since V is a σ -algebra. Let $D_1 = E_1$, and $D_n = E_n \setminus E_{n-1}$ for every positive integer $n \geq 2$. Then D_n is a sequence of disjoint sets in V, and $E = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$. Thus

$$\mu(E) = \mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(D_n)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu(D_j)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\bigcup_{j=1}^{n} D_j)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(E_n).$$

Since the sequence $\mu(E_n)$ is bounded, we must have $\mu(E) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(E_n) < \infty$, which means that $E \in W$.

Proposition 5.12 The set $D(W, R^+)$ is a subset of $M(W, R^+)$.

Proof. Take any function $f \in D(W, R^+)$. Then there exists an increasing sequence s_n of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that s_n converges pointwise to f and the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. Let a be any positive real number. Then

$$f^{-1}(a, \infty) = \{x \in X | f(x) > a\}$$

$$= \left\{x \in X | (\forall_{m > \frac{1}{a}}) f(x) > a - \frac{1}{m}\right\}$$

$$= \left\{x \in X | (\forall_{m > \frac{1}{a}}) (\exists_{n \in N}) s_n(x) > a - \frac{1}{m}\right\}$$

$$= \bigcap_{m > \frac{1}{a}} \bigcup_{n \in N} s_n^{-1} \left(a - \frac{1}{m}, \infty\right).$$

Let $E_{nm}=s_n^{-1}(a-\frac{1}{m},\infty)$. Then $E_{nm}\in W$ for every positive integer n and m such that $m>\frac{1}{a}$, since $s_n\in M(W,R^+)$ for every $n\in N$. It is easy to see that E_{nm} is an increasing sequence of sets with respect to n for each $m>\frac{1}{a}$. Furthermore, we observe that $(a-\frac{1}{m})c_{E_{nm}}\leq s_n$, which implies that $\sigma((a-\frac{1}{m})c_{E_{nm}})\leq \sigma(s_n)$, and therefore $(a-\frac{1}{m})\mu(E_{nm})\leq \sigma(s_n)$, for every $n\in N$ and $m>\frac{1}{a}$. But the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. So the sequence $\mu(E_{nm})$ must be bounded for each $m>\frac{1}{a}$. Hence, applying Lemma 5.11, we get that the set $E_m=\bigcup_{n\in N}E_{nm}$ belongs to the family W for every $m>\frac{1}{a}$. Hence $f^{-1}(a,\infty)=\bigcap_{m>\frac{1}{a}}E_m\in W$, since W is a δ -ring. So $f\in M(W,R^+)$.

5.3 The Space of Summable Functions

A sequence s_n of simple functions in S(W,C) will be called a fundamental sequence if it satisfies the following conditions:

- 1. The series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) s_{n+1}(x)|$ converges for every $x \in X$.
- 2. The series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||s_n s_{n+1}||$ converges.

Now let L denote the set of all functions $f \in C^X$ with the property that there exists a fundamental sequence s_n such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. The members of L are called *summable functions*. Clearly the space S(W,C) is a subset of L.

Proposition 5.13 The set $D(W, R^+)$ is a subset of L.

Proof. Take any function $f \in D(W, R^+)$. Then there exists a sequence $s_n \in S(W, R^+)$ such that $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded and $s_n(x) \nearrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. To prove that $f \in L$, it is sufficient to show that the sequence s_n is fundamental. To do so we observe that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |s_i(x) - s_{i+1}(x)|$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (s_{i+1}(x) - s_i(x))$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (s_{n+1}(x) - s_1(x))$$

$$= f(x) - s_1(x) < \infty$$

for every $x \in X$; and the series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|s_n - s_{n+1}\| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(|s_i - s_{i+1}|)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(s_{i+1} - s_i)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (\sigma(s_{n+1}) - \sigma(s_1))$$

$$= \psi(f) - \psi(s_1) < \infty.$$

So s_n is a fundamental sequence and therefore $f \in L$.

A function $u: C^k \to C$ is called a *Lipschitzian function* if there exists some positive number λ such that

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le \lambda |x - y|$$

for every x and y in C^k . The function u is said to vanish at zero if $u(0,\ldots,0)=0$.

Lemma 5.14 Let $u: C^k \to C$ be a Lipschitzian function vanishing at zero, and s_n^j a fundamental sequence for each $j \in \{1, 2, ..., k\}$. Then the sequence s_n , defined by $s_n(x) = u(s_n^1(x), s_n^2(x), ..., s_n^k(x))$ for every $x \in X$, is a fundamental sequence.

Proof. Proposition 3.2 guarantees that $s_n \in S(W,C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since the sequence s_n^j is fundamental, for each $j \in \{1,2,\ldots,k\}$ we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lvert s_n^j(x) - s_{n+1}^j(x)
vert < \infty$$

for every $x \in X$, and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|s_n^j - s_{n+1}^j\| < \infty.$$

From the fact that u is Lipschitzian, we get

$$|s_{n}(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| = |u(s_{n}^{1}(x), \dots, s_{n}^{k}(x)) - u(s_{n+1}^{1}(x), \dots, s_{n+1}^{k}(x))|$$

$$\leq \lambda |(s_{n}^{1}(x), \dots, s_{n}^{k}(x)) - (s_{n+1}^{1}(x), \dots, s_{n+1}^{k}(x))|$$

$$= \lambda |(s_{n}^{1}(x) - s_{n+1}^{1}(x), \dots, s_{n}^{k}(x) - s_{n+1}^{k}(x))|$$

$$\leq \lambda |s_{n}^{1}(x) - s_{n+1}^{1}(x)| + \dots + \lambda |s_{n}^{k}(x) - s_{n+1}^{k}(x)|$$

for every $n \in N$ and some positive number λ . And so

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| \leq \lambda \sum_{n=1}^{m} |s_n^1(x) - s_{n+1}^1(x)| + \dots + \lambda \sum_{n=1}^{m} |s_n^k(x) - s_{n+1}^k(x)|$$

which shows that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| < \infty.$$

From the above inequality we also have

$$||s_{n} - s_{n+1}|| = \sigma(|s_{n} - s_{n+1}|)$$

$$\leq \lambda \sigma(|s_{n}^{1} - s_{n+1}^{1}|) + \dots + \lambda \sigma(|s_{n}^{k} - s_{n+1}^{k}|)$$

$$= \lambda ||s_{n}^{1} - s_{n+1}^{1}|| + \dots + \lambda ||s_{n}^{k} - s_{n+1}^{k}||$$

which implies that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||s_n - s_{n+1}|| < \infty.$$

Thus the sequence s_n is fundamental.

Corollary 5.15 If s_n is a fundamental sequence, then the sequence $|s_n|$ is also fundamental.

Proof. Let s_n be a fundamental sequence. Function $u: C \to C$, defined by u(z) = |z| for every $z \in C$, is a Lipschitzian function vanishing at zero. Thus, by Lemma 5.14, the sequence $|s_n|$ is fundamental.

Corollary 5.16 The set L is closed under composition with any Lipschitzian function vanishing at zero, in the sense that if $u: C^k \to C$ is a Lipschitzian function such that $u(0,\ldots,0)=0$, and $\{f_1,f_2,\ldots,f_k\}$ is any finite subset of L, then $u\circ (f_1,f_2,\ldots,f_k)\in L$.

Proof. Let $\{f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_k\}$ be any finite subset of L. Then there exist fundamental sequences $s_n^1, s_n^2, \ldots, s_n^k$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} s_n^j(x) = f_j(x)$ for each $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, k\}$ and every $x \in X$. Let $s_n(x) = u(s_n^1(x), \ldots, s_n^k(x))$ for every $x \in X$. By Lemma 5.14, the sequence s_n is fundamental. Moreover

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} s_n(x) = \lim_{n\to\infty} u(s_n^1(x), \dots, s_n^k(x))$$
$$= u(f_1(x), \dots, f_k(x))$$

for every $x \in X$. Hence $u \circ (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_k) \in L$.

Proposition 5.17 The set L is a linear space with respect to scalar multiplication and addition of functions.

Proof. Consider function $u: C^2 \to C$ defined by $u(z_1, z_2) = z_1 + z_2$ for every $z_1, z_2 \in C$. Function u is Lipschitzian and vanishes at zero. Hence, by Corollary 5.16, we get $u \circ (f_1, f_2) = f_1 + f_2 \in L$ for every f_1 and f_2 in L, i.e. L is closed under addition of functions.

Similarly, by considering function $u: C \to C$ defined by $u(z) = \lambda z$ for every $z \in C$ and any fixed complex number λ , we prove that L is closed under scalar multiplication.

To verify that L is a solid linear subspace of M(V, C), we need several Lemmas. We first prove that the space M(W, C) is closed under dominated convergence.

Let W_1 and W_2 be collections of subsets of X such that $W_1 \subset W_2$. We shall say that W_1 is an *ideal* of W_2 if whenever $E \in W_1$ and $D \in W_2$ then $(E \cap D) \in W_1$. It is easy to see that the collection $W = \{E \in V \colon \mu(E) < \infty\}$ is an ideal subset of V, and also of W^{σ} .

Lemma 5.18 Let W_1 and W_2 be δ -rings of subset of X. Then $M(W_1, C)$ is a solid subset of $M(W_2, C)$ if and only if W_1 is an ideal of W_2 .

Proof. Let $M(W_1,C)$ be a solid subset of $M(W_2,C)$. Take any set $E \in W_1$ and $D \in W_2$. Then $c_E \in M(W_1,C)$ and $c_D \in M(W_2,C)$. And so $c_{E \cap D} = c_{E \cdot C_D} \in M(W_2,C)$. Since $c_{E \cap D} \leq c_E$ and $M(W_1,C)$ is solid in $M(W_2,C)$, we get $c_{E \cap D} \in M(W_1,C)$. Hence $c_{E \cap D}^{-1}(C \setminus \overline{B(0,1/2)}) = E \cap D \in W_1$. So W_1 is an ideal in W_2 .

Conversely, let W_1 be an ideal of W_2 . It is clear $M(W_1,C) \subset M(W_2,C)$. Let $f \in M(W_1,C)$ and $g \in M(W_2,C)$ such that $|g| \leq |f|$. Take any open set G in C such that $0 \notin \overline{G}$. Then $g^{-1}(G) \in W_2$. Let $H = (\overline{G})^c$. Then H is an open set and $0 \in H$. So there exists a positive number r such that the closed ball

$$B = \{ z \in C \colon |z| \le r \} \subset H.$$

From this it follows that $G \subset H^c \subset B^c$, where B^c is open and its closure does not contain 0. Hence

$$g^{-1}(G) = \{x \in X \colon g(x) \in G\}$$
 $\subset \{x \in X \colon g(x) \in B^c\}$
 $= \{x \in X \colon |g(x)| > r\}$
 $\subset \{x \in X \colon |f(x)| > r\}$
 $= \{x \in X \colon f(x) \in B^c\}$
 $= f^{-1}(B^c).$

Therefore $g^{-1}(G) \cap f^{-1}(B^c) = g^{-1}(G)$. But $f^{-1}(B^c) \in W_1$, since $f \in M(W_1, C)$. So $g^{-1}(G) \in W_1$, and hence $g \in M(W_1, C)$.

Proposition 5.19 If W is a δ -ring of subsets of X, then the space M(W,C) is closed under dominated convergence, i.e. if $g \in M(W,C)$ and f_n is a sequence of functions in M(W,C) such that $|f_n(x)| \leq |g(x)|$ for every $n \in N$ and $x \in X$ and f_n converges pointwise to a function f, then $f \in M(W,C)$.

Proof. Let f_n be a sequence of functions in M(W,C) as described in the hypothesis of this Proposition. Then $f_n \in M(W^{\sigma},C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since $M(W^{\sigma},C)$ is closed under pointwise convergence, we must have $f \in M(W^{\sigma},C)$. But M(W,C) is a solid subset of $M(W^{\sigma},C)$, since W is an ideal subset of W^{σ} . And $|f(x)| \leq |g(x)|$ for every $x \in X$. Hence $f \in M(W,C)$.

Lemma 5.20 The space $D(W, R^+)$ is a solid subset of $M(W, R^+)$.

Proof. In Proposition 5.12 we have proved that the space $D(W, R^+)$ is a subset of $M(W, R^+)$. Now take any function $f \in D(W, R^+)$ and $g \in M(W, R^+)$ such that $g \leq f$. Consider a sequence e_n of functions defined as follows

$$e_n(r) = c_{[0,n)}(r) rac{[2^n r]}{2^n}$$

for every non-negative real number r, where [r] denotes the greatest integer which is less than or equal to r. It is easy to see that $e_n(r) \nearrow e(r) = r$ for every $r \in [0, \infty)$. Let $s_n = e_n \circ g$ for every $n \in N$. Then s_n is an increasing sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ which converges pointwise to function g. So $s_n \leq g \leq f$, and therefore $\sigma(s_n) = \psi(s_n) \leq \psi(f) < \infty$, for every $n \in N$. Thus the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is bounded. Hence $g \in D(W, R^+)$.

Lemma 5.21 The space L is a subset of M(W,C). Moreover, if $f \in L$, then $|f| \in D(W,R^+)$.

Proof. Let $f \in L$, and s_n be a fundamental sequence such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. By Corollary 5.15, the sequence $t_n = |s_n|$ is fundamental, and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow |f(x)|$ for every $x \in X$. Let

$$u_n(x) = |t_1(x)| + \sum_{i=1}^n |t_{i+1}(x) - t_i(x)|$$

for every $x \in X$. Then $u_n \in S(W, R^+)$, and therefore $u_n \in D(W, R^+)$ for every $n \in N$. Since t_n is fundamental, the sequence u_n converges (increasingly), say to a function g. Moreover

$$\psi(u_n) = \sigma(u_n)
= \sigma(|t_1|) + \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma(|t_{i+1} - t_i|)
\leq ||t_1|| + \sum_{i=1}^\infty ||t_{i+1} - t_i|| < \infty.$$

So by Proposition 5.8 we get $g \in D(W, R^+)$, and therefore $g \in M(W, C)$.

We observe that for every $x \in X$ and every $n \in N$ we have

$$|s_n(x)| = t_n(x)$$
$$= |t_n(x)|$$

$$= |t_1(x) + (t_2(x) - t_1(x)) + \dots + (t_n(x) - t_{n-1}(x))|$$

$$\leq |t_1(x)| + |t_2(x) - t_1(x)| + \dots + |t_n(x) - t_{n-1}(x)|$$

$$= u_{n-1}(x)$$

$$\leq g(x).$$

Since the space M(W,C) is closed under dominated convergence, we must have $f \in M(W,C)$. This proves that $L \subset M(W,C)$.

The above inequality also implies that $|f(x)| \leq g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Since $f \in M(W,C)$, we must have $|f| \in M(W,R^+)$. But $D(W,R^+)$ is solid in $M(W,R^+)$. So $|f| \in D(W,R^+)$.

Before we prove the next Lemma, let us recall that if f is a real-valued function defined on X, then the positive part f^+ of f is the function $f^+ = f \vee 0$, and the negative part f^- of f is the function $f^- = (-f) \vee 0$. It is easy to see that $f = f^+ - f^-$ and $|f| = f^+ + f^-$. If $f \in M(V, R)$, then both the positive and the negative parts of f also belong to M(V, R), since M(V, R) is a lattice.

Lemma 5.22 The space L of summable functions is a solid subset of M(W,C).

Proof. In Lemma 5.21 we have proved that the space L is a subset of M(W,C). Now take any function $f \in L$ and $g \in M(W,C)$ such that $|g| \leq |f|$. By Lemma 5.21, the function $|f| \in D(W,R^+)$. Let $g_1 = \text{Re} \circ g$ and $g_2 = \text{Im} \circ g$. Then g_1 and g_2 belong to M(W,R), and therefore g_1^+ , g_1^- , g_2^+ , and g_2^- are all in $M(W,R^+)$. Since $g_1^+ \leq |g_1| \leq |g|$, we have $g_1^+ \leq |f|$. But $D(W,R^+)$ is solid in $M(W,R^+)$, thus $g_1^+ \in D(W,R^+)$, and so $g_1^+ \in L$. Similarly, we can easily show that g_1^- , g_2^+ , and g_2^- are also in L. Hence $g_1,g_2 \in L$, and consequently $g \in L$.

Theorem 5.23 The space L is a solid linear subspace of M(V,C).

Proof. We have proved that L is a linear space and that L is a subset of M(W,C). Thus L is a linear subspace of M(V,C). Take any function $f \in L$ and $g \in M(V,C)$ such that $|g| \leq |f|$. Then $f \in M(W,C)$. Since W is an ideal of V, the space M(W,C) must be a solid subset of M(V,C). So $g \in M(W,C)$. But L is solid in M(W,C). Thus $g \in L$.

5.4 Construction of the Dirac Integral

Our next step is to extend the functional ψ to a functional f with domain f and prove that it is a Dirac Integral. To guarantee that this extension is well-defined we first prove the following Lemmas.

Lemma 5.24 If s_n is a fundamental sequence, then the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is convergent.

Proof. Let s_n be a fundamental sequence. Then the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|s_n - s_{n+1}\|$ converges. Given any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a positive number n_0 such that

$$\left| \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \| s_i - s_{i+1} \| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \| s_i - s_{i+1} \| \right| < \varepsilon$$

for all $n > n_0$. Thus

$$\sum_{i=n+1}^{\infty} \|s_i - s_{i+1}\| < \varepsilon$$

for all $n > n_0$. Let m be a positive integer greater than n. Then

$$||s_n - s_m|| \le \sum_{i=n}^{m-1} ||s_i - s_{i+1}||$$

 $\le \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} ||s_i - s_{i+1}|| < \varepsilon$

for all $m > n > n_0 + 1$. This shows that s_n is a Cauchy sequence. But

$$|\sigma(s_n) - \sigma(s_m)| = |\sigma(s_n - s_m)|$$

 $\leq ||s_n - s_m||.$

Thus $\sigma(s_n)$ is also a Cauchy sequence (of complex numbers). By the completeness of C we conclude that the sequence $\sigma(s_n)$ is convergent.

Lemma 5.25 If s_n is a fundamental sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow 0$ for every $x \in X$, then $\sigma(s_n) \longrightarrow 0$ and $||s_n|| \longrightarrow 0$.

Proof. Let s_n be a fundamental sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$ such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow 0$ for every $x \in X$. Let $t_0 = s_1$, and $t_n = s_{n+1} - s_n$ for every positive integer n. Then t_n is a sequence of functions in $S(W, R^+)$, and

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=0}^{n} t_i(x)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} s_{n+1}(x) = 0$$

for every $x \in X$. But

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (t_n^+(x) - t_n^-(x))$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n^+(x) - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n^-(x)$$

and hence

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n^+(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n^-(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. We also have $t_n^+(x) \leq |t_n(x)|$ and $t_n^-(x) \leq |t_n(x)|$ for every $x \in X$. This implies that $\sigma(t_n^+) \leq ||t_n||$ and $\sigma(t_n^-) \leq ||t_n||$ for every non-negative integer n. And therefore

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^+) \leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ||t_n||$$

$$= ||s_1|| + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||s_{n+1} - s_n|| < \infty$$

i.e. the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^+)$ is convergent. Similarly, the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^-)$ is also convergent. Thus, by Corollary 5.6, we get

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^+) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^-).$$

And so

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^+ - t_n^-)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^+) - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n^-) = 0.$$

But

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sigma(t_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=0}^{n} \sigma(t_i)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(\sum_{i=0}^{n} t_i)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_{n+1}).$$

Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma(s_n) = 0$.

By Corollary 5.15, the sequence $|s_n|$ is also fundamental; and $|s_n(x)| \longrightarrow 0$ for every $x \in X$. Hence $||s_n|| = \sigma(|s_n|) \longrightarrow 0$.

Now let us define a functional f on L. For any function $f \in L$, let

$$\int f = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n)$$

where s_n is a fundamental sequence converging pointwise to f. To show that the functional f is well defined, we first note that since s_n is a fundamental sequence, by Lemma 5.24, the $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma(s_n)$ exists. Now let us suppose that there exist fundamental sequences s_n and t_n such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ for every $x \in X$. By Lemma 5.14, the sequence $u_n = s_n - t_n$ is fundamental. And $\lim_n u_n = \lim_n s_n - \lim_n t_n = 0$. Thus, by Lemma 5.25, we get $\lim_n \sigma(u_n) = 0$. Consequently $\lim_n \sigma(s_n) = \lim_n \sigma(t_n)$. This shows that the value of f does not depend on the fundamental sequence converging to f.

Notice that the functional f is an extension of ψ from $D(W, R^+)$ onto L, since $D(W, R^+) \subset L$ and for every $f \in D(W, R^+)$ we have $f = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n) = \psi(f)$.

Theorem 5.26 The functional \int is a positive linear functional from L into C.

Proof. Take any two functions f and g in L, and any complex numbers α and β . There exist fundamental sequences s_n and t_n such that $s_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$ and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. By Lemma 5.14, the sequence $u_n = \alpha s_n + \beta t_n$ is fundamental. And $\lim_{n\to\infty} u_n(x) = \alpha f(x) + \beta g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Thus

$$\int (\alpha f + \beta g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(u_n)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(\alpha s_n + \beta t_n)$$

$$= \alpha \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(s_n) + \beta \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(t_n)$$

$$= \alpha \int f + \beta \int g$$

which shows that \int is a linear functional.

Let $f \in L$ such that $f(x) \geq 0$ for every $x \in X$, and let s_n be a fundamental sequence converging pointwise to f. Then the sequence $t_n = |s_n|$ is fundamental, and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow |f(x)| = f(x)$ for every $x \in X$, and $t_n(x) \geq 0$ for every $x \in X$. Thus $\int f = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(t_n) \geq 0$, since σ is a positive linear functional. This shows that f is a positive linear functional.

Theorem 5.27 If f_n is a sequence of functions in L such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f_n(x)| < \infty$ for every $x \in X$, the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x)$ converges to f(x) for every $x \in X$, and the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int |f_n|$ is also convergent, then $f \in L$ and $\int f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n$.

Proof. Let $g_n = \text{Re} \circ f_n$ and $h_n = \text{Im} \circ f_n$ for every $n \in N$. Then both g_n and h_n are sequences in M(W,C) and

$$f_n = g_n + ih_n$$

= $(g_n^+ - g_n^-) + i(h_n^+ - h_n^-).$

Notice that $g_n^+, g_n^-, h_n^+, h_n^- \in M(W, R^+)$ and

$$g_n^+ \le |g_n| \le |f_n| \tag{5.7}$$

for every $n \in N$. But $|f_n| \in D(W, R^+)$, and $D(W, R^+)$ is a solid subset of $M(W, R^+)$. So $g_n^+ \in D(W, R^+)$ for every $n \in N$. From inequality (5.7) we also have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}g_n^+(x)\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}|f_n(x)|<\infty$$

for every $x \in X$, and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(g_n^+) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(|f_n|) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int |f_n| < \infty.$$

Thus, by Corollary 5.9, we get

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^+ \in D(W, R^+) \subset L$$

and

$$\psi(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^+) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(g_n^+).$$

We also have the same results for g_n^- , h_n^+ , and h_n^- .

Thus, since

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^+(x) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^-(x) + i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^+(x) - i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^-(x)$$

for every $x \in X$, and L is a linear space, we must have $f \in L$. Moreover

$$\int f = \int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^+ - \int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^- + i \int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^+ - i \int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^-$$

$$= \psi(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^+) - \psi(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n^-) + i \psi(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^+) - i \psi(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h_n^-)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(g_n^+) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(g_n^-) + i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(h_n^+) - i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(h_n^-)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int ((g_n^+ - g_n^-) + i(h_n^+ - h_n^-))$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n$$

which completes the proof.

We close this chapter by concluding that if (X, V, μ) is a Lebesgue Measure Space, then the quintuple $(X, C, M(V, C), L, \int)$, as constructed in this chapter, forms a Dirac Integral Space. This Dirac Integral Space is said to be generated by the Lebesgue Measure Space.

Chapter 6

Isomorphism between the Categories DIS and LMS

A category C consists of a class O, whose elements are called *objects*, and a class M, whose elements are called *morphisms*, such that

- For every morphism f ∈ M, there exist objects X and Y in O which are called the domain and codomain of f respectively. In this case we write f: X → Y. Sometimes we will use the notations dom (f) and cod (f) for the domain and codomain of f, respectively.
- 2. For every object $X \in O$, there exists a morphism $1_X: X \to X$ which is called the *identity morphism* of the object X.

If the domain of a morphism g coincides with the codomain of another morphism f, then we define the composition $g \circ f$ as a morphism with domain dom (f) and codomain cod (g). Composition of morphisms must satisfy the following conditions:

- 1. For every composable morphisms f, g and h, the associative law holds, that is $(g \circ f) \circ h = g \circ (f \circ h)$.
- 2. For every morphism $f: X \to Y$, the identity law is satisfied, that is

$$f\circ 1_X=f=1_Y\circ f.$$

Let $\mathcal C$ and $\mathcal D$ be two categories. A functor $F\colon\mathcal C\to\mathcal D$ is a map from category $\mathcal C$ to category $\mathcal D$, which consists of two related functions, namely an object function and a morphism function. The object function assigns to each object $X\in\mathcal C$ an object $F(X)\in\mathcal D$ and the morphism function maps each morphism $f\colon X\to Y$ in $\mathcal C$ to a morphism $F(f)\colon F(X)\to F(Y)$ in $\mathcal D$ in such a way that

- 1. $F(1_X) = 1_{F(X)}$ for every identity morphism 1_X in C.
- 2. $F(g \circ f) = F(g) \circ F(f)$ for each pair of composable morphisms f and $g \cdot \text{in } C$.

It is easy to see that if C is any category, the identity map $I_C: C \to C$ defined by the formula

$$I_{\mathcal{C}}(X) = X$$
 and $I_{\mathcal{C}}(f) = f$

for every object $X \in \mathcal{C}$ and every morphism $f \in \mathcal{C}$, is a functor. It is called the *identity functor* of the category \mathcal{C} . If $F:\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ and $G:\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{E}$ are functors, then the composition $G \circ F:\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ defined by the formula

$$(G \circ F)(X) = G(F(X))$$
 and $(G \circ F)(f) = G(F(f))$

for every object $X \in \mathcal{C}$ and every morphism $f \in \mathcal{C}$, is also a functor. From these remarks it follows that categories (as objects) together with functors (as morphisms) form a category.

A functor $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ is called an *isomorphism* if and only if there exists a functor $G: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ such that $F \circ G = I_{\mathcal{D}}$ and $G \circ F = I_{\mathcal{C}}$. Two categories \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{D} are said to be *isomorphic* if there exists an isomorphism $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$.

6.1 The Categories DIS and LMS

A morphism of a Dirac Integral Space (X, C, A, L, f) to a Dirac Integral Space (X', C, A', L', f') is a Baire algebra morphism $\varphi: A \to A'$ (as defined in Section 2.4)

which preserves summable functions and the value of the Dirac integral. In other words, the morphism φ must satisfy the following conditions:

- 1. $\varphi(\alpha f + \beta g) = \alpha \varphi(f) + \beta \varphi(g)$ for every functions f and g in A and any complex numbers α and β
- 2. $\varphi(fg) = \varphi(f)\varphi(g)$ for every functions f and g in A
- 3. If f_n is a sequence of functions in A converging pointwise to a function f, then $\varphi(f_n)$ is a sequence of functions in A' converging pointwise to the function $\varphi(f)$
- 4. $\varphi(\overline{f}) = \overline{\varphi(f)}$ for every function $f \in A$
- 5. $\varphi(c_X) = c_{X'}$
- 6. $f \in L \Leftrightarrow \varphi(f) \in L'$
- 7. $\int \varphi(f) = \int f$ for every function $f \in L$

Dirac Integral Spaces together with such morphisms form a category which will be denoted by DIS. A morphism in DIS will be called a DIS-morphism. The identity morphism of a Dirac Integral Space (X, C, A, L, \int) is the operator $1_A: A \to A$ defined by $1_A(f) = f$ for every $f \in A$.

A morphism of a Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) to a Lebegue Measure Space (X', V', μ') is a set-function $\phi \colon V \to V'$ which preserves the σ -algebra structure and the value of the Lebesgue measure, i.e. for every sets E and D in V and every sequence E_n of disjoint sets in V, we have

- 1. $\phi(E \setminus D) = \phi(E) \setminus \phi(D)$.
- 2. $\phi(\cup_n E_n) = \cup_n \phi(E_n)$.

3.
$$\phi(X) = X'$$
.

4.
$$\mu(E) = \mu'(\phi(E))$$
.

Lebesgue Measure Spaces together with such morphisms also form a category which will be denoted by LMS. A morphism in LMS will be called an LMS-morphism. The identity morphism of a Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) is the set-function $1_V: V \to V$ defined by $1_V(E) = E$ for every set $E \in V$.

6.2 Functor F from DIS to LMS

In this Section we construct a functor $F: DIS \to LMS$ by defining its object function and morphism function. To do so we need the following Proposition.

Proposition 6.1 If $\varphi: A \to A'$ is a Baire algebra morphism and $c_E \in A$, then $\varphi(c_E) = c_{E'}$ for some $E' \in V' = \operatorname{trace}(A')$.

Proof. Since $c_E \cdot c_E = c_E$ and φ is a Baire algebra morphism, we have $\varphi(c_E)\varphi(c_E) = \varphi(c_E)$ for every $E \in V = \operatorname{trace}(A)$. From this it follows that

$$\varphi(c_E)(x)(\varphi(c_E)(x)-1)=0$$

for every $x \in X'$. Thus $\varphi(c_E)(x) = 1$ or $\varphi(c_E)(x) = 0$ for every $x \in X'$. This means that there exists a subset E' of X' such that $\varphi(c_E) = c_{E'}$. But $\varphi(c_E) \in A'$. Hence $E' \in V'$.

Let (X,C,A,L,\int) and (X',C,A',L',\int') be Dirac Integral Spaces, and (X,V,μ) and (X',V',μ') the Lebesgue Measure Spaces generated by these Dirac Integral Spaces, respectively (as discussed in Section 4.3 of Chapter 4). Let φ be a DISmorphism from the Dirac Integral Space (X,C,A,L,\int) to the Dirac Integral Space

 (X',C,A',L',\int') . We now define a selfmetion $\phi\colon V\to V'$. Take any set $E\in V$ and let

$$\phi(E) = E' \quad + \quad \phi(a_E) = c_{E'}.$$

In other words, for every I' : I' we linve

$$\varphi(v_N) = c_{\Lambda(N)}$$

Proposition 6.1 guarantees that this ant function ϕ is well-defined.

Before we prove that the not function ϕ in an LMS-morphism, let us make the following remark on the convergence of characteristic functions. The sequence c_{E_n} of characteristic functions converges pointwise to c_E if and only if $c_E(x) = \limsup_n c_{E_n}(x) = \liminf_n c_{E_n}(x)$ for every $x \in X$. From the fact that

$$\limsup_n c_{E_n}(x) = \inf_n \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}_n} \{c_{E_m}(x) \colon m \geq n\}$$

$$= c_{(1)_{n+1}, \dots, n} g_m(x)$$

for every $x \in X$, we derive that the acquence c_{E_n} converges pointwise to c_E if and only if $E = \bigcap_n \bigcup_{m \geq n} E_m = \bigcup_n \bigcap_{m \geq n} E_m$.

Proposition 6.2 The set-function ψ as define above is a LMS-morphism from the Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) to the Lebesgue Measure Space (X', V', μ') .

Proof. Take any two sets E and D from V. Then

Hence $\phi(E \setminus D) = \phi(E) \setminus \phi(D)$.

Let E_n be a sequence of disjoint note in V. Then $E = \bigcup_n E_n \in V$. Let $D_n = \bigcup_{i=1}^n E_i$ for every $n \in N$. The sequence c_{D_n} converges pointwise to the characteristic function c_E . Therefore the sequence $\varphi(c_{D_n})$ converges pointwise to the function $\varphi(c_E) = c_{\phi(E)}$. Consider a function $u: C^n \to C$ defined by

$$u(z_1,\ldots,z_n)$$
 max $\{|z_1|,\ldots,|z_n|\}$

for every $z_1, \ldots, z_n \in C$. The function n is continuous. Thus by Theorem 2.18 we get

$$\varphi(u \circ (c_{E_1}, \ldots, c_{E_n})) = u \circ (\varphi(c_{E_1}), \ldots, \varphi(c_{E_n})).$$

But

$$(u\circ(c_{E_1},\ldots,c_{E_n}))(x)$$
 max $\{c_{E_1}(x),\ldots,c_{E_n}(x)\}$ $c_{E_1}(x)$ $c_{E_n}(x)$

for every $x \in X$. So

$$\varphi(u \circ (c_{E_1}, \ldots, c_{E_n})) = \varphi(c_{D_n})$$

which converges pointwise to the function $c_{\phi(E)}$. And

$$u \circ (arphi(c_{E_1}), \ldots, arphi(c_{E_n})) = u \circ (c_{\phi(E_1)}, \ldots, c_{\phi(E_n)})$$

Thus the sequence $c_{\phi(E_1)\cup\cdots\cup\phi(E_n)}$ must converge pointwise to the function $c_{\phi(E)}$. By the remark on the convergence of characteristic functions we conclude that $\phi(E) = \bigcup_n \phi(E_n)$.

From the fact that $\varphi(c_X) = c_{X'}$, we immediately get $\phi(X) = X'$. Now take any set $E \in V$. If $E \in \text{trace}(L)$, then $c_E \in L$, and therefore $\mu(E) = \int c_E = \int \varphi(c_E) = \int \varphi(c_E) dc_E$

 $\int' c_{\phi(E)} = \mu'(\phi(E))$. If $E \not\in \operatorname{trace}(L)$, then $c_E \not\in L$, and therefore $\mu(E) = \infty$. Since $c_E \not\in L$, we have $\varphi(c_E) = c_{\phi(E)} \not\in L'$, and therefore $\mu'(\phi(E)) = \infty$. Thus $\mu(E) = \mu'(\phi(E))$.

We shall say that the LMS-morphism ϕ as defined above is induced by the DIS-morphism φ . Now let us consider a function F from the category DIS to the category LMS defined as follows

- Function F maps each Dirac Integral Space in DIS to the Lebesgue Measure Space generated by it.
- 2. Function F maps each DIS-morphism in DIS to the LMS-morphism induced by it. Thus for every DIS-morphism φ we have

$$F(\varphi) = \phi \iff \varphi(c_E) = c_{\phi(E)}$$

for every $E \in V$.

Theorem 6.3 The function $F: DIS \to LMS$ as defined above is a functor.

Proof. Let (X,C,A,L,\int) be a Dirac Integral Space, with the identity morphism 1_A , and (X,V,μ) the Lebesgue Measure Space generated by it, with the identity morphism 1_V . We need to prove that $F(1_A) = 1_V$. Let $F(1_A) = \phi$ and E be any set in V. Then $c_E \in A$ and $1_A(c_E) = c_E$. But $1_A(c_E) = c_{\phi(E)}$. Hence $\phi(E) = E = 1_V(E)$ for every set $E \in V$, which shows that $F(1_A) = 1_V$.

Now let $\varphi \colon A \to A'$ and $\psi \colon A' \to A''$ be two composable DIS-morphisms, and $F(\varphi) = \phi \colon V \to V'$ and $F(\psi) = \tau \colon V' \to V''$ their images under the function F. We need to verify that $F(\psi \circ \varphi) = F(\psi) \circ F(\varphi)$. Take any set $E \in V$. Then $c_E \in A$ and

$$(\psi \circ \varphi)(c_E) = \psi(\varphi(c_E))$$

Hence $F(\psi \circ \varphi) = \tau \circ \phi = F(\psi) \circ F(\varphi)$.

6.3 Functor G from LMN to DIS

To establish the isomorphism between the two categories we need to show that there exists a functor $G:LMS \to DIN$ much that the composition of this functor with the functor F yields the identity functor. To prove the existence of such a functor we need several Propositions.

First we observe that the net $(\cdot)_0 = \{0, 1\}$ in a field with respect to addition (\oplus) and multiplication (\cdot) defined an follows

$$0 \oplus 0 = 0$$
 $0 \cdot 0 = 0$
 $0 \oplus 1 = 1$ $0 \cdot 1 = 0$
 $1 \oplus 0 = 1$ $1 \cdot 0 = 0$
 $1 \oplus 1 = 0$ $1 \cdot 1 = 1$

Notice that $x \oplus y = |x - y|$ for every x and y in C_0 , if we consider C_0 as a subset of C. Using this field C_0 we can define Baire algebra of functions in C_0^X and the space of compositors of order T which will be denoted by $\text{Comp}(C_0, T)$. It is easy to see that all the Propositions and Theorems in Chapter 2 are also valid if we replace the field C of complex numbers by the field C_0 .

If V is a family of subsets of a space X, then let

$$F(V) = \{c_E \colon E \in V\}.$$

It is clear that F(V) is a subset of the space C_0^X . If c_E and c_D are in F(V), then for every $x \in X$ we have

$$(c_E \oplus c_D)(x) = c_E(x) \oplus c_D(x)$$

$$-\left|c_{E}(oldsymbol{x})
ight.$$
 $+\left|c_{E}(oldsymbol{x})
ight.$ $+\left|c_{E}(oldsymbol{x})
ight.$

where $E \triangle D = (E \setminus D) \cup (D \setminus B)$. Notice also that

$$(c_N \cdot c_D)(x) = c_N(x) \cdot c_D(x)$$

$$= c_{N \cap D}(x)$$

for every $x \in X$. Thus

$$c_{W} \oplus c_{D} = c_{W \cap D}$$

for every $c_E, c_D \in F(V)$.

Proposition 6.4 A family V of subsets of X is a σ -algebra if and only if F(V) is a Baire algebra of functions in C_0^X .

Proof. (\Rightarrow) : Suppose that V in a a algebra of subsets of X. Take any two characteristic functions c_E and c_D from F(V). Then $E \in V$ and $D \in V$, and $c_E \oplus c_D = c_{E \triangle D} \in F(V)$, since $(E \wedge D) \in V$. Also $c_E \cdot c_D = c_{E \cap D} \in F(V)$ since $(E \cap D) \in V$.

It is clear that F(V) is closed under scalar multiplication (where the scalars are elements of C_0), and under involution (where the conjugate of an element in C_0 is the element itself), and is containing all constant functions (since V is a σ -algebra).

To show that F(V) is closed under pullithing convergence, we take any sequence c_{E_n} of characteristic functions from F'(V) such that $c_{E_n}(x) \longrightarrow c_E(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Then $E_n \in V$ for every $n \in N$. By the remark on the convergence of characteristic functions and the fact that every σ -ring is closed under countable unions and intersections we get $F' = \bigcap_{n \in N} \bigcup_{n \geq m} E_n \in V$. Hence $c_E \in F(V)$.

 (\Leftarrow) : Assume that F(V) is a limit algebra of functions in C_0^X . The space $X \in V$ since $c_X \in F(V)$. Take any two sets E and D from V. Then both c_E and c_D belong to F(V). Notice that

$$c_{E\setminus D}$$
 — புதாகு (இரு) $=$ புத a_{D} (முற a_{D}) $\in F(V)$.

Thus $(E \setminus D) \in V$.

We also have

$$egin{array}{lll} c_{E\cup D} &=& c_{(N_1, D), N(N\cap D)} \ \\ &=& \left(c_{N_1} \oplus c_{D_1}\right) \oplus \left(c_{E_1} \cdot c_{D_2}\right) \in F(V) \end{array}$$

which proves that $(E \cup D) \in V$.

Take any countable collection E_n of meth from V and let $D_n = E_1 \cup \cdots \cup E_n$ and $E = \bigcup_{n \in N} E_n$. Then $D_n \in V$ for every $n \in N$, and so c_{D_n} is a sequence of functions in F(V). As shown in the proof of Theorem 3.12, the sequence c_{D_n} converges pointwise to the function c_{E^n} . Since F(V) is closed under pointwise convergence, we get $c_E \in F(V)$. Thus $E \in V$. This completes the proof that V is a σ -algebra. \blacksquare

Let V and V' be σ -algebras of nublets of spaces X and X' respectively, and $\phi: V \to V'$ be a σ -algebra morphism, i.e. a set-function which preserves the σ -algebra structure. From Proposition 6.4 we know that F(V) and F(V') are

Baire algebras in C_0^X . Now let us define an operator $\psi: F(V) \to F(V')$ by

$$\psi(c_E) = c_{\phi(E)}$$

for every $c_E \in F(V)$. Notice that $\psi(c_\emptyset) = c_{\phi(\emptyset)} = c_\emptyset$, since $\phi(\emptyset) = \phi(E \setminus E) = \phi(E) \setminus \phi(E) = \emptyset$.

Proposition 6.5 The operator ψ as defined above is a Baire algebra morphism.

Proof. Take any two characteristic functions c_E and c_D from F(V). Then E and D are in V and

$$\psi(c_E \oplus c_D) = \psi(c_{E \triangle D})$$

$$= c_{\phi(E \triangle D)}$$

$$= c_{\phi(E) \triangle \phi(D)}$$

$$= c_{\phi(E)} \oplus c_{\phi(D)}$$

$$= \psi(c_E) \oplus \psi(c_D).$$

Also

$$\psi(c_E \cdot c_D) = \psi(c_{E \cap D})$$

$$= c_{\phi(E \cap D)}$$

$$= c_{\phi(E) \cap \phi(D)}$$

$$= c_{\phi(E)} \cdot c_{\phi(D)}$$

$$= \psi(c_E) \cdot \psi(c_D).$$

It is easy to see that ψ preserves the scalar multiplication, constant functions and involution.

Let c_{E_n} be a sequence of characteristic functions in F(V) converging pointwise to c_E . Then $E = \bigcap_n \bigcup_{m \geq n} E_m = \bigcup_n \bigcap_{m \geq n} E_m$. Thus $\phi(E) = \bigcap_n \bigcup_{m \geq n} \phi(E_m) = \bigcap_n \bigcup_{m \geq n} \phi(E_m)$

 $\bigcup_n \bigcap_{m \geq n} \phi(E_m)$. This implies that $c_{\phi(E_n)}(x) \longrightarrow c_{\phi(E)}(x)$ for every $x \in X$, or equivalently the sequence $\psi(c_{E_n})$ converges pointwise to the function $\psi(c_E)$. So the operator ψ preserves pointwise convergence. This completes the proof that ψ is a Baire algebra morphism.

Let (X, V, μ) and (X', V', μ') be Lebesgue Measure Spaces, which generate Dirac Integral Spaces $(X, C, M(V, C), L, \int)$ and $(X', C, M(V', C), L', \int')$, respectively, as discussed in Chapter 5. Suppose that ϕ is a LMS-morphism from (X, V, μ) to (X', V', μ') . From Theorem 2.17 and Proposition 3.11, we know that

$$f \in M(V,C) \iff f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$$

for some $u \in \text{Comp}(V)$. Let us now define an operator $\varphi: M(V,C) \to M(V',C)$ by the formula

$$\varphi(f) = u \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

if $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ for some $u \in \text{Comp}(V)$.

To show that this operator φ is well-defined, let $f \in M(V,C)$ such that $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} = v \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$, where u and v are compositors of order V. Let w = u - v. Then $w \in \text{Comp}(V)$ (and therefore w is a Baire function), and

$$w \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} = 0 = c_\emptyset. \tag{6.1}$$

Consider the injective function $i: C_0^V \to C^V$ defined by i(x) = x for every $x \in C_0^V$, and a constant function $r: C \to C_0$ defined by r(z) = 0 for every $z \in C$. Both functions are continuous, and therefore they are Baire functions. So by Proposition 2.6 the function $w_0 = r \circ w \circ i$ is a Baire function from C_0^V into C_0 . Thus $w_0 \in \text{Comp}(C_0, V)$ and therefore $w_0 \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} \in F(V)$ since $c_E \in F(V)$ for every $E \in V$ and F(V) is a Baire algebra in C_0^X . We also note that w_0 is the restriction of w to C_0^V . Thus

$$w_0 \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} = w \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} = c_0$$

by equation (6.1). Let $\psi: F(V) \to F(V')$ be the operator defined on page 107. Then

$$\psi(w_0\circ(c_E)_{E\in V})=\psi(c_\emptyset).$$

Since ψ is a Baire algebra morphism, by Theorem 2.18 we get

$$w_0 \circ (\psi(c_E))_{E \in V} = c_{\emptyset}.$$

Thus $w_0 \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V} = 0$ or equivalently

$$w \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V} = 0.$$

From this it follows that

$$u \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V} = v \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

which shows that the operator φ is well-defined.

Proposition 6.6 The operator $\varphi: M(V,C) \to M(V',C)$ as defined above is a Baire algebra morphism.

Proof. Take any two functions f and g from the space M(V,C). Then $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ and $g = v \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ for some compositors $u, v \in \text{Comp}(V)$, and so

$$lpha f + eta g = lpha (u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}) + eta (v \circ (c_E)_{E \in V})$$

$$= (\alpha u) \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} + (\beta v) \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$$

$$= (\alpha u + \beta v) \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$$

or any complex numbers α and β . Thus

$$egin{array}{lll} arphi(lpha f+eta g) &=& (lpha u+eta v)\circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E\in V} \ \\ &=& lpha(u\circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E\in V})+eta(v\circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E\in V}) \ \\ &=& lpha arphi(f)+eta arphi(g). \end{array}$$

We can prove analogously that $\varphi(fg) = \varphi(f)\varphi(g)$.

Let f_n be a sequence of functions in M(V,C) converging pointwise to some function $f \in M(V,C)$. Then there exists a sequence u_n of compositors in Comp(V) such that $f_n = u_n \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$. Let $v: C^N \to C$ be the function defined by

$$v((z_n)_{n\in N}) = \begin{cases} \lim_n z_n & \text{if } z_n \text{ converges} \\ 0 & \text{if } z_n \text{ does not converge.} \end{cases}$$

From Lemma 2.16, we know that $v \in \text{Comp}(N)$. Since the sequence f_n converges pointwise to function f, we have $v \circ (f_n)_{n \in N} = f$. But

$$v \circ (f_n)_{n \in N} = v \circ (u_n \circ (c_E)_{E \in V})_{n \in N}$$

 $= v \circ (u_n)_{n \in N} \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$
 $= w \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$

where $w = v \circ (u_n)_{n \in N}$. Notice that $w \in \text{Comp}(V)$ since $v \in \text{Comp}(N)$ and Comp(V) is a Baire algebra. Thus $f = w \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$, and so

$$\varphi(f) = w \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= (v \circ (u_n)_{n \in N}) \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= v \circ (u_n \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V})_{n \in N}$$

$$= v \circ (\varphi(f_n))_{n \in N}$$

$$= \lim_{n} \varphi(f_n)$$

which shows that φ preserves pointwise convergence.

If $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} \in M(V, C)$ for some $u \in \text{Comp}(V)$, then $\bar{f} = \bar{u} \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$, and so

$$\varphi(\bar{f}) = \bar{u} \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= \overline{u \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}}$$

$$= \overline{\varphi(f)}.$$

We notice that $c_X = p_X \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ where the projection $p_D((c_E)_{E \in V}) = c_D$ is a compositor of order V for every $D \in V$. Hence

$$\varphi(c_X) = p_X \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= c_{\phi(X)}$$

$$= c_{X'}.$$

This completes the proof of the Proposition.

We recall that if (X, V, μ) is a Lebesgue Measure Space then S(W, C) is the set of all simple functions with respect to the family $W = \{E \in V : \mu(E) < \infty\}$. For the operator $\varphi : M(V, C) \to M(V', C)$ as defined above we prove the following Lemmas.

Lemma 6.7 A function s belongs to the space S(W,C) if and only if $\varphi(s) \in S(W',C)$. Moreover, for every $s \in S(W,C)$ we have $\int s = \int \varphi(s)$.

Proof. We first observe that $c_E = p_E \circ (c_D)_{D \in V}$, where the projection $p_E \in \text{Comp}(V)$ for every $E \in V$. Thus

$$\varphi(c_E) = p_E \circ (c_{\phi(D)})_{D \in V}$$
$$= c_{\phi(E)}.$$

From this it follows that

$$c_E \in S(W,C) \iff E \in W$$
 $\iff \mu(E) < \infty$
 $\iff \mu'(\phi(E)) < \infty$
 $\iff \phi(E) \in W'$
 $\iff c_{\phi(E)} \in S(W',C)$
 $\iff \varphi(c_E) \in S(W',C).$

Hence, by the linearity of the spaces S(W,C) and S(W',C), and of the operator φ , we get the equivalence

$$s \in S(W,C) \iff \varphi(s) \in S(W',C).$$

Moreover

$$\int c_E = \mu(E)$$

$$= \mu'(\phi(E))$$

$$= \int' c_{\phi(E)}$$

$$= \int' \varphi(c_E)$$

for every $c_E \in S(W,C)$. Thus by the linearity of the integrals and the operator φ we get

$$\int s = \int' arphi(s)$$

for every $s \in S(W, C)$.

Let X be a topological Hausdorff space. Consider the Baire space B(X,C) of functions from X into C. Let V = trace(B(X,C)). The members of V are called Baire sets. In other words, a subset E of X is a Baire set if and only if the characteristic function c_E of the set E is a Baire function. Since B(X,C) is a Baire algebra, from Corollary 3.13 we know that the collection V of all Baire sets forms a σ -algebra of subsets of X. Let us prove the following Proposition.

Proposition 6.8 If X is a metric space, then every open or closed subset of X is a Baire set.

Proof. Let G be any open subset of a metric space X with metric d. Consider a function $f: X \to R$ defined by

$$f(x) = d(x, G^c)$$

for every $x \in X$. The function f is continuous on X, and f(x) > 0 if and only if $x \in G$. He the function $y_0 = nf \wedge c_X$ is also continuous on X, and therefore $g_n \in B(X, G)$, for every $n \in X$. Moreover the sequence g_n converges pointwise to the characteristic function c_G . Since the Baire space B(X, G) is closed under pointwise convergence, we have $c_G \in B(X, G)$. Hence G is a Baire set.

If F is a closed subset of X, then $F = G^c$ for some open set G. Thus F is also a Bairc set.

For each $m\in N$ consider a function $v_m\colon C^N\to R$ defined by the following formula

$$v_m((z_n)_{n\in N}) = \sum_{n=1}^m |z_n - z_{n+1}|$$

for every $((z_n)_{n\in N}) \in C^N$. This function v_m is continuous on C^N for every $m \in N$. Let B be the set of all $((z_n)_{n\in N}) \in C^N$ such that the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |z_n - z_{n+1}|$ converges. Then

$$|| = \left\{ \left(z_{n} \right)_{n \in N} \middle| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |z_{n} - z_{n+1}| < \infty \right\}$$

$$= \left\{ \left(z_{n} \right)_{n \in N} \middle| \left(\exists_{k \in N} \right) \left(\forall_{m \in N} \right) \sum_{n=1}^{m} |z_{n} - z_{n+1}| < k \right\}$$

$$= \left| \bigcup_{k \in N} \bigcap_{m \in N} \left\{ \left(z_{n} \right)_{n \in N} \middle| \sum_{n=1}^{m} |z_{n} - z_{n+1}| < k \right\}$$

$$= \left| \bigcup_{k \in N} \bigcap_{m \in N} v_{m}^{-1} \left(\left(-\infty, k \right) \right) \right|$$

where $v_m^{-1}((-\infty, k))$ is an open set in C^N for every $m \in N$ and $k \in N$. Since C^N is metrizable, the set $v_m^{-1}((-\infty, k))$ is a Baire set for each $m \in N$ and $k \in N$. Hence the set B is a Baire set, and consequently c_B is a Baire function. So $c_B \in \text{Comp}(N)$.

Lemma 6.9 Let s_n be any sequence of functions from a Baire algebra A in C^X , and the set B as defined above. Then the following two conditions are equivalent:

1.
$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| < \infty$$
 for all $x \in X$

2.
$$c_B \circ (s_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} = c_X$$

Proof. Take any $x \in X$. Then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| < \infty \iff (s_n(x))_{n \in N} \in B$$

$$\iff c_B((s_n(x))_{n \in N}) = 1$$

$$\iff (c_B \circ (s_n)_{n \in N})(x) = c_X(x) \tag{6.2}$$

which implies that the conditions stated in the Lemma are equivalent.

Lemma 6.10 If a sequence $s_n \in S(W,C)$ is fundamental, then the sequence $t_n = \varphi(s_n) \in S(W',C)$ is fundamental.

Proof. Take any fundamental sequence s_n from S(W,C). Then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |s_n(x) - s_{n+1}(x)| < \infty \quad \forall x \in X,$$

which is equivalent to

$$c_B \circ (s_n)_{n \in N} = c_X$$

by Lemma 6.9. Applying the Baire algebra morphism φ to both sides of the above equality, we get

$$\varphi(c_B \circ (s_n)_{n \in N}) = \varphi(c_X).$$

Using the fact that $c_B \in \text{Comp}(N)$ we have

$$c_B \circ (\varphi(s_n))_{n \in N} = c_{X'}$$

or equivalently

$$c_B\circ (t_n)_{n\in N}=c_{X'}.$$

By Lemma 6.9 the last condition is equivalent to

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |t_n(x') - t_{n+1}(x')| < \infty \quad \forall x' \in X'.$$

By Lemma 6.7 we get

$$\int |s_n - s_{n+1}| = \int' \varphi(|s_n - s_{n+1}|)$$

$$= \int' |\varphi(s_n - s_{n+1})|$$

$$= \int' |\varphi(s_n) - \varphi(s_{n+1})|$$

$$= \int' |t_n - t_{n+1}|$$

which implies that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||s_n - s_{n+1}|| < \infty \iff \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||t_n - t_{n+1}||' < \infty.$$

Thus the proof of the Lemma is complete.

Lemma 6.11 A function s belongs to the space S(W,C) if and only if $s \in S(V,C)$ and $s \in L$.

Proof. If $s \in S(W,C)$ then it is clear that $s \in S(V,C)$ and also $s \in L$. So take any simple function $s \in S(V,C)$ such that s also belongs to the space L. Then

$$s = \sum_{j=1}^{n} z_j c_{E_j}$$

where $\{E_j\colon j=1,2,\ldots,n\}$ is collection of disjoint sets from V. Thus $c_{E_j}\in M(V,C)$, and consequently $c_{E_j}|s|\in M(V,C)$, for $j=1,2,\ldots,n$. But $c_{E_j}|s|\leq |s|$. Since L is solid in M(V,C), we must have $c_{E_j}|s|=c_{E_j}|z_j|\in L$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $z_j\neq 0$ for $j=1,2,\ldots,n$. Thus $c_{E_j}=\frac{1}{|z_j|}c_{E_j}|s|\in L$ and therefore $E_j\in W$ for $j=1,2,\ldots,n$. Hence $s\in S(W,C)$.

Proposition 6.12 The operator $\varphi: M(V,C) \to M(V',C)$ as defined above is a DIS-morphism from the Dirac Integral Space $(X,C,M(V,C),L,\int)$ to the Dirac Integral Space $(X',C,M(V',C),L',\int)$.

Proof. In Proposition 6.6 we have proved that φ is a Baire algebra morphism. So we need only to show that φ preserves summable functions and the value of the Dirac integral.

Let $f \in L$ and s_n be a fundamental acquence in S(W,C) converging pointwise to f. Then $\varphi(s_n)$ is a fundamental acquence in S(W',C) converging pointwise to the function $\varphi(f) \in M(V',C)$. Thus $\varphi(f) \in L'$.

Conversely, take any function $\varphi(f) \in L'$ where $f \in M(V,C)$. Let u_n be the sequence of functions in S(K,C) much that $u_n(z) \longrightarrow e(z) = z$ and $|u_n(z)| \nearrow |z|$ for every $z \in C$ (cfr. Lemma 3.7). Then by Lemma 3.8 we get $(u_n \circ f) \in S(V,C)$ for every $n \in N$. Therefore $\varphi(u_n \circ f) = u_n \circ \varphi(f) \in S(V',C) \subset M(V',C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since $\varphi(f) \in L'$ and $|u_n \circ \varphi(f)| \le |\varphi(f)|$ and L' is solid in M(V',C), we have $(u_n \circ \varphi(f)) \in L'$ for every $n \in N$. And so by Lemma 6.11 we get $(u_n \circ \varphi(f)) \in S(W',C)$ for every $n \in N$. We also see that $|u_n \circ \varphi(f)| \nearrow |\varphi(f)|$; and therefore $f'|u_n \circ \varphi(f)| \nearrow f'|\varphi(f)|$, which means that the sequence $f'|u_n \circ \varphi(f)|$ is bounded. Notice that $|u_n \circ f| \nearrow |f|$ and $f|u_n \circ f| = f'|u_n \circ \varphi(f)|$ which is bounded. By the Monotone Convergence Theorem we get $|f| \in L$. But L is solid in M(V,C), so we must have $f \in L$. Thus we have proved that $f \in L \Leftrightarrow \varphi(f) \in L'$.

Take any function $f \in L$ and let $s_n \in S(W,C)$ be some fundamental sequence converging pointwise to f. Then $\varphi(s_n) \in S(W',C)$ is a fundamental sequence converging pointwise to the function $\varphi(f) \in L'$. Thus

$$\int f = \lim_{n} \int s_{n}$$

$$= \lim_{n} \int' \varphi(s_{n})$$

$$= \int' \varphi(f)$$

for every $f \in L$.

The morphism φ introduced by means of the above construction will be called

the DIS-morphism induced by the LMS-morphism ϕ . Now let us consider a function G from the category LMS to the category DIS defined as follows

- Function G maps each Lebesgue Measure Space in LMS to the Dirac Integral Space generated by it.
- Function G maps each LMS-morphism in LMS to the DIS-morphism induced by it.

Theorem 6.13 The function $G:LMS \to DIS$ as defined above is a functor.

Proof. Let (X, V, μ) be any Lebesgue Measure Space, with identity morphism 1_V , and let (X, C, M(V, C), L, f) be the Dirac Integral Space generated by it, with the identity morphism 1_M . We have to show that $G(1_V) = 1_M$. Take any function $f \in M(V, C)$. Then $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ for some function $u \in \text{Comp}(V)$. Thus $G(1_V)(f) = u \circ (c_{1_V(E)})_{E \in V} = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V} = f = 1_M(f)$. Hence $G(1_V) = 1_M$.

Now let $\phi: V \to V'$ and $\tau: V' \to V''$ be any two composable LMS-morphisms. Notice that for every $E \in V$ we have

$$G(\tau)(c_{\phi(E)}) = G(\tau)(p_{\phi(E)} \circ (c_D)_{D \in V})$$

$$= p_{\phi(E)} \circ (G(\tau)(c_D))_{D \in V}$$

$$= p_{\phi(E)} \circ (c_{\tau(D)})_{D \in V}$$

$$= c_{\tau(\phi(E))}.$$

Take any function $f \in M(V,C)$. Then $f = u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V}$ for some function $u \in Comp(V)$. Thus

$$G(\tau \circ \phi)(f) = u \circ (c_{(\tau \circ \phi)(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= u \circ (c_{\tau(\phi(E))})_{E \in V}$$

$$= u \circ (G(\tau)(c_{\phi(E)}))_{E \in V}$$

$$= G(\tau)(u \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V})$$

$$= G(\tau)(G(\phi)(f))$$

$$= (G(\tau) \circ G(\phi))(f)$$

for every $f \in M(V,C)$, which proves that $G(\tau \circ \phi) = G(\tau) \circ G(\phi)$.

6.4 Isomorphism between the two Categories

In this Section we are going to show that the functor $F: DIS \to LMS$ and the functor $G: LMS \to DIS$ are inverse to each other, i.e. to prove that $F \circ G = I_{LMS}$ and $G \circ F = I_{DIS}$ where I_{LMS} and I_{DIS} are the identity functors of the categories LMS and DIS, respectively.

Proposition 6.14 The composite functor $F \circ G$ is the identity functor of the category LMS.

Proof. We have to show that $(F \circ G)(X, V, \mu) = (X, V, \mu)$ and $(F \circ G)(\phi) = \phi$ for every Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) and every LMS-morphism ϕ in the category LMS.

$$(X,V,\mu) \xrightarrow{G} (X,C,M(V,C),L,\int) \xrightarrow{F} (X,\widetilde{V},\widetilde{\mu})$$

$$\downarrow \phi \qquad \qquad \downarrow G(\phi) = \varphi \qquad \qquad \downarrow F(\varphi) = \widetilde{\phi}$$

$$(X',V',\mu') \xrightarrow{G} (X',C,M(V',C),L',\int') \xrightarrow{F} (X',\widetilde{V'},\widetilde{\mu'})$$

Take any Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) and let (X, C, M(V, C), L, f) be the Dirac Integral Space generated by it. Suppose that $(X, \tilde{V}, \tilde{\mu})$ is the Lebesgue

Measure Space generated by the Dirac integral Space (X, C, M(V, C), L, f). We need to verify that $\tilde{V} = V$ and $\mu = \mu$.

Take any set $E \in V$. Then $c_N = M(V, C)$, and so $E \in \operatorname{trace}(M(V, C)) = \tilde{V}$. Thus $V \subset \tilde{V}$. Conversely, take any set $D \in \tilde{V} = \operatorname{trace}(M(V, C))$. Then $c_E \in M(V, C)$. Let $G = \{z \in C : |z| \mid |z| \mid |z| \mid |z| \}$. Then G is an open set in C and $0 \notin \overline{G}$. So $c_E^{-1}(G) \in V$. But $x \in c_N^{-1}(G) + c_N(0) \in G \Leftrightarrow c_E(x) = 1 \Leftrightarrow x \in E$, which means that $c_E^{-1}(G) = E$. Thus $E \in V$, and so $\tilde{V} \subset V$. Hence $\tilde{V} = V$.

Take any set $E \in V$. If $E \in W$, then $a_R \in L$, and so $\tilde{\mu}(E) = \int c_E = \mu(E)$. If $E \notin W$, then $c_E \notin L$, and so $\tilde{\mu}(E) = \infty = \mu(E)$. Thus $\tilde{\mu} = \mu$.

Now let ϕ be any LMS-morphism and φ be the DIS-morphism induced by it. Suppose that $\tilde{\phi}$ is the LMS-morphism induced by φ . We need to show that $\tilde{\phi} = \phi$. In the above paragraph we have proved that the domains of the morphisms ϕ and $\tilde{\phi}$ are the the same, say V. Take any not $E \in V$. Then

Hence $\tilde{\phi}(E) = \phi(E)$ for every $E \in V$, which means that $\tilde{\phi} = \phi$.

To prove that the composite functor $G \circ F$ is the identity functor of the category DIS we need the following Lemmas. Let (X, C, A, L, f) be any Dirac Integral Space and (X, V, μ) be the Lebesgue Measure Space generated by it. We recall that the set S(W, C) is the collection of all simple functions with respect to the family $W = \{E \in V \colon \mu(E) < \infty\}$. Let $(X, C, M(V, C), \tilde{L}, \tilde{f})$ be the Dirac Integral Space generated by the Lebesgue Measure Space (X, V, μ) . In Theorem 3.16 we have proved that M(V, C) = A.

$$(X,C,A,L,f) \xrightarrow{f} (X,V,\mu) \xrightarrow{G} (X,C,M(V,C),\tilde{L},\tilde{f})$$

Lemma 6.15 If $s \in \mathbb{N}(W_1(t))$, then a belongs to both L and \tilde{L} , and $\int s = \tilde{f}s$.

Proof. Take any simple function $s \in S(W,C)$. It is obvious that $s \in \tilde{L}$. By definition $s = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i c_{i}$, for animal complex numbers z_1, \ldots, z_n and some collection $\{E_i\}$ of disjoint sets from W. Since $E_i \in W$, we have $\mu(E_i) < \infty$, which means that $c_{E_i} \in L$. Thus by the linearity of the spaces L we get $s \in L$. Moreover

$$\int \mathbf{A} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} \mu(E_{i})$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} \int c_{E_{i}}$$

$$\int \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} c_{E_{i}}$$

$$\int s$$

since both integrals are linear.

Lemma 6.16 If $f \in I_0$, then $f \in I_t$ and $\int f = \tilde{\int} f$.

Proof. Take any function $f \in L$ and let u_n be the sequence of functions in S(K,C) such that $u_n(z) \mapsto v(z)$ and $|u_n(z)| \nearrow |z|$ for every $z \in C$ (cfr. Lemma 3.7). Let $v_n = u_n \circ f$. Then $v_n \in S(V,C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since $|v_n| = |u_n \circ f| \le |f|$ and L is solid in M(V,C), we have $v_n \in L$ for every $n \in N$. By Lemma 6.11, we get $v_n \in S(W,C)$ for every $n \in N$. Notice that the sequence v_n converges pointwise to the function $e \circ f = f$. Thus, by the Dominated Convergence Theorem, we get

$$\int |v_n - f| := ||v_n - f|| \longrightarrow 0.$$

This implies that $\|u_n - u_m\| \to 0$ when n and m tend to infinity. So we can find an incremating enquence k_n of positive integers such that

$$||v_{k_n} - v_m|| < 2^{-n}$$

for all $m = k_0$, let $s_n = n_{k_0}$ for every $n \in N$. It is obvious that s_n is a sequence of functions in N(N', C'), let

$$h_n = \sum_{j=1}^n |s_j - s_{j+1}|.$$

Then h_n is an intersting sequence of non-negative real-valued functions in L and

$$\int h_n = \sum_{j=1}^n \int |s_j - s_{j+1}|$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n ||s_j - s_{j+1}||$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n ||v_{k_j} - v_{k_{j+1}}||$$

$$< \sum_{j=1}^n 2^{-j} \le 1.$$

Let E be not of all $x \in X$ at which the sequence $h_n(x)$ is not convergent. From Lemma 4.18 we know that the set E is a null-set. Let $D = X \setminus E$ and $t_n = c_D s_n$ and $g = c_D f$. Then $t_n \in S(W,C)$ for every $n \in N$. Since

$$t_n(x) = \begin{cases} s_n(x) & \text{if } x \notin E \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in E, \end{cases}$$

we must have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |t_n(x) - t_{n+1}(x)| < \infty$$

for every $x \in X$. We also observe that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|t_n - t_{n+1}\| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|s_n - s_{n+1}\| < \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^{-n} = 1$$

since $t_n - t_{n+1} = s_n$ and $t_n(x) \longrightarrow c_D(x) f(x) = g(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Thus t_n is a fundamental sequence in S(W,C) converging pointwise to the function g. Hence $g \in L$ and $f = \lim_n f = \lim_$

Proposition 6.17 The sumperior functor $G \circ F$ is the identity functor of the category DIS.

Proof. We need to varify that $(G \circ F)(X,C,A,L,\int) = (X,C,A,L,\int)$ and $(G \circ F)(\varphi) = \varphi$ for every Dirac Integral Space (X,C,A,L,\int) and every DISmorphism φ in the enterprey DIS.

$$(X,C,A,L,\int) \qquad \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} \qquad (X,V,\mu) \qquad \stackrel{G}{\longrightarrow} \qquad (X,C,M(V,C),\widetilde{L},\widetilde{f})$$

$$\downarrow \varphi \qquad \qquad \downarrow F(\varphi) = \varphi \qquad \qquad \downarrow G(\varphi) = \widetilde{\varphi}$$

$$(X',C,A',L',f') \qquad \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} \qquad (X',V',\mu') \qquad \stackrel{G}{\longrightarrow} \qquad (X',C,M(V',C),\widetilde{L'},\widetilde{f'})$$

Let (X,C,A,L,f) be any Dirac Integral Space and (X,V,μ) be the Lebesgue Measure Space generated by it. Let $(X,C,M(V,C),\tilde{L},\tilde{f})$ be the Dirac Integral Space generated by the Lebesgue Measure Space (X,V,μ) . In Theorem 3.16 we have proved that M(V,C)=A. We still have to verify that $\tilde{L}=L$ and $\tilde{f}=f$. By Lemma 6.16 we have $L\subset L$ and $f=\tilde{f}$ for every $f\in L$. So it suffices to show that $\tilde{L}\subset L$. Take any function $f\in \tilde{L}$. Then there exists a fundamental sequence

 s_n in S(W,C) such that s_n converges pointwise to f. From Lemma 6.15 we know that $s_n \in L$ for every $n \in N$. Let

$$g_n(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n |s_i(x) - s_{i+1}(x)|$$

and

$$g(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |s_i(x) - s_{i+1}(x)|$$

for every $x \in X$. Then g_n is an increasing sequence of real-valued functions in L converging pointwise to the function g. Moreover, the relations

$$\int g_n = \sum_{i=1}^n \int |s_i - s_{i+1}|$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \widetilde{\int} |s_i - s_{i+1}|$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^n ||s_i - s_{i+1}||^{\sim}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^\infty ||s_i - s_{i+1}||^{\sim} < \infty$$

show that the sequence $\int g_n$ is bounded, where $||s||^{\sim} = \tilde{f}|s|$. Thus, by the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we get $g \in L$. Notice that

$$|s_n| = |s_1 + (s_2 - s_1) + \dots + (s_n - s_{n-1})|$$

 $\leq |s_1| + |s_2 - s_1| + \dots + |s_n - s_{n-1}|$
 $= |s_1| + g_{n-1}$
 $\leq |s_1| + g$

for every $n \in N$, and $|s_1| + g \in L$. So by the Dominated Convergence Theorem we get $f \in L$. Thus $\tilde{L} \subset L$. Hence $\tilde{L} = L$ and consequently $\tilde{f} = f$.

Let φ be any DIS-morphism and $\phi: V \to V'$ be the LMS-morphism induced by it. Let $\tilde{\varphi}$ be the DIS-morphism induced by the LMS-morphism ϕ . We need to show that $\tilde{\varphi} = \varphi$. It has been shown in the above paragraph that the domains of the morphisms φ and φ are the same, i.e. M(V,C) = A. Now take any function $f \in A$. Then $f = u + (\#_H)_{H \in V}$ for some $u \in \text{Comp}(V)$. So

$$\tilde{\varphi}(f) = u \circ (c_{\phi(E)})_{E \in V}$$

$$= u \circ (\varphi(c_E))_{E \in V}$$

$$= \varphi(u \circ (c_E)_{E \in V})$$

$$= \varphi(f),$$

which shows that $\phi = \phi_1$

We end this paper by stating the concluding Theorem which follows directly from Propositions 6.14 and 6.17.

Theorem 6.18 The functor F establishes the isomorphism of the category of Dirac Integral Spaces 1118 with the category of Lebesgue Measure Spaces LMS.

Bibliography

- [1] Halte, Raj Mil les l'unctions de Variables Réelles. Ann. Mat. Pura e Appl. 3 (1800), 12180.
- [2] Hunnelly By Meary of Linear Operations. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1987.
- [3] Harlington, & K., Mensure and Integration. New York: Macmillan, 1965.
- [4] Hochmer, I., Integration von Funktionen, deren Werte die Elemente eines Voltussenumes eines Hund. Math. 20 (1933), 262-276.
- [5] Hogdan, V. M., (formerly Bogdanowicz, W.M.), A Generalization of the Laboration Human Hitleltjes Integral and a New Approach to the Theory of Integration, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 53 (1965), 492-498.
- [6] An Approach to the Theory of Lebesgue-Bochner Measurable Functions and to the Theory of Measure. Math. Annales 164 (1966), 251-200.
- [7] Theory of a Class of Locally Convex Vector Lattices which Include the Laborator Spinor Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 66 (1970), 275-281.
- [8] , Locally Convex Lattices of Functions in which Lebesgue Type Theory Can Be Developed. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. 19 (1971), 731-735.
- [9] , Measurability and Linear Lattices of Real Functions Closed under Convergence Everywhere. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. 20 (1972), 981-986.

- [10] A New Approach to the Theory of Probability via Algebraic Catogustee Measure Theory, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 541, 345-367, New
 York: Apringer: Verlag, 1975.
- [11] Buckill, J. O., The Lathrague Integral. London: Cambridge University Press,
- [12] Daniell, P. J., A General Form of Integral. Ann. of Math. 19 (1917-1918),
- [13] , Further Properties of the General Integral. Ann. of Math. 22 (1919-1920), 204-1990.
- [14] Dirac, P. A. M., The Principles of Quantum Mechanics. London: Oxford University Press, 1958.
- [15] Dunford, N. and J. T. Schwartz, Linear Operators. New York: Interscience Publ., 1988.
- [16] Günder, II., Integration. Zürich: Bibliographisches Institut, 1985.
- [17] Halman, P. H., Measure Theory. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1974.
- [18] Jucola, K., Mensure and Integral. New York: Academic Press, 1978.
- [19] Kelley, J. L., General Topology. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1975.
- [20] Kelley, J. L. and T. P. Srinivasan, Measure and Integral. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1988.
- [21] Kolmogorov, A. N., Foundations of Theory of Probability. New York: Chelsea, 1950 (translated from German, 1933).

- [22] Lethengine, II., Lephila aur l'Intégration et la Recherche des Fonctions Primi-
- [23] Limite, I. H., An Introduction to Abstract Harmonic Analysis. New York:
- [24] Man Land, A and G. Birkhoff, Algebra. New York: Macmillan, 1967.
- [25] Man Land, H. Cuteyories for the Working Mathematician. New York: Springer Verlag, 1971.
- [26] Rau, M. M., Manaure Theory and Integration. New York: John Wiley, 1987.
- [27] Rione, F. and H. Ne Nagy, Functional Analysis. New York: Frederick Ungar, 1955.
- [28] Royden, H. L., Heal Analysis. New York: Macmillan, 1968.
- [29] Rudli, W., Heal and Complex Analysis. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1974.
- [30] Sales, II., Theory of the Integral. New York: Dover, 1964.
- [31] Stone, M. H., Notes on Integration I-IV. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 34 (1948),
 330 342, 447 455, 483 490; 35 (1949), 50-58.
- [32] Taylor, A. E., General Theory of Functions and Integration. New York: Dover,
- [33] Williamson, J. H., Lebesgue Integration. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winaton, 1962.
- [34] Zuanen, A. C., Integration. Amsterdam: North Holland, 1967.

List of Symbols

B(X,Y)	Bullet upage of functions from X into Y , 11
B(X,Y)	Space of functions from X into C , 6
C(X,Y)	Space of continuous functions from X into Y , 11
Comp(T)	Space of compositors of order T, 7
- ' '	(therefore function of a set E , 8
CD C+ C-	·
f^+, f^-	Positive and negative parts of a function f , 90
$f_n \longrightarrow f$	Sequence f_n converges pointwise to f , 6
$f_n \nearrow f$	Sequence f_n converges increasingly to f , 57, 77
$(f_t)_{t\in T}$	Function generated by a set $\{f_t\colon t\in T\}$, 7
$f_{}$	Involution of a function f , 6
$ \begin{array}{ccc} f_n & \to f \\ f_n & \nearrow f \\ (f_t)_{t \in T} \\ f \\ G \end{array} $	Chomure of a set G , 32
$\operatorname{Im}(z)$	Imaginary part of a complex number z , 6
$I_{\mathcal{C}}$	Identity functor of a category C , 98
1 x	Identity morphism of an object X , 97
L/L_0	Quotient space generated by L_0 , 68
M(V,C)	Space of complex-valued measurable functions
, , ,	generated by a family V of sets, 34
p_{lpha}	Projection onto the α -th coordinate, 8
$\operatorname{Re}(z)$	Real part of a complex number, 6
$S(\stackrel{.}{V})^{'}$	Family of simple sets generated by a family V, 26
S(V,Y)	Space of simple functions with values in Y
	generated by a family V of sets, 27
$\mathrm{supp}(f)$	Support of a function f , 58
$\operatorname{trace}(L)$	Trace of a space L of functions, 41
V^{σ}	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
•	Collection of all countable unions of sets from V , 31
(X,C,Λ,L,f)	Dirac Integral Space, 46
(X,V,μ)	Lebesgue Measure Space, 62
$\bigvee_{n\in N} x_n; \bigwedge_{n\in N} x_n$	$\sup \{x_n : n \in N\}; \inf \{x_n : n \in N\}, 20$
$\ \cdot\ , \sharp\cdot\sharp$	(Semi-)norm, 51, 65, 69

Index

八八属門門舞	of functors, 98
Ha ire, 6, 10 , 30	of morphisms, 97
ideal, 00	Compositor(s), 7
of functions, a	order of, 7
of acts, Al	space of, 7, 9, 10, 17
n · . 11	Conjugate of a complex number, 6
Almost everywhere, 47, 56, 59, 61	Countinuous functions, 14, 15, 17
The state of the s	Countably additive, 62
Bnire	Countably additive, 02
al gabra, 6, 10, 30	δ -ring, 31
merphism, 98, 08, 107, 109	Daniell, 1
apanned by a ant of functions, 18	-continuous, 74
function, 11	lemma, 77
net, 119	Decreasing
прини, 11, 17	sequence of functions, 52
Banach	sequence of sets, 73
Alinea, AV	Dirac, 1
theorem, Ah	integral, 46, 91
Busic sequence, 47	integral space, 46, 96
Bochner, N., I	DIS
Bogdan, V.M., 1, 47	category, 99
Bra vector, 2	-morphism, 99, 117
thu vectual s	
Ontogory, 97	Dominated Convergence Theorem, 53, 61
1919, 00	55, 01
LM9, 100	Finite refinement property, 28
laomorphiam between, 98	Function(s)
Cauchy soquence, 05	algebra of, 6
Characteristic function, 8	Baire, 11
Clored under	characteristic, 8
dominated convergence, 88	continuous, 14, 15, 17
dominated countable union, 31	Lipschitzian, 84
involution, ti	measurable, 34, 39
pointwise convergence, 6	negative part of, 90
Complete semi normed space, 65	null-, 56, 58
Composition	positive part of, 90
of functions, 6	_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
or functions, u	simple, 27, 30

**************************************	Baire algebra, 23, 98, 107, 109 composition of, 97 DIS-, 99, 117 LMS-, 100, 103 σ -algebra, 106
IdenMiy, 94, 118, 122 Fundamental sequence, 83, 86, 91, 93,	Negative part of a function, 90 Norm, 69 Null
Ide n) subset, 67 Iden ity functor, 98 , 118, 122	-function, 56, 58 -set, 56, 64
morphism, in DIA, 00 in LAO, 100 Increasing acquence of functions, 52 acquence of sets, 73	Positive linear functional, 45 part of a function, 90 Prering, 26, 30 Product (Tychonoff) topology, 12, 14 Projection, 8, 9, 10
tnte grål D irno, 46, 91 Invol ution el osed u nder, 0	Quotient space, 68 Ring
Incom erphie, PA Incom erphiem, PA, 194	δ -, 31 σ -, 31 of sets, 26
Ket veetop, 9 Kolmagapav, A.N., 1	σ-algebra, 31 morphism, 106
Lattles, 40 Lebesgue, 1 — measure space, 62, 96 Linear functional, 45 Lipschitzian function, 84 LMM	σ-ring, 31 Scaling element, 27 Semi-norm, 51 Sequence of functions decreasing, 52 fundamental, 83, 86, 91, 93, 114 increasing, 52
entegery, 100 πουρλίωπ, 100, 103	Sequence of sets decreasing, 73
Meanure, 62 Meanurable function, 34, 39	increasing, 73 Set(s) algebra of, 31
Monotone Convergence Theorem, 52, ### ### ############################	Baire, 112 measurable, 62 null-, 56, 64 of finite measure, 64
and the state of t	,

Af measure sero, 64
ring of, 9a
eimple, 9a
Nimple
Nuction, 97, 30
eet, 10
Nello subset, 48, 90
Nello subset, 48, 90
Nello subset, 48, 90
Nello subset, 48, 96
Labesgue measure, 62, 96
of compenitors, 7, 9, 10, 17
quotient, 68
Numable function, 46, 84
Nupport of a function, 58

Theorem

Danach, 65
Dominated Convergence, 53, 61
Monotone Convergence, 52, 61
Atone: Welerstrase, 14
Trace of a space of functions, 41, 43
Tychonoff topology, 12

Vanish at sem, 28, 85

